
18 January 2019

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Monday, 28 January 2019
beginning at

7:00 pm
in the

The Ageas Suite, Ageas Bowl, Botley Road, West End, SO30 3XH

TO: Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Carol Boulton
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Richard Gomer
Councillor Keith House Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor Rupert Kyrle Councillor Derek Pretty
Councillor Bruce Tennent Councillor Adrian Trace

Staff Contacts: Catherine Collins, Democratic Services 
Tel: 023 8068 8326; Email: Catherine.collins@eastleigh.gov.uk

Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437; 
Email: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 
other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and 
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Public Participation    

2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 6) 

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 10 December 2018. 

3. Apologies    

4. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

5. Chair's Report    

6. Local Area Manager's report    

7. HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2019/20    (Pages 7 - 10)

8. Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Community Grants 
Report    (Pages 11 - 16)

9. Ivy Lane and Rosemount Court Parking Restrictions    (Pages 17 - 20)

10. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

11. Retrospective Planning Application - Land at Peewit Hill, Southampton SO31 8BL    
(Pages 21 - 26) 

Retention of access gates (Ref: F/18/84421). 

12. Planning Application - Land West of Woodhouse Lane, Hedge End SO30 2EZ    
(Pages 27 - 114) 

Hybrid planning application for the proposed development of a residential and 
education led site with access off Woodhouse Lane. Outline: Up to 605 residential 
dwellings, a local centre, pedestrian and cycle links, a pedestrian SINC crossing, 
drainage, public open space, landscaping, other supporting infrastructure and 
mitigation measures (including noise attenuation) associated with the 
development. 

Full: 7 Form Entry secondary school with the potential to expand to 9 Form Entry 
and associated sports provision, primary access roads and points of access, 
pedestrian and cycle links (including the diversion of route number 6c), an 
underpass, a pedestrian SINC crossing, drainage, landscaping, utilities, other 
supporting permanent and temporary infrastructure and mitigation measures 
associated with the development.

This application is subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment and is a 
departure from the development plan, and affects Public Rights of Way.
(Ref: O/18/83634). 



13. Planning Application - Land North and East of Winchester Street, Botley SO30 
2AA    (Pages 115 - 184) 

Outline: Erection of up to 375 no. dwellings, public open space, allotments, 
drainage, landscaping, other supporting infrastructure and mitigation measures 
associated with the development. 2 no. new accesses onto Winchester Street, 
associated on-site roads, footpaths/cycleways and setting of a Public Right of Way 
(route number 3). Detailed matters for consideration access (all other matters 
reserved - scale, appearance, landscaping and layout).

This application is subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment and is a 
departure from the development plan, affects the setting of a Listed Building and 
affects a Public Right of Way.
 (Ref: O/18/83698). 

14. Planning Appeals     

The Legal Services Manager to report:-

(a) that the following appeal has been allowed:-

Appeal against the Council’s decision to refuse planning permission for a 
mobile home, link unit and art studio at 146 Winchester Road, Botley (Ref: 
F/18/82327).

This was a delegated decision. 

(b) that the following appeals have been dismissed:-

Appeal against the Council’s enforcement notice for a breach of planning 
control as alleged in the notice is the change of use of the land (excluding 
the agricultural building) from use as agricultural to storage and distribution 
at land to the rear of Seddul Bahr, Allington Lane, Eastleigh SO30 3HP 
(Ref: APP/W1715/C/18/31930).

This was a delegated decision.

Appeals against the Council’s decision to refuse planning permission for a 
single storey sider extension including anew front porch attached to the side 
extension at 25 Rose Close, Hedge End, SO30 2GR (Ref: H/18/83321).

This was a delegated decision. 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 4 March 2019 at 7:00 pm

in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -



Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Monday, 10 December 2018  (7:03 pm – 8:21 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Garton (Chair); Councillors Asman, Allingham, Corben, Gomer, 
House, Kyrle, Pretty, Tennent and Trace

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Boulton and Jurd

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

44. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation on this occasion.

45. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2018 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

46. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Rupert Kyrle declared a Personal Interest in agenda item 8, 
Planning Application - Land Adjacent to Russell's Equestrian Centre 
(including Lot C, Itchen Valley Country Park), West End, Southampton, 
because the applicant's mother was known to him, and Councillor Boulton 
was also a member of the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area 
Committee. 

47. CHAIR'S REPORT

The Chair reported the following:

Former ‘Budgens’ site, Upper Northam Road

The car park at this site was being well used and the lights were now 
operational. The Chair congratulated the children of Shamblehurst Primary 
School who displayed their work about Remembrance in the former store’s 
front windows. This display attracted a lot of interest from local people.

Maypole roundabout

At the request of this Committee, Eastleigh Borough Council’s Chief 
Executive wrote to the Managing Director of Breheny regarding a post on 

1

Agenda Item 2



2

the Big Hen Hedge End Facebook. The post had been made by the 
Project Manager responsible for the Maypole roundabout and it 
misrepresented the Council’s position. The Council had always supported 
a 30 mph speed limit. The letter also expressed concerns about safety on 
the approaches to the roundabout and on the roundabout which also 
lacked lane markings. The Managing Director had replied to the Council 
and issued a written apology for the actions of the Project Manager. The 
Chair had written a letter to Hampshire County Council (HCC) expressing 
similar sentiments about road safety. Unfortunately HCC had no intention 
of changing the speed limit at this time.
  
Boorley Park

The Chair was very pleased to report that the foundations for the Boorley 
Park Primary School had now been built. This school should be open by 
September 2019 and she wished to congratulate Tamsin Hindley who had 
been appointed as the Headteacher and was currently a Deputy 
Headteacher at Freegrounds Junior School.

Work had also commenced on the community centre and sports pavilion 
and these would also be completed next year.
   
The Pavilions, West End 

Members would recall that approval for an experimental Traffic Regulation 
Order (TRO) had been given by this Committee in the summer. However 
this was subject to permission from the landowners, Barratt Homes. 
Initially Barratt Homes felt that a TRO was unnecessary but following 
parking issues with the Fireworks event at the Ageas Bowl, a meeting was 
held with the Managing Director, who agreed to the implementation of the 
TRO and some entrance signage. This was now being considered by the 
residents. 

Wildern swimming pool roof project

This project was nearly at the end of the feasibility stage. Draft plans had 
been presented to the Wildern Community Management Committee and at 
the last Hedge End, West End and Botley Team meeting. The initial 
designs had been very well received by the school and councillors.

48. AGEAS BOWL REVIEW 2018

Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Local Area 
Manager, in consultation with the Senior Engineering Specialist, Senior 
Environmental Health Specialist, and Customer Services Manager 
(Agenda item 6), that reviewed the complaints and comments received by 
departments within the council regarding the 2018 season.

The report set out the issues that affected local residents, largely around 
the staging of cricket matches and special events such as fireworks night, 

2



3

and concerts. The main community uses were also highlighted for 
councillors’ information. 

RESOLVED – 

That the report be noted.

49. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

The Lead Specialist for Housing and Development gave a short 
presentation on guidelines that had to be taken into account when 
determining planning applications; in particular the issues that could, and 
could not, be taken into account.  This was set against the broader policy 
framework.

50. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND ADJACENT TO RUSSELL'S 
EQUESTRIAN CENTRE (INCLUDING LOT C, ITCHEN VALLEY 
COUNTRY PARK), WEST END, SOUTHAMPTON

The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
and Development (Agenda item 8) concerning an application for the 
erection of 1no. courtyard building and 1no. isolation block 
accommodating 20 stables; 1no. double unit mobile home for onsite 
manager’s accommodation; 1no outdoor arena with lightning and hard 
standing providing 7no. onsite vehicular parking spaces and utilising 
existing access from Allington Lane. (Ref: F/18/84121).

The Committee was advised the following:

• Two further letters of objection raising issues on highway safety, 
loss of vegetation had been received

• Awaiting highway technical note informed by speed survey, and an 
amended site plan with visibility splays and extent of landscaping to 
be lost. 

• Awaiting updated drainage details for foul and surface water 
drainage 

• Borough Ecologist – no objection to additional lighting information 
but needs to be considered with loss of vegetation to facilitate 
sightlines. 

The recommendation was amended to:

• Defer the application until the next committee to allow receipt and 
consideration of

(i) speed survey data and resultant visibility
(ii) Amended site layout with landscaping 
(iii) Drainage details and undertake a Habitat Regulations 

Assessment

3



4

(iv) Consultation and consideration of responses from the 
highway authority, Borough Ecologist, local residents and 
Natural England

(v) Full report to be presented to the next Hedge End, West End 
and Botley Local Area Committee

Councillors debated the proposal and considered that in policy terms the 
principle of development was acceptable and that the technical matters 
could be addressed by officers. Due to the pressing timescales for the 
applicant to vacate their current site and the real risk that horse welfare 
could be undermined should this occur, councillors did not wish to defer 
the scheme until the next Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area 
Committee.

RESOLVED -

That it be delegated to the Lead Specialist for Housing and 
Development in consultation with the Chair, Vice Chair and Ward 
Members to PERMIT subject to: 

(1) The receipt of speed survey data and plans with the required 
visibility splays;

(2) An amended site layout with retained and proposed 
landscaping;

(3) Updated drainage details and the Local Planning Authority 
undertaking a Habitat Regulations Assessment in consultation 
with Natural England; and 

(4) The consultation and consideration of responses from the 
highway authority, the Borough Ecologist, local residents and 
Natural England.

(NOTES: a) The Chair read out a letter from a resident, and two members 
of the public spoke, in objection to this application citing a number of 
issues including the following: procedural matters, insufficient visibility 
splays, condition for a roundabout at Itchen Valley Country Park entrance, 
red line not extending to highway; notice not served on Hampshire County 
Council, dwelling disproportionate, no justification to move to adjacent 
land, 40mph speed limit too high, eroding countryside setting, inadequate 
parking; dust in the summer and lighting in the winter having a detrimental 
impact on residents; b) six members of the public, the applicant, and agent 
spoke in support of the application; and c) Councillor Kyrle declared an 
interest in this item, remained in the room, spoke and voted thereon.)

51. PLANNING APPEALS

The Legal Services Manager reported:-

4



5

(a) that the following appeal had been lodged:-

Appeal against the Councils refusal of planning permission for a 
single storey side extension to include a new front porch attached to 
the side extension at 25 Rose Close, Hedge End (Ref: H/18/83321).

This was a delegated decision

(b) that the following appeal had been withdrawn:-

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of outline planning permission 
for mixed use redevelopment scheme within use classes 
A1(shops), A2(financial and professional services), A3 
(restaurant/cafe), A4 (drinking establishment), A5 (hot food 
takeaway), C3 (residential apartments up to 77 units) and D1 (non-
residential institution), within two separate blocks, together with 
access, car parking, landscaping and associated works (all matters 
reserved) at former Budgens Store, 1 Upper Northam Road, Hedge 
End (Ref: O/17/80927).

This was a Local Area Committee Decision

(c) that the following appeals had been dismissed:-

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
erection of a detached one bedroom dwelling on land to the rear of 
10 Romill Close with associated access and parking (re-submission 
of C/17/80065) at 10 Romill Close, West End (Ref: F/18/82388).

This was a delegated decision.

Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant a certificate of lawful 
use or development of a 2m high fence at 16 Ullswater Avenue, 
West End, (Ref: LDC/17/80861).

This was a delegated decision.

RESOLVED -

That the report be noted.

CHRISTMAS WISHES
The Chair wished everyone a Merry Christmas and Happy New Year.

5



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Monday, 28 January 2019 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA ACTION 
PLAN 2019/20

Report of the Local Area Manager

Recommendation

It is recommended that the Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Local Area 
Action Plan 2019/20 shown in Appendix One is approved for adoption and 
publication.

Summary

This report presents the priorities for the coming year for the Local Area Committee.  

Statutory Powers

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Strategic Implications 

1. This report seeks to address the key objectives in the Corporate Plan. In 
particular, this involves enabling healthier lifestyles through support for local 
programmes and activities; reinvigorating local centres to produce prosperous 
places and creating an excellent environment for all with, for example, 
continued support for Itchen Valley Country Park. This report is in line with the 
Local First project which focuses on local need and local priorities.

Background

2. The Council has agreed a set of Borough-wide objectives to improve quality 
of life for all. These are set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-25. The Council 
also seeks to enable decisions to be made at the most appropriate local level, 
mostly notably through the five Local Area Committees but also through our 
town and parish councils and other more local partnerships.

3. The Local Area Committee approves a Community Investment Programme 
(CIP) annually, which lists all of the local projects and initiatives that the Local 
Area Committee wishes to prioritise. The list is devised in conjunction with the 
Town Council and the Parish Councils. It is used to negotiate Section 106 

7

Agenda Item 7



contributions from developers which usually form the majority of the funds 
required. These funds often need to be pooled from several developments 
over several years in order to achieve sufficient funding for the project.

4. All five Local Area Committees are now seeking to set out a shorter-term list 
of priorities for the coming year and the HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 
2019/20 is shown in Appendix One. The Plan will be used to determine 
budgets and staff resources as part of the Council’s annual business planning 
cycle. It also acknowledges the key local partnerships within HEWEB.

5. Local Area and Cabinet Councillors have been consulted on the draft Plan 
and it is now recommended that the HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2019/20 
is approved for adoption and publication, subject to minor formatting changes. 

Financial Implications

6. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

Equality and Diversity Implications

7. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. An Equality 
Impact Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

8. The report presents the draft HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2019/20 as 
shown in Appendix One for approval.

JULIA BIRT
LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date: 9 January 2019
Contact Officer: Julia Birt
Tel No: 02380 688437
e-mail: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: One 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Background Papers – Eastleigh Borough Council Corporate Plan 2015-20

8



Cllr Cynthia Garton - Local Area Chair

cynthia.garton@eastleigh.gov.uk

Hedge End,  
West End & Botley (HEWEB)

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Committee

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Manager 

Key Projects & Priorities

Council Services - Local Variations

 ▶ Decide local priorities

 ▶ Manage local budgets

 ▶ Determine local levels of council services such 
as Streetscene and traffic management

 ▶ Work with the local community

 ▶ Champion the local area

 ▶ Decide planning applications

 ▶

 ▶ Act as a link between the Council and 
local people

 ▶ Support local Councillors

 ▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the 
capital programme/major projects

 ▶ Work with the Council to improve local 
services and to ensure value for money

 ▶ Identify local needs and priorities

 ▶ Work closely with Town and Parish Councils, 
schools and community groups

 ▶ Major planning applications 
- maximise community benefit 
from current sites at Boorley 
Park, Boorley Gardens, 
Woodhouse Lane, Winchester 
Street, St. John’s Phase 1 and 
2, Hedge End and Hatch Farm

 ▶ Itchen Valley Country Park - 
produce master plan for Phase 
2 onwards

 ▶ Wildern swimming pool roof/
spectator seating - feasibility 
study

 ▶ Public art at the Berry Theatre 
entrance; Moorgreen hospital 
site; Welcome to West End 
signage and green routes in 
Hedge End

 ▶ Former Budgens’ site, 
Hedge End

 ▶ Country Parks, Land 
Management and Corporate 
Communications – Itchen 
Valley Country Park

 ▶ Direct Services and Corporate 
Communications - sponsored 
roundabouts Direct Services 

and Locality Team – car parks 
at Itchen Valley Country Park 
and Hedge End Train Station

 ▶ Support Services - Community 
and Youth Grants

Key Partnerships

 ▶ Hedge End Town Council

 ▶ West End Parish Council 

 ▶ Botley Parish Council

 ▶ Hampshire County Council

 ▶ Boorley Green Working 
Group including Community 
Development Officer

 ▶ Wildern Academy Trust

 ▶ HEWEB Community Schools 
Network

 ▶ Hampshire Cricket in the 
Community

 ▶ HEWEB Youth Partnership

 ▶ HEWEB Business Group

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s

Ford

Eastleigh

Bishopstoke

Horton
Heath

Fair
Oak

Bursledon

Netley

Hamble- 
le-Rice

West
End

Hedge
End

Botley

Julia Birt - Local Area Manager
julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk   023 8068 8437

Local Area Action Plan 
2019/20

9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Monday, 28 January 2019 

COMMUNITY GRANTS REPORT

Report of the Assistant Local Area Manager

Recommendation

It is recommended that grants be approved as contained in Appendix 1 to this 
report

Summary

The Grants Panel recommends that grants be allocated to local organisations operating 
in the Hedge End, West End and Botley local area for 2018/19.

Statutory Powers

S.1 Localism Act 2011

Strategic Implications

1. This report supports a range of Corporate Plan objectives as well as 
local priorities: Enabling Health and Wellbeing, Tackling Deprivation, 
Excellent Environment and Reinvigorating Town and Local Centres.

Introduction

2. Members will recall that this Committee has devolved responsibility for 
provision of revenue grants to local organisations. This year 34 different 
grant applications were received. The total requested was £13,943 
which substantially exceeded the allocated budget of £6,980, however 
this committee has sufficient funding in the arts revenue budget to cover 
the approved total of £9,822.

3. This Committee’s Grants Panel comprising Councillors Garton, Jurd, 
Gomer and Trace reviewed the applications.

11

Agenda Item 8



Eastleigh Borough Council

The Panel’s decisions

4. The Grants Panel gave careful consideration to all of the applications 
to ensure a broad distribution of funding was spread throughout the 
three local parished areas.

5. The Panel also considered the objectives of the organisations, the 
numbers attending; the likely impact and benefit for HEWEB residents; 
whether they were from the Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) 
area; the total costs of the project and whether funding was or could be 
sought from elsewhere. The panel also made a recommendation for 
applicants to put forward a business case for future applications.

6. A substantial number of applications were made by Wildern School (D.@rt 
Centre/Leisure Centre) and it was agreed that the activities provided on 
the campus catered for residents within all 3 parished areas.

7. It is therefore recommended that grants be approved as contained in Appendix 
1 to this report.

Financial Implications

8. There are no ongoing revenue implications associated with this report as this 
Committee’s revenue budgets are sufficient to fund the Panel’s 
recommendations.

Risk Assessment

9. The recommendations made by the Grants Panel do not hold significant risks.
All grant applications are subject to the completion of a detailed application 
form and submission of financial details.

Equality and Diversity Implications

10. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision does 
relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people.  Any impacts of the grants 
are expected to be wholly positive.  Groups benefiting include: older people, 
young people and children, people with disabilities. An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

11. The recommendations made in this report complement the Council’s corporate 
priorities as well as this Committee’s local priorities. Subject to the approval of 
this Committee, a grants presentation will take place before the local area 
committee meeting on 4 March 2019 to recognise and celebrate the breadth of 
community work being undertaken in the local area.

12



Eastleigh Borough Council

SIOBHAN STRAND ASSISTANT LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date: 21 December 2018
Contact Officer: Siobhan Strand
Tel No: 02380 688428
e-mail: siobhan.strand@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following documents disclose facts or matters on which this report or an 
important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works or 
documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. None.

13



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference 

number Project Name Brief Project Description

How many HEWEB residents will this 

benefit?

Amount 

Requested Amount Rewarded 18/19

1

Eastleigh Borough and Romsey 

Mencap

To contribute towards the running costs for 

Flagship Art Club (for adults with learning 

disabilities), also evening social club, 

gardening club and The Active Citizens 4 £500 £250.00

2 Youth Options

Contribution towards Thunderbox compost 

toilet for pre-school at IVCP 160 £450 £450.00

3

The Community Hub - Friday Night 

Project

Contribution towards Avon Tyrrell Activity 

weekend for young people 14 £500 £250.00

4

The YTTT Group (The D.@rt Centre, 

Wildern)

To run a scripted show (which would cover 

production costs such as performing rights 

fees) for end of year performance

30

£500 £300.00

5

Teen Tuesdays (The D.@rt Centre, 

Wildern)

To fund half of the tutor fee to launch a new 

course for teens to improve self-esteem and 

confidence and making new friends 72 £375 £375.00

6

Leisure Centre, The D@rt Centre, 

Wildern

To fund the cost of an assistant for a 2 week 

trial in summer hols 19 to extend the offer 

of holiday activities from 4 yrs upwards 20 £500 £500.00

7

Portable speaker (The D@art 

Centre)

Portable speaker to be used in and around 

the school for open mic nights, elders 

events and choral days 500 £169 £169.00

8

The D@rt Centre, Wildern and The 

Berry theatres

Open day to provide free sessions for 

younger children to engage with art, craft, 

writing and construction, to provide tutor 

fees and materials 200 £475 £200.00

9
The D@rt Centre

To provide a young person 2 weeks work 

experience - trainee cost £5.90 per hr for 8 

hours a day 1 £472 £0.00

10 Leisure Centre, Wildern

As part of 'This girl can' campaign - gym 

circuits class, a half rack would be 

purchased to help increase strength training 20-35 per session £500 £500.00

11
The D@rt Centre

To fund young carers for a fun day trip to 

Fairthorne Manor
16

£480 £480.00

12

The D@rt Centre

To contribute towards Hedge End Arts 

Appreciation to link with local primary 

schools where pupils will help out with an 

art activity for older people. Also funding for 

Silver screenings to put on a film (funding 

would cover film rights and transport for 

over 65's) 20-35 per session £500 £500.00

13

The D@rt Centre
Funding is required to buy in services of 2 

local/national authors to run literary 

workshops for the Wordplay festival 800+ £400 £300.00

14

The D@rt Centre

To help keep the cost of the classes down 

for Crafty Saturday sessions (for local 

people to learn a new skill such as men's 

cookery, sewing, pottery etc..) for cost of 

materials - 

600+

480 £200.00

15 The D@rt Centre

Music Fun Factory - to promote music in the 

community for young to old to fund towards 

hall hire costs 26 £175 £175.00

16 Wyvern Theatre School

To fund 10 spaces for children with 

additional needs and those from less 

affluent families to attend Saturday creative 

club. Money would go towards hire cost, 

staff wages and craft materials 100 £500 £500.00

17 Botley Primary School

Redevelopment of the reflection garden and 

are seeking funding for a path to join 

outdoor classroom with the new reflection 

garden 300 £500 £500.00

18 Life Link West End

To help young people in Townhill Farm 

community develop positive life skills. 

Various projects such as gospel choir and 

over 60's club. Money to be spent on 

renting local community centre for all 

events 33 £500 £300.00

19 Friends of Wildern Nature Park

To provide additional equipment to expand 

current monitoring activities, such as a 

moth trap, reptile refuges, bat detectors 

etc..

Most of 140 members (as per Facebook 

group) £229 £229.00

20 Botley Floral Club

To be able to fund a teacher trained 

workshop fo enhance and improve 

members skills (most of which are retired) 23 £150-£250 £100.00

21 Hedge End Tuesday Retirement Club

To help towards the hire of a bus and hire of 

the hall 35 £500 £250.00

22 West End Local History Society

A new photocopier/scanner and printer - to 

produce newsletters, posters and display 

items at the museum

55+

£350 £250.00

23

Hedge End Breathe Easy, Friday 

Fitness and breathe into song group

To provide funding towards singing and 

exercise classes to improve lung function for 

residents with chronic lung disease. Help 

towards hiring singing teachers and hall hire 36 £500 £500.00

24 Botley in Bloom

Help towards hire of hall, winners ceramic 

plaques, engraving shields, printing costs 

etc… for the annual gardening competition All of Botley £150 £150.00

25

Willow Mead Lift fund Raising, 

Wildern Lane

Help towards installation of a lift for 2 

disabled residents (Block A has a lift, but 

Block B doesn't) 36 £300 - £500

More detail to be sort, 

before panel make final 

decision.

26

Hedge End Hall Management 

Committee

A community hall running various activities. 

The money would fund 2 'off trolleys to 

carry folding tables to assist older users most out of 250 attendees £488 £244.00

27 Botley Twinning Association

To pay for Public Liability insurance for 

hosting of French families at alternate years 76 £250 £100.00

28 MHA Eastleigh Live at Home

Support and friendship for older people, the 

money would be used to help with hall hire 

and employ a dance instructor 5 £500 £300.00

29 Wellstead Primary

To hold various activities during the 'older 

persons week'. Activities to include a 

petting farm, VE day celebrations/ tea part, 

games and travel costs. Unlimited! No number given £500 £300.00

30 St. James Primary School

To replace and improve play equipment- 

some will be spent on repairing old/ 

installing new equipment 1228 £500 £500.00

31 Young Peoples Wellbeing Service Ltd

To provide a counselling service for young 

people focusing on discussing every day 

living, sexual health and lifestyle choices 

etc…

720 visits - although no number has been 

specified for actual number of people 

attending £500 £500.00

32

31st Itchen North (Amazon Sea 

Scout Group)

For a contribution towards insurance -  

camping equipment and kayaks, pulling 

boats etc… 100 £500

£0.00 (but referred to 

HEWEB Youth Council 

grants)

33

HEYCA Centre - Performing Arts 

Company

To supplement expenditure for the summer 

show at the Berry Theatre. This gives young 

people the opportunity to partake and learn 

all aspects of performing arts 50 £500 £100.00

34 Pavilion Pirates Preschool

Funding required for Rising 5's project for 

April 19 (no further details have been given 

on this), room hire, staffing and extra 

equipment 47 £500 £350.00

Total £13,943 £9,822.00

36

15



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Monday, 28 January 2019 

IVY LANE AND ROSEMOUNT COURT PARKING RESTRICTIONS

Report of the Senior Engineering Specialist

Recommendation

It is recommended that the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee 
approve the proposed parking restrictions within the bell mouths of Ivy Lane and 
Rosemount Court as set out in the report.

Summary

The problem being experienced in Ivy Lane is one of obstruction both of the junction and 
the lowered pedestrian crossing point giving rise to concerns over road safety, and 
accessibility for emergency vehicles.

The problem being experienced in Rosemount Court is one of obstruction of service / 
emergency vehicles. 

Two amendments to the current Hedge End, West End and Botley Traffic Regulation 
Order (TRO) have been proposed and consulted on:

New waiting restrictions within Ivy Lane and Rosemount Court

Statutory Powers

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984; Traffic Management Act 2004.

Legal Agreements

Agency Agreement dated 30 March 2009 between Hampshire County Council and 
Eastleigh Borough Council.

Strategic Implications 

1. This report addresses a number of the strategic objectives: Tackling 
Congestion by dealing with inappropriate parking and helping to create an 
Excellent Environment for all.

17

Agenda Item 9



Eastleigh Borough Council

Consultation

2. The formal consultation was advertised in the Hampshire Independent 
newspaper, on the Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) website, the Hampshire 
County Council (HCC) Public Notices Portal and on public notices placed 
throughout affected areas. 

3. The following comments were received regarding the proposals, as set-out 
below.

Summary of Comments

4. This section summarises the responses received from residents in relation to 
each location and the Committee is asked to consider the comments received, 
in order to inform their decision on the implementation, or otherwise, of the 
Traffic Regulation Order. 

The Proposal for Ivy Lane received one objection The resident believed the 
restriction was to go as far as his access which would leave him with nowhere 
to park outside his property.

Response to Received Comments

Having spoken to the resident the Senior Engineering Specialist was able to 
reassure him that the proposed restriction does not go as far as he thought 
and will end at the pedestrian crossing point, so there will be some on street 
parking outside his property. This has been accepted as a suitable limit for the 
restriction.

Financial Implications

5. The cost of the TRO and road markings is approximately £2000 and is to be 
funded through the Hampshire County Council A27 Cycleway Scheme Budget 
as agreed with the project manager Brandon Breen.  

Risk Assessment

6. The risk is considered to be low as the objections have been considered 
before the order is taken forward to be made permanent.

Equality and Diversity Implications

7. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
between different people in the following ways: Implementing the parking 
restrictions will help ensure that the pedestrian crossing point and tactile 
paving remain unobstructed. The decision will result in an improvement for 
people with mobility problems. A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has 
not been carried out, because while there are some equalities impacts, it is 
not proportionate to carry out a full EIA.

18



Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion

8. The problem being experienced in Ivy Lane is one of obstruction both of the 
junction and the lowered pedestrian crossing point giving rise to concerns 
over road safety, and accessibility for emergency vehicles.. It is felt that the 
proposals will address the issues whilst avoiding unnecessary restrictions.

9. The problem being experienced in Rosemount Court is one of obstruction of 
service / emergency vehicles. It is felt that the proposals will address the 
issues whilst avoiding unnecessary restrictions. 

DAVID PICKETT
 SENIOR ENGINEERING SPECIALIST

21 DECEMBER 2018

Contact Officer: David Pickett
Tel No: 02380 688230
e-mail: david.pickett@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: Plan of the restriction

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information: None

19



Eastleigh Borough Council
20



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee 
Monday 28 January 2019.

Application Number: F/18/84421
Case Officer: Jagdeep Birk
Received Date: Monday 12 November 2018
Site Address: Land at Peewit Hill, Southampton, SO31 8BL
Applicant: James Kerslick
Proposal: Retention of access gates (RETROSPECTIVE).

Recommendation: Permit

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby shall be retained in accordance with the following 
plans numbered: Loc 01, Blo 02.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

   

 Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee because of the site history.

     Description of Application

2. Retention of access gates 

Site Characteristics

3. The application site forms a parcel of land south of St Johns Road with West 
End Road to the west and the M27 towards the east, and residential 
properties to the south.   A small part of the site has concrete hardstanding 
while the rest is bounded by woodland which is covered by a Tree 
Preservation Order.

Relevant Planning History
Unauthorised container - ENF/2018/118.  The enforcement notice has been 
appealed and is under consideration by the Planning Inspectorate.

     Representations Received (summarised)
Two representations received

21

Agenda Item 11



 Gates are industrial and intrusive and not in keeping with the road this 
suggests to us industrial use of land with unit already in place

 Concern over entering and accessing Peewit Hill safely

 Concern over trees removed and its effect on wildlife

Consultation Responses

 Borough Tree officer – no objection raised to the proposal

 Hedge End Town Council - no objection raised to the proposal

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary

 Within Established Residential Area

 Strategic Gap 

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

4. Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011; the following are the 
applicable saved policies: 1.CO- Criteria for development in the Countryside,

2.CO- Strategic Gap, 59.BE-General Development, 102.T-New or Improved 
Access

5. Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies: DM1- 
General Criteria for new development.

6. Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, Policies: S8 Protection of 
countryside gaps, DM13 General development criteria-transport

Supplementary Planning Documents

7. Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)

National Planning Policy Framework

8. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) aims to achieve sustainable           
development, which can be separated into three interdependent objectives; 
economic, social and environmental.  Paragraph 11 states that development 
that accords with an up to date development plans should be approved 
without delay. Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
most relevant policies are not up to date, then planning permission should be 
granted unless:  

22



 the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

National Planning Practice Guidance 

9. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. 

10. Para 15; presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

Policy Commentary

11. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to impact upon the 
character and appearance, crime prevention, residential amenity.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

12. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise."

Retrospective development

13. Planning permission not being sought prior to development is not material to 
the determination of a planning application.  Section 73A of the Town and 
County Planning Act 1990 specifically provides that a granting of planning 
permission may relate to development carried out before the date of the 
application.  Furthermore, an application cannot be refused on grounds that it 
is retrospective. When considering the development regard has to be had to 
Government guidance and the policies contained within the Development 
Plan.

Principle and Impact upon the Character and Appearance

14. Saved policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 

23



layout, design and siting.  It also requires a high standard of landscape design, 
have a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclist and 
pedestrians, make provision for refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly 
impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of 
outlook, noise and fumes.

15. The site comprises of a large wooded area which is designated as 
Countryside and forms part of the Strategic Gap, part of the land has been 
cleared following the removal of the earth bund with the gates having replaced 
existing ones. The original gates were in poor condition, allowing the site to be 
subject to trespass; these new gates are more robust and are 40cm taller at 
2.7 metres and setback from the highway by 10 metres.

16. The development is of a small scale nature with no impact had to the 
countryside designation or indeed the strategic gap.  Access to the site is 
already in existence and the gates are not an untypical form of development 
within the countryside.  The form of the gate is such that the appearance allow 
for views of the woodland, and the ‘open’ character of this section of the 
woodland has been retained due to its built form, thus the gates have not 
diminished the strategic gap or the views of the countryside.  

Residential Amenity

17. It is not considered that any undue harm has arisen to the amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers.   While they are visible to neighbours living opposite, 
their form, siting  and siting does not impacted upon residents privacy or 
outlook.

Highways

18. Saved policy 102.T discusses permitting new or improved access provided 
that it does not interfere with safety, function and standard of the road 
network.  The gates have been set back from the highway by approximately 
ten metres, Furthermore vegetation has been cleared which allows for clear 
visibility, access and manoeuvrability.  

Trees

19. The trees on site are protected with a woodland Tree Preservation Order and 
whilst within the last year 12 trees potentially were felled on site; this is 
unrelated to the erection of the gates.  The Tree officer has raised no objection 
to the proposal given its nature and the closest tree being ten metres away is 
unlikely to have harmed the trees. In regards to impact of trees worthy of 
retention or protected, the development is not contrary to Saved Policy 59.BE 
of the adopted Local Plan

24



 
Other material considerations

20. Also of relevance is the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036.

The Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st October 
2018 and the Council is awaiting confirmation of the date for examination.  
The adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in Summer 2019.  Given the 
status of the emerging Plan, it is considered that limited weight can be 
attributed to it.

21. With regards to this application, the new policies essentially echo those of the 
current plan and are not considered to affect the recommendation put forward.

Conclusion

22. The retention of the gates on balance is an acceptable form of development 
which has not resulted in undue harm to the locality or the countryside and 
strategic gap.  The proposal in accordance with saved policy 59.BE, 1.CO, 
2.CO of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and submitted 
policies.

25



26



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley 28 January 2019

Application 
number:

O/18/83634

Case Officer: Kitty Budden
Received Date: 17/07/2018
Site Address: Land West of Woodhouse Lane, Hedge End, SO30 2EZ
Applicant: Hampshire County Council

Proposal: Hybrid planning application for the proposed 
development of a residential and education led site with 
access off Woodhouse Lane. Outline: Up to 605 
residential dwellings, a local centre, pedestrian and 
cycle links, a pedestrian SINC crossing, drainage, public 
open space, landscaping, other supporting infrastructure 
and mitigation measures (including noise attenuation) 
associated with the development. 

Full: 7 Form Entry secondary school with the potential to 
expand to 9 Form Entry and associated sports 
provision, primary access roads and points of access, 
pedestrian and cycle links (including the diversion of 
route number 6c), an underpass, a pedestrian SINC 
crossing, drainage, landscaping, utilities, other 
supporting permanent and temporary infrastructure and 
mitigation measures associated with the development.

This application is subject to an Environmental Impact 
Assessment and is a departure from the development 
plan, and affects Public Rights of Way.

Recommendation: PERMIT, subject to the referral of the planning 
application to the Secretary of State; no material 
planning objections from outstanding consultees and 
completion of S106 legal agreement, delegated back to 
Chair, Vice Chair and Ward Members for final approval.

CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

Education Development and Access: 

1. The school development hereby permitted shall begin no later than two 
years from the date of this decision. 
Reason: To comply with Schedule 2, Part 16 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Permitted Development Order 2015.

27

Agenda Item 12



2. The school development hereby permitted shall be implemented in 
accordance with the following plans numbered: 251898-PL-001; 
251898_PL_018; 01001; 01002; 01003; 01004; 01005; 02001; 02002; 
02003; 02004; 03001; 03002; 03003; 03004; 30050; 06001; 06002; 
100-M; 101-H; 102-H; 103-H; 104-C; 105-A; 300-F; 20001; 20002; 
20010; 20056; 3001; 31002; 31010; 31011; 30001; 00215; 40001; 
40002; 40003; 40004; 40005; 130; 131; 132; 133; 134; 135; 136; 137; 
160; 161; 162; 163; 164; 165; 166; 167; 168; 169; 170; 171; 180; 1710; 
4001; 4002.  Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.

3. The materials to be used in the exterior of the school shall accord with 
the Schedule of External Materials, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: To ensure a high quality 
appearance.

4. All construction and demolition work associated with the school shall 
comply with the submitted Construction and Environment Management 
Plan, titled Construction Phase Plan Rev 4.  This Plan shall be 
reviewed and updated as necessary throughout the construction phase 
in discussion with the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: To limit the 
impact the development has on the amenity of the locality.

5. The school development shall not commence until evidence has been 
submitted and approved by the LPA that the tree protection measures 
have been installed, as detailed in the tree protection plan contained 
within the Arboricultural Impact Assessment, produced by Treework 
Environmental Practice, Ref. 181203-1.2-SSHE-AIA-CH dated 3 
December 2018. Once approved, no access by vehicles or placement 
of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or other materials shall take place within 
the fenced area. Tree protection measures shall be retained in their 
approved form for the duration of the work. The development must 
accord with the Arboricultural Implications Assessment and Method 
Statement, produced by Treework Environmental Practice, and may 
only be modified subject to written agreement from the LPA. This 
condition may only be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed 
development, subject to submission of monthly monitoring reports, 
detailing supervision activity and inspections of tree protection 
measures. Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form 
an important part of the amenity of the locality.

6. No development, excavation or demolition shall commence until a site 
meeting has taken place with the site manager, the retained 
arboricultural consultant and a representative from the Local Planning 
Authority. Work cannot commence until the LPA officer has inspected 

28



and approved the tree protection, ensuring it conforms to the Tree 
Protection Plan and the Arboricultural Report. All other aspects of the 
Arboricultural Report will be addressed at this meeting. The tree 
protection shall be retained until the development is completed and 
nothing shall be placed within the fencing, nor shall any ground levels 
be altered or excavations made without the written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. This tree condition may only be fully discharged on 
completion of the development subject to satisfactory written evidence 
of monitoring and compliance by the pre-appointed tree specialist 
during construction.
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 
important part of the amenity of the locality.

7. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source 
shall take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out 
process. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

8. No vegetation clearance shall occur on site during the bird nesting 
season [between 1st March & 31st August] unless supervised by an 
appropriately qualified ecologist.
Reason: To prevent harm to breeding birds.

9. Prior to the occupation of any school building (or, in accordance with a 
timetable to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), the 
following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority: 

 A report showing how the development meets the relevant 
essential requirements in the Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
adopted Environmentally Sustainable Development 
Supplementary Planning Document, including:

 A BREEAM New Construction Post Construction certificate at 
‘excellent’ standard.

The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance 
with the approved details. 
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design 
across the site; and to ensure the non-residential elements of the 
development meet the relevant essential requirements of the adopted 
Environmentally Sustainable Development Supplementary Planning 
Document.

10. Prior to commencement of works in relation to the playing fields, a 
sports turf agronomist assessment of the ground condition shall be 
undertaken.  A scheme for the preparation of the playing field land shall 

29



be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  The preparation of the playing fields shall accord with the 
approved scheme.  Reason: To ensure the playing fields and 
constructed to a high standard.

11. Prior to installation, the siting and installation of plant and equipment, 
including process exhausts, which gives rise, or is likely to give rise, to 
emissions to air of either ash, dust, fume, gases, grit, odours or soot 
shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any plant 
or equipment used for the purpose of air conditioning shall be provided 
with suitable acoustic attenuation, or sited at agreed locations, to 
mitigate the effects of noise as approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

12. The School development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use 
until the car park has been constructed, surfaced and marked out in 
accordance with the approved plan. The approved parking area shall 
not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the turning, parking, 
loading and unloading of vehicles.
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety.

13. Within 6 months of construction of the school being commenced, a 
scheme for the cessation of use of the temporary haul road and a 
specification for the restoration of the land shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  Upon the use of 
the haul road stopping, and within a time period to be agreed with the 
LPA, the approved restoration specification shall be completed.  
Reason: To ensure the appropriate restoration of the land.

14. Details of the use of any sound amplification equipment to be used in 
the school hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the use of any such 
equipment. The sound amplification equipment shall not be used 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of occupiers of nearby 
properties.

Residential Development Conditions: 

15. The residential development hereby permitted shall begin either: 
a) No later than the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission; or 
b) No later than the expiration of two years from the date of approval of 

30



the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

16. No residential development shall start until details of the: 
a) Layout of the site 
b) Scale of the buildings 
c) External appearance of the buildings 
d) Landscaping of the site 
[hereafter called "the reserved matters"] for at least the first phase of 
development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The reserved matters shall be in general 
accordance with the approved plans, 251898-PL-001; Land Use 
(251898_PL_002 Rev 11); Building Heights (251898_PL_003 Rev 9); 
Hydrology (251898_PL_004 Rev 9); Access and Movement 
(251898_PL_005 Rev 12); Landscape and Ecology (251898_PL_006 
Rev 12); and Densities (251898_PL_7 Rev 10) parameter plans. 
Application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made 
within two years of the date of this permission. The development shall 
accord with the approved details. Reason: To comply with Section 92 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

17. Upon submission of the first reserved matters application and any 
subsequent applications, a supporting statement shall be provided 
demonstrating how the detailed design of the scheme responds to the 
principles set out in the Design Principles, November 2018 Post 
Submission Issue 2.  Reason: To ensure delivery of high quality 
development. 

18. The development must accord with the parameter plans and Design 
Principles, unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure high quality development.

19. Upon submission of the first reserved matters, a Landscape and 
Ecological Protection, Mitigation and Management Strategy shall be 
provided for approval by the Local Planning Authority, in general 
accordance with the approved Landscape and Ecology parameter plan.  
Each phase of the development must demonstrate compliance with this 
strategy through the submission of a landscape and ecology 
management plan and implementation report and the development 
shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved 
strategy and details. The Strategy and Plan shall include:

31



 details of mitigation, enhancement, management and monitoring 
of habitats on and off-site (related to the development) and all 
landscaped areas (except privately owned domestic gardens); 

 details of the extent and type of new planting, to be of native 
species;

 details of maintenance regimes including a SINC management 
plan;

 details of any new habitats created on site;
 details of any new wetlands/SuDS created on site and their 

future management;
 details of the treatment of site boundaries and/or buffers around 

water bodies;
 incorporation of features suitable for use by breeding birds and 

bats;
 details of management responsibilities;
 a timetable for implementation.

The development shall accord with the details set out in the Plan.  
Reason: To ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat 
found on the site and to secure opportunities for the improvement of 
wildlife corridors and wider enhancement of the nature conservation 
value of the site in line with national planning policy.

20. No construction or demolition work for the residential development 
phases shall start until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance 
with the approved method statement which shall include: 
a) a programme and phasing of the demolition and construction work, 
including roads, landscaping and open space; 
b) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material and plant storage areas used during demolition and 
construction; 
c) the arrangements for the routing/ turning of lorries and details for 
construction traffic access to the site, including a lorry routing plan; 
d) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works, loading/ unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any 
damage to the highway [including vehicle crossovers and grass 
verges]; 
e) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by 
demolition and construction, including measures to prevent mud on the 
highway; 
g) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 

32



development during construction period; 
h) temporary lighting; 
i) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
j) safeguards for fuel and chemical storage and use, to ensure no 
pollution of the surface water leaving the site; 
k) diagrammatic and written details of construction drainage containing 
three forms of temporary filtration;
l) measures to offset construction impacts on protected species and 
sites, including protective fencing for ecological areas.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the 
locality.

21. No construction or deliveries to the site except between the hours of  
0800 to 1800 Monday to Friday, 0900 to 1300 on Saturday, and at no 
other time on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays. Reason: To limit the 
impact the development has on the amenity of the locality.

22. No construction or demolition shall take place until commenced a noise 
and vibration assessment of the demolition and construction activities 
shall be carried out, and a scheme of works detailing the mitigation 
measures to control noise and vibration from the development, 
including piling, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
LPA. (The scheme shall detail the mitigation measures for protecting 
existing and proposed dwellings from noise and vibration, and as 
deemed necessary by the LPA). The assessment should have due 
regard to the advice and guidance contained in British Standard 
BS5228:2009 (A1 2014) “Noise And Vibration Control On Construction 
And Open Sites”. Reason: To protect the amenities of occupiers of any 
nearby premises and minimise the risk of vibration damage to 
neighbouring buildings. 

23. No construction, demolition, or site clearance shall not begin until the 
developer has carried out a dust assessment, and prepared a scheme 
of works to deal with dust from the site that adequately takes into 
account the impact of site preparation and construction works, on 
existing and proposed dwellings, has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall detail the 
mitigation measures for protecting existing and proposed dwellings 
from dust and should take account of the Institute of Air Quality 
Management guidance, ‘Guidance on the assessment of dust from 
demolition and construction sites’.  Reason: To protect the amenities of 
occupiers of any nearby premises from dust.

33



24. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source 
shall take place on this site during the demolition, construction and 
fitting out process without the prior written permission of the Local 
Planning Authority.  Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers 
of nearby properties. 

25. No vegetation clearance shall occur on site during the bird nesting 
season [between 1st March & 31st August] unless supervised by an 
appropriately qualified ecologist. Reason: To prevent harm to breeding 
birds.

26. Prior to commencement of each phase of development, the following 
details for each phase been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The details must be in accordance with the 
Design Principles as set out in Condition 3 (as applicable): 
a) details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces of the development;
b) Details of rainwater goods;
c) Details and location of meter boxes;
d) Colours and materials for fascias and soffits;
e) Balcony details (if applicable);
f) Details of chimneys;
g) Street trees;
h) Window design and detail;
i) Any green roofs.
j) the alignment, height and materials of all walls, fences and other 
means of enclosure; 
k) width, alignment, gradient, sight lines and type of construction 
proposed for any footpaths and accesses; 
l) plans including cross sections to show proposed ground levels and 
their relationship to existing levels both within the site and on 
immediately adjoining land; 
m) details for ongoing management and maintenance of any roads, 
footpaths and accesses including any future plans for adoption;
n) the provision to be made for street lighting and/or external lighting. 
Lighting shall be designed to comply with the advice and guidance of 
the Institute of Lighting Professional, ILP, publication ‘Guidance Notes 
for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011’; and located to 
minimise light spillage and avoid impacting on flight corridors used by 
bats;
o) The provision to be made for the parking of vehicles;
p) provision of bin and cycle storage.

34



The development shall not be occupied until the approved details have 
been fully implemented unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: To ensure high quality design and limit the impact the 
development has on the locality.

27. No development shall take place until the developer has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written scheme of works that describes the archaeological 
excavation in detail, of the archaeological site identified in the 
archaeological evaluation, which has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: To 
ensure that the archaeological interest of the site is properly 
safeguarded and recorded. 

28. Prior to commencement of each phase of development, plans and 
particulars of the internal road layout, to an adoptable standard, shall 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  Development shall accord with the approved details.  
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety.

29. Prior to the commencement of each phase of development, details of a 
technology and communication strategy for the provision of broadband, 
fibre optic and audio visual technology within that phase must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The infrastructure must then be provided for use upon first occupation 
of the buildings hereby permitted within that phase and retained 
thereafter.
Reason: To improve the opportunities to work from home and to 
reduce the proliferation of individual masts, aerials, satellite dishes and 
wiring on flatted and commercial blocks in the interests of visual 
amenity.

30. No residential development shall start until an updated Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment, Method Statement, Tree Survey and a protective 
fencing plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development must accord with the 
approved details and to the appropriate British Standard. This condition 
may only be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed 
development, subject to satisfactory written evidence of monitoring and 
compliance by the retained arboricultural consultant during 
construction. 
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 

35



important part of the amenity of the locality.

31. No residential development, or associated excavation or demolition 
shall commence until a site meeting has taken place with the site 
manager, the retained arboricultural consultant and a representative 
from the Local Planning Authority. Work cannot commence until the 
LPA officer has inspected and approved the tree protection, ensuring it 
conforms to the Tree Protection Plan and the Arboricultural Report. All 
other aspects of the Arboricultural Report will be addressed at this 
meeting. The tree protection shall be retained until the development is 
completed and nothing shall be placed within the fencing, nor shall any 
ground levels be altered or excavations made without the written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. This tree condition may only be 
fully discharged on completion of the development subject to 
satisfactory written evidence of monitoring and compliance by the pre-
appointed tree specialist during construction.
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 
important part of the amenity of the locality.

32. No residential phase shall start on site until the following has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
a.) a report of preliminary investigation comprising a Desk Study, 
Conceptual Site Model, and Preliminary Risk Assessment documenting 
previous and existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in 
accordance with national guidance and as set out in Contaminated 
Land Report Nos. 11, CLR11, and BS10175:2011 Investigation of 
potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice, and, unless 
otherwise agreed with the LPA;
b.) a report of a site investigation documenting the ground conditions of 
the site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as 
appropriate by the Preliminary Investigation and in accordance with 
BS10175:2011, and BS 8576:2013; and unless otherwise agreed with 
the LPA;
c.) a detailed site specific scheme for remedial works and measures to 
be undertaken to avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when 
the site is developed and proposals for future maintenance and 
monitoring.
Such a scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to 
oversee the implementation of the works.  Reason: To minimise the 
risk from land contamination for public safety.

33. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until there has 
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification by the 
competent person approved under the provisions of condition X(c) that 

36



any remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of 
condition X(c) has been implemented fully in accordance with the 
approved details (unless varied with the written permission of the LPA 
in advance of implementation).
Unless agreed in writing with the LPA such verification shall comply 
with the guidance contained in CLR11 and EA Guidance for the Safe 
Development of Housing on Land Affected by Contamination - R&D 
Publication 66: 2008. Typically such a report would comprise:

a.) a description of the site and its background, and summary of 
relevant site information,
b.) a description of the remediation objectives and remedial 
works carried out
c.) verification data, including - data (sample locations/analytical 
results, as built drawings of the implemented scheme, 
photographs of the remediation works in progress, etc.
d.) Certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left 
in situ is free from contamination, gas / vapour membranes have 
been installed correctly

Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in 
accordance with the scheme approved under condition X(c)”.  Reason: 
To minimise the risk from land contamination for public safety.

34. No residential development shall start until a landscaping scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall cover all hard & soft landscaping [including 
trees and boundary treatment] and shall provide details of timings for all 
landscaping and any future maintenance. The works shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved plans and to the appropriate 
British Standard. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents.

35. No residential development shall start until a site wide green 
infrastructure strategy, has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall detail the extent 
and nature of the natural habitat, open space and corridors within the 
network. The network should incorporate all open space within the 
development and extend into the urban area via wildlife corridors and 
other enhancements. The strategy should be overarching, referencing 
all the species specific strategies and providing details relating to 
overall habitat connectivity within the network and any requirements 
above that provided for mitigation. The final green infrastructure should 
be multifunctional and provide gains for wildlife and the human 
population in line with national policy.

37



Reason: To ensure provision of a fully connected, multifunctional green 
infrastructure that can be access by the population and nature.

36. All hard & soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatment shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the 
appropriate British Standard. For a period of 5 years after planting, any 
trees or plants which are removed, die or become seriously damaged 
or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with 
others of the same species, size and number as originally approved in 
the landscaping scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents.

37. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the 
development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed. Surface water run-off should be controlled 
as near to its source as possible through a sustainable drainage 
approach to surface water management (SuDS). The drainage system 
should be designed to accommodate surface water runoff according to 
the following criteria:
i) The surface water drainage system must be designed to control 
runoff and prevent flooding of property in up to a 1 in 100 year storm 
event, plus an allowance for an increase in storm intensity with climate 
change in line with National Planning Policy Framework. In line with 
CIRIA C635 "Designing for Exceedence in Urban Drainage", events 
under the 1 in 30 year return period should be contained within the 
system, while short-term surface flooding in events in exceedance of 
the 1 in 30 year return period is acceptable, so long as this can be 
safely stored without risk to people.
ii) The rate at which surface water is discharged from the site may vary 
with the severity of the storm event but should be no greater than the 
undeveloped rate of runoff for a given event;
iii) The drainage arrangement should also be such that the volumes of 
surface water leaving the site are no greater than that at pre-
development. Long-term storage may be required to control any 
additional surface water volumes generated.
iv) Surface water discharges to watercourses must not exceed a 
velocity of 1 m/s;
v) The development should achieve nutrient neutrality.

38



Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage from the development and to 
ensure no impact on the Solent Complex from pollution or changes in 
flow within the operational phase.

38. Development shall not commence until details of the SUDS have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Details 
must comply with Advice Note 3: https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf. The 
submitted Plan shall include details of:

 Profiles and dimensions of water bodies
 Details of marginal planting

Careful consideration should be given to the increased carrying 
capacity for feral geese within the aerodrome vicinity and a summary of 
suggestions for SUDS sites/feral geese are shown below:

 No islands
 1m fringe of common reed phragmites australis
 Steep sided banks into the water
 Signs discouraging feeding of birds

No subsequent alterations to the approved SUDS scheme are to take 
place unless first submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  The 
scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe movement of aircraft and the 
operation of Southampton Airport through the attraction of Birds and an 
increase in the bird hazard risk of the application site.  For further 
information please refer to Advice Note 1 and 3 
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-
Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf and https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-1-Aerodrome-Safeguarding-An-
Overview-2016.pdf.

39. Prior to commencement of the residential development, a drainage 
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul water sewerage disposal 
and an implementation timetable shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall accord 
with the approved details and timetable.  No occupations shall take 
place until it has been demonstrated that there is capacity available.  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of foul and surface water 
drainage and protect biodiversity.

40. Prior to the commencement of the residential development hereby 
permitted a detailed assessment of noise arising from road traffic and 
educational uses including playing fields, and a detailed noise 
mitigation scheme to address such noise (with measures to provide 

39



satisfactory internal and external noise standards to include site layout 
and building orientation, building construction, glazing, mechanical 
ventilation, acoustic screening and phasing of development and 
occupation) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The internal noise standards to be achieved shall 
be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
submission of the noise mitigation scheme. The noise mitigation 
measures, as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, shall 
be fully installed and verified as performing as required prior to the first 
occupation of each dwelling unit, and shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to protect business 
interests.

41. Development shall not commence until a Bird Hazard Management 
Plan has been submitted and approved in writing by the LPA.  The 
submitted plan shall include details of:

 Monitoring and management of the SUDS system to ensure that 
there is a zero tolerance to nesting feral geese.

 Monitoring and management of the site to ensure there is a zero 
tolerance to nesting gulls.  This should include the management 
of any flat/shallow pitched roofs on buildings within the site 
which may be attractive to nesting, roosting and ‘loafing’ birds.

The Bird Hazard Management Plan should comply with advice note 3 
(https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-
Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf).
The Bird Hazard Management Plan shall be implemented as approved, 
on completion of the development and shall remain in force for the life 
of the development.  No subsequent alterations to the plan are to take 
place unless first submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.
Reason: It is necessary to manage the development in order to 
minimise its attractiveness to birds which could endanger the safe 
movement of aircraft and the operation of Southampton Airport.

42. No construction or demolition shall take place until details of the 
measures to protect the public sewer apparatus located within the site 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. Reason:  In the interests of protecting the public 
sewers.

43. Prior to the commencement of each residential phase of the 
development hereby approved (or in accordance with a timetable to be 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority) other than for the 
access works a BREEAM Communities final certificate at Excellent 

40



level shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in respect of that phase.
Reason: To demonstrate the required compliance with BREEAM 
Communities Excellent standard.

44. Before two years from the final occupation of each residential phase, a 
post occupancy evaluation report detailing compliance with BREEAM 
Communities Excellent must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, the parameters of which must be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority prior to submission. Reason: To 
ensure compliance to the required BREEAM Communities standard.

45. Prior to the occupation of any building within each individual phase of 
the development (or, in accordance with a timetable to be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
As built stage SAP data and as built stage water calculator confirming 
energy efficiency and the predicted internal mains water consumption 
to achieve:
 In respect of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% improvement of 

dwelling emission rate over the target emission rate as set in the 
2013 Building Regulations

 In respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted internal 
mains water consumption of 105 litres/person/day. 

Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design 
across the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government’s 
Ministerial Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local 
Planning Authorities should, from the date of its publication, take into 
account the government’s intentions in the statement “and not set 
conditions with requirements above a Code level 4 equivalent” for 
residential development. To ensure the non-residential elements of the 
development meet the relevant essential requirements of the adopted 
Environmentally Sustainable Development Supplementary Planning 
Document.

46. Prior to the commencement of each residential phase of development, 
details of a technology and communication strategy for the provision of 
broadband, fibre optic and audio visual technology within that phase 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The infrastructure must then be provided for use upon first 
occupation of the buildings hereby permitted within that phase and 
retained thereafter.
Reason: To improve the opportunities to work from home and to 
reduce the proliferation of individual masts, aerials, satellite dishes and 

41



wiring on flatted and commercial blocks in the interests of visual 
amenity.

47. The residential development hereby permitted shall not be occupied 
until the parking areas including the garages and unallocated visitor 
spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved plans and 
thereafter permanently retained and used only for the purposes of 
accommodating bicycles and private motor vehicles incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwelling house as a residence.
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety and to ensure adequate provision of on-site facilities.

48. The commercial units within the Local Centre hereby approved in 
outline shall not be used for Hot Food Takeaways (A5 Use Class) and 
no change of use to Class A5 shall be permitted under the Town and 
Country Planning [Use Classes] Order 1987 (as amended).  Reason: 
To protect the amenities of the locality and to support the Council’s 
wider health strategy.

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes 
a positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to 
achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all 
proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.

Note to Applicant: Given the nature of the development, it is possible 
that a crane may be required during its construction. The applicant’s 
attention is therefore drawn to the requirement within the British 
Standard ‘Code of practice for safe use of cranes’ for crane operators 
to consult the aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to 
an aerodrome. This is explained further in Advice Note 4, ‘Crane and 
Other Construction Issues’, available at http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf.

Note to Applicant: A formal application for connection to the water 
supply is required in order to service this development.  Please contact 
Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, 
Hampshire, SO21 2SW (Tel. 0330 303 0119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk.

42

http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf


Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 
development which is a departure from the adopted Development Plan 
and of significant public interest.  

2. It is one of two applications submitted by the applicant for 
consideration; the other comprising an outline application for residential 
development at land to the North and East of Winchester Street 
(O/18/83698).  This site is considered separately and on its own merits; 
however where there are matters that link the two sites, these are noted 
as such in this report. 

The site and its surroundings

3. The site is located on the outskirts of Hedge End and sits on land 
between Hedge End and Botley, designated as Countryside and Local 
Gap in the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011.  
Comprised of gently undulating agricultural land (pasture and arable) 
(Grade 3a and 3b), the site has a distinct field pattern reinforced by 
Ancient Woodland, hedgerows, and trees to the edge of the existing 
Public Right of Way which passes through the site on a northwest-
southeast trajectory. 

4. A strip of Ancient Woodland runs through the site, known as Bushy 
Copse and is protected as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SINC).   A steep-sided stream (referred to as a Gilly) runs through the 
SINC.  This SINC connects to Bottom Copse, which is under separate 
ownership but physically and functionally is part of the same ecological 
habitat, and part of the SINC.

5. The site is currently accessed via two vehicular accesses from 
Woodhouse Lane, the main access being on the line of a bridleway that 
runs roughly through the centre of the site.  The second, and less 
engineered access, is to the south western edge of the site adjacent to 
the woodland at Bottom Copse, providing access to the fields to the 
west.  Pedestrian access is via the bridleway which links to an existing 
footpath to the northwest through the well-established residential area, 
and crosses Woodhouse Lane to the east to continue as a bridleway 
connecting to Holmesland Lane.  An additional, permissive, footpath 
exists in the north of the site which runs along, and close to, the 
boundary with the railway line.  It is apparent that unauthorised access 
to the wider site also routinely takes place, particularly through the 
SINC and along the edges of the fields west and south of the SINC.

6. There are a number of constraints within the site in addition to the 
SINC, including an intermediate pressure gas pipeline and water main 
aligned northwest-east, with associated easements.  Overhead 132kv 
electrical cables run along the northern boundary with the site aligned 
with the railway line and 11kv cables pass through the site roughly 

43



aligned with the bridleway until reaching the field boundary closest to 
Woodhouse Lane, where they split to travel both north and south-
southwest.

7. Outside of the site boundary, the Eastleigh-Fareham railway line runs 
along the northern boundary with an hourly service at the Hedge End 
station located northwest of the site, approximately 1.4km away.  

8. The eastern boundary is defined by Woodhouse Lane.  On the 22nd 
November 2017, the Botley Bypass planning application was consented 
by Hampshire County Council (HCC) (reference CS/17/81226) which 
includes alterations and improvements to Woodhouse Lane that impact 
the existing boundary to the site.  

9. The southern boundary of the site runs to the north of Bottom Copse 
then travels along the edge of a residential area with Botleigh Grange 
Business Park behind, and the rear boundary of Berrywood Primary 
School.   The site boundary then bisects the defined SINC along the 
western boundary with residential properties to the west, outside of the 
line of the SINC.

10. The surrounding development is characterised primarily by housing 
estates from the 1980s to present day, although there are a small 
number of Locally Listed barns along the eastern side of Woodhouse 
Lane.  Hilliers Garden Centre occupies a site on the eastern side of 
Woodhouse Lane.  

Description of application

11. The application comprises a hybrid application; that being a planning 
application that seeks full planning permission for development on one 
part of a site and outline planning permission for another part of the 
same site.

12. In this case, full planning permission is sought for:

- A 7 Form Entry secondary school with the potential to expand to 9 
Form Entry, staff car park and associated sports provision, including 
Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA), sports hall and playing fields;

- Primary access roads and points of access, pedestrian and cycle links 
(including the diversion of bridleway route number 6c), an underpass, 
and a pedestrian SINC crossing (a bridge to facilitate access between 
the school buildings and playing fields);

- Associated drainage, landscaping, utilities, other supporting permanent 
and temporary infrastructure and mitigation measures.

13. As a result of the representations and consultation responses received 
following the initial consultation process, amendments to the scheme 
were submitted on 5th December 2018.  Neighbours and relevant 
consultees were re-notified with a 21-day period to comment on these 

44



amendments.  This re-consultation concluded on 4th January 2019.  
The amendments comprise:

- Redesign of Woodhouse Lane northern access junction arrangements;
- Amendments to noise bund and landscaping to accommodate 0.5m 

height increase for roundabout;
- Revised access improvements to Woodhouse Lane railway bridge;
- Changes to the design of the school playing fields, including perimeter 

fencing and associated boundary changes; and amendments to the 
detailed landscape proposals. 

14. Of particular note are the revised proposals for the bridge, which 
remove the signalisation of the railway bridge at the northern end of 
Woodhouse Lane and propose instead, retention of two lanes across 
the bridge to allow two-way traffic; a 2.4m wide shared 
footway/cycleway across the length of the bridge (with alterations to the 
bridge design to raise the height of the parapet to 1.8m); and a widened 
shared footway/cycleway 2.5m in width, along the western side of the 
carriageway on Woodhouse Lane, and Winchester Road.

15. Outline planning permission is sought for:

- Up to 605 residential dwellings and local centre;
- Road infrastructure, pedestrian and cycle links and a pedestrian SINC 

crossing;
- Associated drainage, public open space, landscaping, other supporting 

infrastructure and mitigation measures.

16. The application is accompanied by a Location Plan, Illustrative 
Masterplan, parameter plans and detailed plans for the matters to be 
considered in full, together with a Connections Plan and SINC 
Boundary plan.  In addition, the following reports and technical 
assessments have been provided which have been updated as 
necessary throughout the course of the application:

 Arboricultural Statement;
 Design and Access Statement (including Open Space 

Assessment, Parking Provision Details and Public Art 
Statement);

 Delivery Strategy;
 Environmental Statement (including outline Construction 

Environmental Management Plan and SINC Management Plan);
 Flood Risk Assessment (including Drainage Strategy, Foul 

Sewerage Statement and SUDS Statement);
 Planning Statement (including Affordable Housing Statement, 

Mineral Statement, Planning Obligations - Heads of Terms, Net 
Biodiversity Gain Calculations and Utilities Statement);

 Site Survey;
 Statement of Community Involvement;

45



 Sustainability Report (including School BREEAM Pre-
Assessment);

 Transport Assessment (including School Travel Plan and 
Framework Travel Plan);

 School Arboricultural Impact Assessment;
 School Construction Phase Plan (including Construction 

Environmental Management Plan and Construction Traffic 
Management Plan);

 School Landscape Management Plan;
 School Part L and Energy Efficiency Analysis;
 School Ventilation and Extraction Statement;
 Bird Hazard Management Plan.

17. A number of the technical assessments, including the Environmental 
Statement and the Transport Assessment have been prepared to 
assess the impacts of both this site and the Winchester Street site.

Environmental Impact Assessment 

18. This is a Schedule 2 EIA development and significantly above the 
indicative screening thresholds advised by the NPPG. The proposal 
has been screened and scoped under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 2017 as 
needing an Environmental Statement and subsequent Environmental 
Impact Assessment. The maximum parameters tested by the 
Environmental Statement are those identified by the parameter plans.

Habitat Regulations Assessment  

19. The proposal has been screened under the UK Habitats Regulations 
and has the potential to impact Natura 2000 sites.  An Appropriate 
Assessment (AA) has therefore been undertaken by the Council as the 
Appropriate Authority to assess whether the proposals are likely to 
have a significant (adverse) impact on these protected sites.  The 
assessment has been submitted to Natural England for comment and 
an update provided for Members at committee.

Relevant planning history

20. There is no relevant planning history in relation to this site.

Representations received

21. In the first round of consultation, 64 letters of objection were received 
from 59 households.  These raised a number of matters, as 
summarised below:

Transport and Parking:
 Road infrastructure lacking;

46



 Impact on Junctions 7 and 8;
 Impact on traffic and congestion;
 Impact on parking in town and exacerbate parking issues on roads 

near primary school;
 Impact on local traffic flows;
 Suggest put money into sorting out roads and easing congestion;
 Widening access point close to 88 Billington Gardens for pedestrian 

access to school will increase parking and drop off/pick up issues in 
Close;

 Recent developments have roads that are too narrow with not 
enough parking;

 Lack of parking spaces provided in the development;
 Disruption during Maypole roundabout work to continue with 

development;
 Concerns re traffic lights on bridge, will cause chaos, queues and 

air pollution – had temporary lights which caused chaos; suggest 
widen bridge, widen pavement to 2.5m, use TRO to restrict weight 
limit to direct lorries down Tollbar Way or add extra bridge.

Local Services and Infrastructure:
 Insufficient infrastructure, community and public services;
 Not enough GPs with St Luke and Botley surgeries at crisis point;
 Proper infrastructure needed;
 Fewer emergency services, invisible police force and no action of 

anti-social behaviour;
 Insufficient school places;
 No requirement for additional GPs or surgeries – CCG responsible, 

but Council has duty of care to residents to ensure provision of 
essential services;

 Impact on dentists;
 Impact on Public Right of Way (PRoW);
 Hedge End Station very busy;
 Supermarkets already stretched;
 New school needed, with proper planning for drop off/pick up;
 New school will not relieve pressure at Wildern, how will this be 

dealt with?

Ecology:
 Wide range of wildlife seen on site, including possibility of otters;
 Impact on a haven for wildlife;
 Erosion of green spaces for wildlife and recreation;
 Impact on trees, ancient woodland and SINC – concern regarding 

10m lateral tolerance and recommendation for retention of trees, 
etc;

 Building close to SINC will prevent wildlife living in this area.

Environment:

47



 Live in one of most polluted cities, still crowding more onto green 
space;

 Concerns re groundwater flooding;
 Will bridleway be converted to additional access routes?
 Environmentally damaging emission;
 Significant density, with incumbent impact to environment;
 Heritage assets dismissed in narrative; 
 Harm to local environment;
 Destroying AONB.

Land-Use:
 Erosion and loss of Green Belt;
 Last green gap between Hedge End/Botley/Boorley Green – if 

disappears, settlements will merge;
 Brownfield sites should be considered before removing further 

natural resources/ greenfield sites;
 Loss of settlement identity and increase of urban sprawl;
 Urban parks do not compensate for loss of countryside;
 Have enough industrial areas, some of which are empty;
 Hedge End was a small village, now merging with surrounding area 

at cost to environment and locals.

Amenity:
 Land well-used by local residents as local green space;
 Ease of access to local green space important;
 Loss of environment and countryside for residents;
 Control of dust and noise from construction site;
 Impact/ increased noise after site completed;
 Overlooking by school and houses;
 Impact on existing residents;
 Reduction in quality of life for residents;
 Physical and mental health of existing residents affected;
 Control of hours and days of operation during construction;
 Visual impact;
 Potential lack of countryside within walking distance;
 Increasing anti-social behaviour as result of new development.

General Matters:
 Cumulative overdevelopment of Hedge End area;
 Unable to accommodate more housing;
 Unsustainable overdevelopment;
 No justification for additional dwellings at this stage;
 In isolation appears well thought through and thorough, however it 

connects to the wider environment;
 Significant departure from original development plan;
 Assurances development will not exceed two stories?

48



 Detailed planning could provide gardens of the new houses to back 
onto existing properties and tree line rather than a road along the  
edge of the SINC;

 Houses will not be affordable.

Other Matters:
 Engagement through planning application limited and undertaken 

during the peak holiday period;
 Support vision but suggest consider other locations eg. East of 

Woodhouse Lane;
 No anti-traveller defences on open space;
 Want to understand how bypass fits into this, assume this 

development is supplementing?

Non-Material Planning Considerations:

22. (The following matters were raised but do not constitute material 
planning matters and therefore cannot be taken into account.)

 Devaluation of property;
 Accusation of misuse of taxes from new housing;
 Looking to move as will back onto playing fields;
 Large amount of development in area not sold, also affecting sale of 

existing properties;
 Council not working in residents best interests by devaluing our 

homes with further development.

23. (Four of the above objections were received which supported the 
provision of the school and/or housing, but objected to the development 
on a number of other grounds which are listed above.)

24. One letter of support was received, recognising the need for more 
homes, school and community areas, although expressing concerns 
regarding additional traffic.  

25. One letter of comment was received, asking whether it was possible for 
the developer to be required to provide mains utilities for existing 
properties on Woodhouse Lane.

26. Representations have also been received from University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust, summarised below:

27. University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) is 
currently operating at full capacity in the provision of acute and planned 
healthcare.  Although the Trust has plans to cater for the known 
population growth, it cannot plan for unanticipated additional growth in 
the short to medium term.  In order to enable the Trust to provide 
services needed by the occupants of the new development, a financial 
contribution is required.  The development directly affects the ability to 

49



provide the health service required to those who live in the 
development and the community at large.  Without the contribution, the 
development is not sustainable and should be refused. 

28. Following the submission of amendments to the scheme, a further 
round of consultation was undertaken.  In response, nine letters of 
representation were received from eight households.  Seven of these 
raised objections, the majority of which related to the wider 
development rather than the proposed amendments.  

29. Comments in addition to those listed above were:
 How many properties will be brought by people living in them and 

how many by property developers, therefore is there the need for 
this number of new houses?

 Will there still be the need for this level of housing when Brexit 
occurs?

 Transport reports fail to consider what happens if there is an 
accident on the motorway and the interrelationship between traffic 
flows at Charles Watts Way and the traffic lights and flows at the 
crossroads of Thornhill Park Rd and Hinkler Rd;

 Object to these sites being progressed ahead of the Local Plan;
 Support for Botley Bypass would probably have been different if the 

community had been told that the cost would be another 1000 
houses, other developments should make contributions instead;

 Although revised application no longer includes traffic lights on 
railway bridge, the widening of the footpath will prevent two large 
lorries passing and create similar issues to those on Mill Hill which 
are deemed unacceptable;

 If this proposal proceeds, additional noise reduction and safety 
measures should be taken to protect residents close to bridge;

 A footpath over the railway line must be provided instead of 
widening the bridge along with a weight limit through Boorley 
Green.

 
30. A letter of support was received confirming support for the 

amendments, especially the removal of signalization of the railway 
bridge. 

Consultation responses (Summarised)

31. The consultation responses that have been received in relation to this 
application have been summarised below.

Environmental Health Specialist:

32. Air Quality – In terms of mitigating the impact of dust on air quality 
during construction, it is recommended that the applicant submits an 
all-encompassing Construction Environmental Management Plan for 
the development.  

50



33. In terms of operational aspects, agree with the methodology used to 
predict air quality levels.  Information related to air quality mitigation 
measures for receptors R11 and R12 requested.

34. Contaminated Land – Agree with the recommendations contained 
within the Land Contamination section of the Environmental Statement 
and recommend a condition be improved to secure further investigation 
and remediation.

35. Noise – Agree with the requirement for target noise levels for the 
plant/machinery.  As the specification for the plant/machinery is not yet 
available, recommend a condition requiring approval of the proposed 
plant/machinery and acoustic attenuation with supporting reports.

36. The ES also provides details of the predicted noise levels from the 
sports pitches.  It is recommended a condition requiring a more detailed 
assessment prior to the commencement of the residential development 
is imposed.

37. Request additional information is provided in relation to the predicted 
traffic noise levels from the Botley Bypass and the proposed bund.

38. Construction Noise and Dust – The ES does provide some details of 
noise mitigation and dust mitigation measures.  Due to the size of the 
development, it is recommended that a condition requiring an all-
encompassing CEMP be imposed.

39. Lighting – In order to ensure that lighting does not cause any 
disturbance to nearby residents, a lighting scheme condition is 
required. 

40. No additional comments following review of amendments.

Ecology Specialist:

41. Main concern is the loss of existing green infrastructure, particularly the 
removal of a corridor through the site and the missed opportunity to 
extend the hedgerow adjacent to the school site so that it also provides 
a corridor through the site. This goes against one of the scheme’s 
design objectives to retain green corridors.

42. Additional information required to clarify amenity space land to be 
managed for biodiversity purposes; and provision of new hedgerows.

43. The Outline CEMP for Woodhouse Lane provided in Appendix A2 of ES 
Vol 2, is fine and a detailed CEMP as outlined within this report will be 
required as a condition. This should also include details of fencing to be 
erected prior to construction to protect habitats to be retained.

51



44. Ecological Mitigation and Management Plan (EcMMP) will need to be 
conditioned to provide specific mitigation, enhancements, management 
and monitoring of habitats on and off-site. This should also include a 
SINC management plan and the preclusion of light spill from the 
development into habitats.  Details of SuDS used on the site will need 
to be submitted to and approved by the Council prior to construction.

45. The number of outfalls to the stream needs to be minimised. Any loss 
of habitat as a result of drainage works and outfalls will need to be 
quantified and mitigated/ compensated.  Some questions around 
engineering of playing field drainage.

46. There are some good aspects of the proposed SuDS scheme for the 
whole site. However there appear to be too many pipes and tanks 
between the features and finally the water is piped to an outfall at the 
stream. This over engineering is not maximising the biodiversity value 
or sustainability of the system and should be revised.

47. A means of securing off-site land for biodiversity mitigation is required.  

48. Fencing and landscape plans currently show fencing within the 20m 
buffer of the SINC which should be kept free of structures such as 
these. The fence should be moved so it is not within the buffer and 
must not impede the movement of wildlife.

49. Further information has been submitted to respond to these matters 
and revised comments are awaited.  Members will be updated at 
committee.

Tree Services Specialist:

50. Reservations about the proximity of development to the areas of 
woodland, namely Bushy Copse and Bottom Copse remain. I originally 
referred to the Woodland Trust’s comments regarding the position of 
the swales and the walkways through Bushy Copse. Whilst I cannot 
remove my objection, following our meeting on the 13th November 
2018, I understand the requirements and justification for this 
development. 

51. In relation to the school, originally objection raised, broadly based on 
lack of justification for tree removals, the landscape management plan 
and the lack of clarity / errors in the landscape and arboricultural 
documents. 

52. Having reviewed the amended documentation relating to these issue, 
the concerns have been addressed and no objection is raised.

52



Housing Enabling Specialist:

53. This site would be a qualifying site for affordable housing provision and 
in line with our adopted Affordable Housing SPD would need to provide 
35% with the mix broadly reflecting the total housing being provided on 
the site at detailed stage.

54. Due to the Welfare Reform Act it is expected this site would deliver a 
small number of 1 bedroom units and would suggest a total of 10 no. 1 
bedroom affordable units are included within the mix as well as the 
affordable 2 bedroom accommodation which should house 4 persons 
and the 3 bedroom homes a mix of 5 and 6 persons.  This is to ensure 
that the needs of those applicants awaiting housing from the housing 
register are met.  

55. The Council wish to secure 2No 5 bed homes to meet the needs of 
those on the housing register with larger families with at least 7 or 8 
people in the household and be made available for rent.  

56. All the affordable dwellings must be built to Lifetime Homes Standards 
in line with the Affordable Housing SPD and 3% are to be built to 
Wheelchair Accessible Standards.  The affordable units should be 
pepper-potted throughout the development in clusters of no more than 
10-15 units and each phase of development should deliver 35% 
affordable.

Planning Policy Specialist:

57. The application is for a lower number of units than proposed in policy 
HE1, however the policy wording refers to ‘approximately 650 
dwellings’.  As this part of the application is outline only, it is expected 
that the reserved matters will include further detail to justify the 
densities and format of the residential development as set out in the 
Design and Access Statement. In addition the Local Plan (2016-2036) 
identifies the eastern corner of the site as a countryside gap. The 
reserved matters should demonstrate how this area meets the 
requirements in policy S8, “Protection of countryside gaps” and does 
not diminish the gap or have an urbanising effect.  

58. Provided that a community use agreement schedule is in place for the 
new secondary school, Planning Policy supports the principle of 
development as set out in the outline application for the whole site and 
the detailed proposals for the new secondary school.

Economic Development Specialist:

59. No comments received.

53



Health Specialist:

60. No comments received.

Asset Management:

61. No comments received.

Urban and Landscape Design Specialist:

62. Urban Design – no objection in principle.

63. Overall the design of the school is acceptable with the main school 
building comprises an elongated slab design with a well ordered façade 
as a result of the repetition of glazed elements enabling the design to 
have symmetry and horizontal emphasis. Ground floor fenestration will 
help the base of the building relate to the pedestrian scale while overall 
glazing adds interest to elevations.  The use of a limited palette of 
materials will impact its appearance but the light buff will lighten this 
appearance.

64. The flat roof will result in a skyline lacking interest but provides the 
opportunity for the solar array whilst the remainder could be considered 
for a green roof.  

65. The southern façade of the building responds positively to adjoining 
open space.   The northern elevation lacks a degree of legibility as the 
entrance is understated and is not clearly expressed architecturally as 
an arrival point.  In addition, detail of the school piazza would be helpful 
as the Northern elevation faces this important space. 

66. The sports hall to the south is shown as a functional building with flat 
roof and unrelieved walls which does not respond to its context 
including the adjacent SINC native woodland.  The car park does not 
provide for tree planting to the Council’s standard.

67. Landscaping appears rather formal rather than reflecting the more 
naturalistic surrounding environment.

68. In relation to the outline residential proposals, the Masterplan as 
submitted is illustrative and the LPA will need to be clear as to the key 
elements that should be followed through to reserved matters.

69. Accessibility - This site should play a key role in connecting pedestrian 
and cycle infrastructure in the locality to link a number of key local 
destinations, both beyond the site and within it. The master plan could 
be strengthened to show wider pedestrian/cycle connections.

70. Context - Development will deliver a N/E Extension to suburban Hedge 
End Site which is visually self-contained.

54



71. Layout - The SINC woodland, school campus, and other elements of 
green infrastructure provide the broad structure of the site. Within these 
parameters the housing is shown in loose blocks. At reserved matters 
stage more detailed consideration can be given to housing block 
typologies that successfully define, contain and address public space.  
The village square will require further work to ensure the delivery of a 
well-designed, contained and dynamic space.

72. Route Hierarchy - The design principles document provides useful 
street typologies/cross sections which should be followed through to 
reserved matters with more detail provided.

73. Public Art – Suggest monies secured go towards a strategic way-
marking project linked to wider connections, including to Winchester 
Street site and Botley centre.

74. No objection, subject to amendments discussed.

75. Landscape - In relation to the school, specific comments have been 
made on the detailed landscape design, advising on revisions to the 
proposals including the provision of a strong native tree boundary 
planted exterior to the fence line to the western boundary of the playing 
fields.  

76. In regards to the outline scheme, it is important that the parameter 
plans are robust in terms of containing all of the positive principles set 
out in the Design & Access Statement, Design Code and indicated in 
the illustrative masterplan. The landscape strategy should also respond 
to the mitigation identified in the Environmental Statement Vol 2 
Chapter 8 Landscape & Visual. Figure 8.1 Landscape and Ecology 
Plan is missing from the document.

77. The illustrative masterplan and Design and Access Statement 
demonstrate a range of landscape Green Infrastructure (GI) typologies 
that make up the proposed landscape framework and setting for the 
development site. Whilst it is understood that the parameter plan should 
refrain from creating restrictions to future design flexibility and 
innovation at detailed stage, it is equally important that the good 
landscape quality demonstrated in the masterplan is embedded into the 
permission at outline stage in order that the principles and standards 
are followed through.

78. The key on the Landscape Parameter Plan needs to be clear and 
without ambiguity to ensure the principles therein are carried through to 
the detailed design stages.

79. The appearance of the Landscape and Open Space on the Parameter 
Plan gives the impression of it as typical strategic ‘SLOAP’. The 
illustrative Masterplan shows the Landscape and Open Space forming 

55



an inspiring and useful multifunctional GI network for biodiversity and 
amenity. Would like to see more of the principles expressed in the 
illustrative plan embedded within the Parameter Plan.  Breaking down 
the broad category of ‘proposed amenity space’ into typologies could 
assist.

80. The principle of multifunctional GI connectivity is a key design principle 
on this site. The parameter plan highlights where some connectivity has 
been destroyed through removal of existing hedgerows and does not 
demonstrate replacement/mitigation and enhancement of GI 
connectivity. Conversely, the illustrative Masterplan demonstrates 
numerous opportunities for high quality multifunctional connectivity 
across the site. Whilst the Parameter Plan is not intended to replicate 
this kind of detail, key opportunities should be included.

81. Some amendments to the Design Code advised.

82. Further information has been submitted to respond to these matters 
and revised comments are awaited.  Members will be updated at 
committee.

Direct Services Manager:

83. No comments received.

Sports and Recreation Specialist:

84. No comments received.

HCC Archaeologist:

85. No objection, subject to condition.

86. The archaeological evaluation identified only one archaeological site 
that merits mitigation, evidence suggestive of a Roman occupation site 
(probably limited in scale and rural in nature). It is proposed within the 
EIA that the impact on these archaeological remains should be 
mitigated by an archaeological excavation to be agreed in detail with 
the planning authority in due course. This view is endorsed. 

HCC Highways Development:

87. The highway authority has reviewed the details of this application in the 
wider context of both development sites and the delivery of Botley 
Bypass.  This has required a number of transport scenarios to be 
assessed and the highway authority is satisfied with the robustness of 
the assessment.

56



88. The access strategy for the site considers both the ‘with’ and ‘without 
Botley Bypass’ scenarios.  In both scenarios the site is to be served via 
Woodhouse Lane.  

89. In the ‘without bypass’ scenario the site is described as served via two 
priority junctions, with the northern junction having a ghost island right 
turn lane.   

90. The ‘with’ bypass scenario utilises the approved bypass roundabout on 
Woodhouse Lane as the northern access, which requires provision of 
an additional northbound approach on Woodhouse Lane and a fourth 
arm to the west to facilitate site access/egress.  Following the 
submission of the application in July, a stage 1 road safety audit and 
other engineering considerations identified that the design of the 
northern access junction should be amended to include a longer 
segregated left-turn lane from the roundabout’s eastern arm to its 
southern arm, as well as other more minor amendments. The proposals 
for the northern access junction have therefore been amended to reflect 
these findings and considerations.  

91. The southern access is shown as a priority junction with a ghost island 
right turn lane into the site.  Right turn manoeuvres from the site onto 
Woodhouse Lane will be prohibited in this arrangement via a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO), signage and a physical island on Woodhouse 
Lane.  

92. An all-movements junction in this location is preferable to ensure 
permeability; it is however acknowledged that the delay introduced by 
right turners in this location is likely to lead to extensive queuing on the 
access arm.  The roundabout at the northern access will enable those 
seeking to turn right from the southern aspect of the site an opportunity 
to do so by either routing along the internal access road to the 
roundabout or turning left on Woodhouse Lane and performing a U-turn 
at the northern site access roundabout.   A TRO and physical measures 
to restrict the right turn manoeuvre in this location will need to be in 
place prior to occupation of the site.  

93. Whilst it is beneficial to understand how the site would be accessed in 
the absence of phase 1 of Botley bypass, the Highway Authority would 
not support a temporary access arrangement which would essentially 
be abortive work, requiring both access points to be modified upon 
construction of the bypass.  It is therefore considered necessary for the 
access arrangements in the ‘with Bypass scenario’ as set out on 
drawings 251898_CH_01 and 251898_CH_02 to be implemented.  The 
phasing of the works will be subject to a separate construction 
management and phasing plan to be agreed and secured through a 
Section 106 legal agreement.

94. Hedge End village centre is located within 2km of the site, although 
existing pedestrian facilities along Woodhouse Lane require 

57



improvement which will be delivered in connection with the 
development proposal.  The site is bounded by a railway line to the 
north which forms a barrier between the site and the adjacent proposed 
residential development at Boorley Gardens which is the subject of 
planning permission.  

95. The Highway Authority undertook an audit of the sustainable 
infrastructure with the Applicant at the pre-application stage.  This 
identifies a number of deficiencies which require improvement within 
the existing pedestrian/cycle network surrounding the site which need 
to be addressed including signage and stream crossings.   This 
exercise also confirmed that pedestrian facilities from the site, heading 
north along the existing carriageway on Woodhouse Lane/Winchester 
Road require improvement.  

96. The existing railway bridge on Winchester Road on approach to the 
Woodhouse Lane junction currently includes a footway of insufficient 
width to cater for the increased pedestrian/cycle flows generated by the 
development proposal.  An improvement scheme has therefore been 
submitted to enhance facilities.  

97. Following the submission of the application in July, Hampshire County 
Council Childrens Services has reviewed the school place planning 
area for the site. This review has identified that the Primary School 
aged Children likely to be generated from the proposed development 
could be catered for within the existing Berrywood Primary School. The 
change in catchment school for the primary aged children (subject to a 
future admissions consultation process) will no longer require the 
children and their parents to use the Winchester Road Railway bridge 
to travel to and from school. This reduction in peak time two-way 
pedestrian and cyclist flows over the bridge has informed the re-
assessment of the proposed highway arrangements over the bridge.  

98. Following consultation and feedback on the original proposals, an 
alternative scheme has been developed, which results in less disruption 
to traffic flows, while still improving pedestrian and cycle provision 
across the bridge.  The revised proposal retains two-way vehicular 
flows and provides a footway/cycleway of 2.4-2.5m.  This meets the 
minimum width of 2.0m for a cycleway, as specified in Manual for 
Streets.  The revised proposal includes a signalised pedestrian 
crossing of Winchester Road, North of Crows Nest Lane.  

99. It is also proposed to include an underpass on the southern arm of the 
northern access roundabout on Woodhouse Lane in order to facilitate a 
traffic free crossing point.  This will enable pedestrians and cyclists to 
cross Woodhouse Lane safely which will provide a link to the proposed 
secondary school from Botley.  A bridleway also runs through the site 
which provides a useful connection to the existing residential areas of 
Hedge End.  

58



100. It is estimated that 134 pupils will travel alone by car to Deer Park 
school with a further 22 pupils expected to car share.  Assumptions 
have then been made regarding the quantum of pupils anticipated to 
arrive within the busiest 15 minutes of the peak period and discounts 
applied for those attending before/after school clubs.  The resultant 
drop off requirements are forecast to require 65 drop off spaces during 
the morning peak period and 99 pick up spaces at the end of the school 
day.  These assumptions appear credible and it is accepted that whilst 
important to ensure adequate provision is required to deter parking in 
inappropriate locations, over provision may in turn make single use car 
journeys appealing and compromise the sought modal split.

101. The application seeks detailed consent for the primary loop road which 
will serve the proposed secondary school and provide a link between 
the access points on Woodhouse Lane.  This loop road has been 
designed to an adoptable standard and will cater for bus services and 
includes bus laybys.  The carriageway is to be 6.5m width with a 2.5m 
footway/cycleway adjacent to the west and 2m footway on the east. 

102. The internal layout of the site is indicative only at this stage and set out 
on the illustrative masterplan.  This does include an area of 
safeguarded land which could potentially facilitate a pedestrian bridge 
over the railway line in the future, subject to the land to the north being 
available and other constraints being addressed.  

103. The site is currently served via bus stop provision on Winchester Road, 
in close proximity to the Woodhouse Lane junction.  The existing 
provision is made up of an hourly service to Southampton via the 
Bluestar 3 which currently serves Boorley Green and a half hourly 
service via the First 8.  Hourly services to Eastleigh are also currently 
available via the X9.  

104. It is acknowledged that the bus service provision in this vicinity is 
evolving, with commitments to improved routeing and services to 
Hedge End village centre secured under planning permissions for 
Boorley Green/Boorley Gardens.  In addition, the bus enhancements 
secured as part of the North Whiteley development also has the 
potential to provide enhancements within the area.  

105. The site would benefit from improved services, with increased 
frequency, and the highway authority would support a level of service 
as secured in connection with nearby committed development sites.

106. In terms of rail provision, the site is located within 2km of Hedge End 
railway station and a walking route is available via the bridleway and 
the existing pedestrian/cycle routes within Hedge End.  The station 
provides an hourly service between Portsmouth and London Waterloo, 
also stopping at Eastleigh which provides a connection to 
Southampton.

59



107. In order to establish the likely residential trip generation of the 
development proposal, an average of the approved trip rates 
associated with the developments at Horton Heath, Boorley Gardens 
and North West Boorley Green has been derived.  This was compared 
with a standard methodology of utilising the most recent version of the 
TRICS database.  This exercise determined that utilising the rates 
extracted from the approved transport assessment is robust.  

108. The resultant forecast residential trip rate is 0.56 during the AM peak 
period and 0.58 during the PM peak period.  This equates to 339 
residential trips during the morning peak hour and 352 trips during the 
evening peak period.  

109. Information relating to the total pupil numbers anticipated to attend the 
seven form entry school at full occupancy has been established from 
the County Council.  A forecast of the potential geographical catchment 
of these pupils, including those from committed development sites has 
also been provided in order to inform the trip generation assumptions.  
Data has been provided by the County Council’s school travel planning 
team to establish the existing mode share data of existing secondary 
schools in this vicinity.  The resultant forecast model split is considered 
ambitious but achievable provided that good quality pedestrian/cycle 
infrastructure is in place and the school is supported by a robust travel 
plan.  The resultant forecast trip rate data suggests that the proposed 
secondary school will generate 366 two way trips during the morning 
peak period and 80 two way trips during the evening peak period which 
includes trips generated by staff.  

110. A comparison exercise has been undertaken utilising the vehicle trips 
forecast for staff and pupils extracted from the TRICS database.  The 
resultant outputs confirm similar figures with 6 more trips forecast in the 
AM peak and 20 less trips during the PM peak period.  The trip rates 
derived from the first principles approach are acceptable given they are 
derived from data collected in the local vicinity.  

111. The trips associated with the residential element of the proposed 
development have been distributed upon the highway network utilising 
the sub Regional Transport Model (SRTM) and strategic modelling has 
been carried out to establish where the significant impacts are forecast 
to occur and where these junctions require further assessment.  Staff 
trips associated with the proposed school have been distributed using 
Journey To work data from Census 2011.  The highway authority is 
satisfied with the scope of junction modelling identified as a result of 
this assessment.

112. Junction 7 and Junction 8 of the M27 are junctions managed by 
Highway’s England who will be responding directly on these.  The 
highway authority therefore has not reviewed these two junctions.

60



113. A single delivery strategy has been developed setting out how the 
various infrastructure requirements will be delivered alongside the 
phasing of the development.  This provides the strategy for both of the 
development sites and the Botley Bypass. 

114. The Transport Assessment has provided the basis for agreeing 
appropriate mitigation.  These are as follows:

Highway works
 Phase 1A and 1B Botley Bypass and development infrastructure works 

as shown on drawing EC/RJ506116/130/E and associated detailed 
plans;

 In the event of a ‘without bypass’ scenario, a contribution towards 
interim improvements at the following locations:

 Homesland Lane/A334 Mill Lane junction
 A334 Station Road/B3035 Botley Road junction

Walking and cycling measures
 Delivery of the walking and cycling measures as set out in the 

recommendations section of the Walking and Cycling Review (dated 8 
June 2018), including improvements to the walking route from the site 
to Berrywood Primary School.

Public Transport
 A service level agreement to be secured setting out agreed routes and 

frequency of bus services to serve the site.  Agreement to provide 
sufficient flexibility to tailor services around demand during build out of 
the development.

Travel Plan
 A framework travel plan is to be secured for the site setting out clear 

aims and objectives for promoting modal choice and a costed action 
plan through which to achieve this.  The framework travel plan, 
together with an appropriate bond and approval and monitoring fees 
should be secured within the Section 106 Agreement.

Construction/Phasing
 An outline Construction Environmental Management Plan has been 

submitted in support of the application.  It is noted that a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan detailing construction vehicle routeing will be 
submitted in advanced of the first phase of works.  This should be 
secured through the S106 Agreement.

 In addition, a more detailed construction management plan has been 
submitted for the secondary school development.  This provides 
satisfactory information on construction traffic routeing (from the M27 
and avoiding Botley village centre) together with details of on-site 
parking provision for construction personnel.  In addition, the 
construction management plan should ensure that measures are in 
place to prevent mud from being deposited onto the highway.  

61



115. Alongside site specific mitigation as set out in this response, the 
proposals would contribute towards the delivery of Botley Bypass which 
is a significant local strategic highway scheme and a delivery priority for 
the highway authority.

116. Subject to a Section 106 agreement to secure the matters identified in 
the detailed comments provided, and a planning condition requiring 
submission of internal road details at reserved matters, the highway 
authority raises no highway objections to this application.

HCC Children Services (Education):

117. No objection, subject to securing financial contributions towards the 
future expansion of Deer Park Secondary School in order to mitigate 
the impact of the development on educational infrastructure and ensure 
that sufficient school places are provided to accommodate the 
additional children expected to be generated by the development, 
including SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability) provision.

HCC Minerals and Waste:

118. No comments received.

HCC Local Lead Flood Authority:

119. Additional information required in relation to calculating flow rates from 
site and ensuring pipes do not become blocked where serving surface 
water drainage.

120. It is important to ensure that the long-term maintenance and 
responsibility for SuDS is agreed before planning permission is granted.

121. Further information has been submitted and revised comments are 
awaited.  Members will be updated at committee.

HCC Countryside Access:

122. No objection, subject to securing amendments/obligations.

123. Pedestrian Cycle Underpass – welcome the provision of this which will 
provide appropriate crossing of the Botley Bypass supporting use of 
sustainable transport modes and providing safe routes to school.

124. Hedge End Bridleway 6c – The submitted delivery strategy outlines that 
the proposals include the stopping-up of the majority of this public right 
of way to facilitate the construction of an estate road and Secondary 
School.  Permissive bridleway access is proposed to be provided 
throughout the development and the creation of a new permanent 
bridleway is proposed to the north of the application site.  The proposal 

62



is to bring forward full details at a later date in line with the associated 
landscape strategy for that phase which is acceptable.  However, as 
issues related to ‘access’ are not reserved within this application, it is 
requested that the permissive and permanent bridleway provision is 
formally secured by legal agreement to ensure that public access is 
maintained throughout the development.

125. The proposed route of the new bridleway links to a public footpath and 
proposed pedestrian cycle route.  Bridleway rights will need to be 
provided to the nearest highway of the same or higher status.

126. Crossing on Woodhouse Lane is staggered and the proposed refuge 
appears to consist of hatching on the road surface.  It is advised that 
the crossing is moved to the location where the bridleway crosses the 
road and that an island is provided.

127. Botley Bridleway 6/ Ecological Mitigation Works – the proposed area of 
landscape mitigation within the middle site will provide an attractive 
area for local residents as well as providing habitat for wildlife, which 
will likely cause increased use of this bridleway.  Increased use of the 
public right of way is likely to necessitate surface improvements.

128. Footpath Cycle Link Within the Site – indicated to be detailed within the 
proposals for the final residential phases which should be permanent 
and permissive footpath and cycle access secured by legal agreement.

129. Berrywood Meadows – support its improvements as part of the safer 
routes to school assessment and recommend is dedicated as a 
bridleway and improvements are secured by legal agreement.

130. Playing Field Footpath and SINC Crossing – the new footpath link 
across the public land from the south-west of the site and pedestrian 
route across the SINC should be secured by legal agreement. 

131. Additional information has been provided and revised comments are 
awaited. Members will be updated at committee.

HCC Planning and Development:

132. No comments received.

HCC Estates:

133. No comments received.

Hedge End Town Council:

134. No objection, however would like to comment that the fields earmarked 
for development are the last real gap between Hedge End, Botley and 

63



Boorley Green.  Should they disappear then these will cease to be 
distinct areas and will merge into one huge suburb.

135. It is to be noted that the footpaths are very well used by existing 
residents.  The current local infrastructure needs to cope with the 
additional residents and the correct infrastructure needs to be in place.  
The impact from additional residents on the provision of doctor’s 
surgeries needs to be considered, especially in light of the present local 
GP situation when one surgery is already placed in ‘special measures’.  
It should be remembered that the land in question does flood.  

136. The Town Council supports Eastleigh Borough Council’s plan for 
housing expansion and the need for a secondary school in the area.  
The Town Council would highlight the point that the area in question is 
very well used by the local community as green space and is frequently 
used by dog walkers, family and community groups.  The loss of 
valuable environmental habitat to the community is detrimental to the 
local area and creates a deficit but this needs to be balanced with the 
need for future-proofing educational needs and school provision.

137. No further comments have been provided in relation to the amended 
proposals.

Botley Parish Council:

138. Updated comments in relation to the revised proposals:

139. The removal of the proposal to install traffic lights on the Winchester 
Street railway bridge is welcomed.  Traffic signage to warn advancing 
traffic of the restricted width across the bridge is requested.

140. Members welcomed the inclusion of a signalised pedestrian crossing 
on the southern end of Winchester Road. However it was also noted 
that there is no footpath or pavement on sections of the east side of 
Winchester Road between the entrance to Boorley Park and Pear Tree 
pub which could be dangerous for children walking from the northern 
end of the new development when attending the secondary school off 
Woodhouse Lane.

141. The committee requested consideration of an extension of the 7.5 ton 
weight limit, which currently applies to Winchester Street, northwards to 
the Denhams Corner roundabout. 

142. The committee welcomed the proposal that primary school aged 
children living within the Woodhouse Lane development should attend 
the nearby Berrywood Primary School rather than the Boorley Park 
Primary School as originally proposed. It was felt that the reduction in 
travelling distance for the parents and children was a sensible decision.

64



143. The inclusion of a new public footpath through the new Bottom Copse 
SINC buffer would be a welcome addition to local walking routes.

144. The following comments in relation to the original proposal remain:

145. This development, in combination with the development at Uplands 
Farm, will remove a significant area of separation between the 
settlements of Hedge End, Botley and Boorley Green.

146. Members and residents are concerned about the pressure on local 
medical services caused by the volume of housing development 
proposed.  Proposals for additional medical provision before the 
developments get underway would be desirable. 

147. The Parish Council welcomes the provision of a new secondary school 
and additional community facilities.

Botley Parish Action Group:

148. Object to this application and the associated Winchester Street 
application being decided before the Local Plan has been reviewed.  

149. Boorley Green and Botley are already taking a more than reasonable 
amount of necessary development in the Borough.  This will more than 
double the size of the Parish, where infrastructure is already under 
considerable strain and does not have the ability to expand to support 
such massive development.

150. The Hedge End North development granted by the Secretary of State 
was opposed by the Council and was not in the original plan for the 
area.  Therefore this number should have been deducted from other 
proposals for Botley.  Instead, another large development is being 
added and included in the emerging Local Plan.

151. Understand the need to move forward with the secondary school but 
consider it unacceptable to progress with housing before the Local Plan 
is tested.

152. The development will effectively close the gap between the 
communities of Boorley Green and Hedge End and virtually all the 
green open land around Boorley Green will be lost.  The remaining 
fields on the Curdridge side of the village are now also under threat 
from aggressive developers.  This is contradictory to Strategic Policy 
S8 in the emerging Local Plan.

153. Existing residents feel their well-being is no longer of importance and 
any objections are being ignored.  Note that Hedge End residents are 
complaining of the loss of virtually the only open area for walking and 
recreation and fully support their objection.

65



154. Request decision is deferred until the Local Plan has been pronounced 
sound by the Government Inspector.

155. Pleased and relieved to note that previous proposals for traffic lights at 
the railway bridge have been dropped.  However question if two large 
vehicles can pass if footway widened to 2.4m.  Consider the only 
sustainable solution is to erection a footbridge over the railway line as 
previously suggested.

156. Request that the vehicle weight limit already in place on Winchester 
Street should be extended along Winchester Rd to Denhams Corner 
roundabout.

157. Residents in Kestrel Close, where the housing is below the level of the 
road are complaining of notably increased noise from growing number 
of vehicle movements.  Also concerns regarding increased risk of 
accidents due to large increase in vehicle movements and congestion 
at the bridge.  Request consideration be given to erection of sound and 
safety barriers by the bridge. 

Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Council:

158. No comments received.

Berrywood Primary School:

159. No comments received. 

Wildern School:

160. No comments received. 

Fisher German (pipelines):

161. Esso Petroleum Co Ltd, as client, has no objection, subject to 
adherence with the requirements within the ‘Special Requirements for 
Safe Working’ booklet and the covenants contained in the Deed of 
Grant.

Scotia Gas Networks: 

162. There are high pressure pipelines in the vicinity of the proposed work 
area.  SGN formally object to this planning application until such time 
as a detail consultation has taken place.

163. Additional information has been provided to SGN and comments are 
awaited.  Members will be updated at committee.

66



Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks:

164. Conditional support, subject to:

- Consent being based on parameter plan and not an illustrative 
masterplan;

- The northern buffer within the site is required for planning purposes to 
accommodate POS, a diverted bridleway, a visual landscape gap, 
important hedgerow, a noise buffer and ecological and other 
requirements;

- The northern buffer is protected in perpetuity through a S106 
agreement and planning condition.

165. SEPD (Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks) owns electricity 
distribution apparatus on the application site comprising a 132kV line 
on steel lattice towers and an 11kV line on wooden poles.  Electricity 
distribution apparatus can only be diverted by SEPD and only SEPD 
can provide diversion assurances to a local planning authority.  

166. SEPD notes that its 11kV line is assumed absent from the site.  This 
has not been agreed with SEPD.  It is assumed that the applicant 
chooses to divert, re-route or underground this line at his own full cost 
and risk, rather than accommodating the line within the layout.  On that 
basis, and subject to concluding the necessary technical and 
commercial agreements, and assuming the satisfaction of the regulator 
and that the applicant can secure any other concerns and third party 
agreements, SEPD does not object in planning terms to this proposal 
for the 11kV line.

National Grid Plant Protection:

167. No comments received.

Southampton Airport Safeguarding:

168. The bird hazard management plan for the school building does not 
conflict with safeguarding criteria and therefore we have no objection to 
this proposal.

169. There remains a requirement for a Bird Hazard Management Plan for 
the SUDs system therefore an aerodrome safeguarding condition will 
need to be secured.

170. Given the nature of the development, it is possible a crane will be 
required during construction.  The applicant’s attention is drawn to the 
British Standard ‘Code of practice for safe use of cranes’ in relation to 
building in close proximity to an aerodrome.

67



Eastleigh Ramblers Association:

171. The consultation response raised some questions around the position 
of proposed rights of way as shown on the Connections Plan.  
Information was provided as to the current status of paths and work 
undertaken by the Botley to Bishop’s Waltham Bridleway Working 
Group.

172. The response concludes, ‘if the network shown on the Connections 
Plan comes to fruition and is adopted and shown on the Definitive Map 
(which needs to be brought up to date in this area) to their full extent 
then all movements and recreational needs will be met. The issues will 
be around the timescale for delivery, the need to ensure that the 
proposals are not ignored and made less attractive at the reserved 
matters stage and very importantly how recreation use of the same 
areas continues whilst development takes place so that existing 
residents and those that arrive have somewhere to go as they will be a 
long way from what might be called the countryside rights of way 
network.’

Environment Agency:

173. No objection, subject to condition.

174. The application suggests that the school will be served by a sewage 
treatment plant prior to the foul sewer line being built.  Discussions will 
need to be had with the Environment Agency for the application for an 
environmental permit for this discharge.

175. The application shows that discussions have been had with Southern 
Water in regards of connecting to the new foul sewer line. Current 
discussions have shown that the new line will have capacity, however it 
is noted that other developments in the area may reduce the capacity in 
the network.  Confirmation will be needed from Southern Water that 
they can cope with additional flows.

176. The Environment Agency would need confirmation that the new 
developments would not be inhabited until the foul sewer line is 
installed and connected to.  Discussions would need to be had with 
Southern Water during process to ensure that the pumping stations are 
built to Southern Water requirements to ensure a smooth adoption 
process.

177. There is an Environment Agency owned and controlled structure (an 
embankment and hydrobrake flow restrictor) located on the 
Shamblehurst Stream.  Discussions are ongoing in relation to a permit 
for the proposed walkway/bridge from the school that runs adjacent to 
the structure and also about the future management and maintenance 
of it.

68



178. No further comments have been received in response to the amended 
proposals.

Natural England:

179. No objection, subject to appropriate mitigation being secured.

180. In order to mitigate the identified adverse effects, a Construction and 
Environment Management Plan should be approved by the LPA.  The 
Council have recently adopted a Supplementary Planning Document to 
mitigate against the adverse effects from recreational disturbance on 
the Solent SPA, as agreed by the Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Partnership.  Provided the applicant complies with the SPD or  policy, 
Natural England are satisfied that the applicant has mitigated against 
the potential adverse effects on the integrity of the SPA and has no 
objection to this aspect of the application.

181. As the competent authority the LPA will need to demonstrate that the 
requirements of Regulations 63 and 64 of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 have been considered.

182. The supporting documentation outlines a comprehensive network of 
SuDS features, providing a 3-stage naturalised filtration that will treat 
and attenuate the water.  Provided these measures are secured, 
Natural England has no concerns over this aspect of the development.

183. With regards to foul drainage, it is noted that a Package Treatment Plan 
is proposed to serve the secondary school prior to any connection to a 
public mains sewer.  The proposals currently outline that the treated 
foul water will then discharge to the adjacent water course within the 
SINC, which drains into the Solent Maritime SAC and Solent and 
Southampton Water SPA.  

184. There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in 
the water environment with evidence of eutrophication at these 
designated sites.  An Integrated Water Management Study for South 
Hampshire has identified that there is uncertainty whether housing 
development in the later stages of the plan period would require 
mitigation.  In light of this uncertainty, Natural England advises that a 
nutrient budget is calculated for this development and recommends that 
the proposal achieve nutrient neutrality.

185. Natural England strongly recommends that all new development adopt 
the higher standard of water efficiency under Building Regulations and 
re-use in line with best practice.

186. With regards to Bottom Copse/Bushy Copse SINC, without adequate 
mitigation, this development is likely to incur adverse effects upon the 
semi-natural woodland within the SINC.  The LPA must ensure the 
proposal meets the requirements of Natural England’s standing advice 

69



on ancient woodland and the additional requirements for biodiversity 
enhancement and net gain as set out in the revised NPPF.

187. The supporting Environmental Statement assesses impacts on the 
SINC and sets out mitigation to address identified effects, which Natural 
England welcomes.  Natural England also welcomes the proposed 10-
year management plan for the SINC, however there are concerns the 
SINC will deteriorate following the 10 year period.  It is advised, 
therefore, that appropriate management of the whole SINC should be 
secured for the operational lifetime of the proposals, or in perpetuity 
(normally 80 years).  It should also be ensured any trees lost are 
compensated for.

188. It is recommended as phases come through at detailed design stage, 
further opportunity is sought to enhance biodiversity as part of the 
development.     

189. Additional information has been submitted and comments are awaited.  
An update will be provided to Members at committee.

Network Rail:

190. No comments received. 

Highways England:

191. In the case of this development proposal, Highway England’s interest is 
in the M27 and in particular the M27 Junctions 7 and 8.

192. Additional information is requested in order to enable a thorough review 
of the predicted impact of the proposed development, including the 
cumulative impact of the development with the Land to the North and 
East of Winchester Street application on the M27 junctions 7 and 8 and 
provide a formal response.

193. Additional information has been provided and revised comments are 
awaited.  Members will be updated at committee.

Sport England:

194. Main concerns relate to:
- No guarantee that any of the school sports facilities will be available for 

community use given the independent status of the academy;
- Unclear whether the sports hall meets Sport England guidance, in 

terms of size and spec, which will impact accessibility to wider 
community;

- Lack of specialist sports turf agronomist assessment of ground 
conditions for land to be designated as sports pitches.  Strongly 
recommend assessment to inform scheme for preparation of the 
playing field land;

70



- Uneven and sloping nature of the sports pitch land.  Recommend 
levelling works;

- No detail on design, spec and layout of MUGA and how it complies 
with Sport England requirements.

195. Sport England would normally expect sports contributions for off-site 
facilities for a site of this size. EBC has a recently updated Playing 
Pitches Strategy and Built Facilities Strategy assessment and would 
expect reference to this to demonstrate how the site can help address 
identified needs.

196. Conclusion – Sport England has concerns that the proposed approach 
does not offer any security and/or certainty around how the new 
community’s sports needs will be met. Consider there is a real risk that 
the increased demand created by the new development will not be met 
locally and will exacerbate the deficiencies at other existing facilities.  
Raise a number of design and technical issues that require more 
information to be submitted.  Sport England would welcome further 
discussion.  Currently object on failure to meet Sport England Objective 
3 – to provide new facilities to meet demand.

197. Discussions are continuing with Sport England and additional 
information has been provided.  Members will be updated at committee.

Marine Management Organisation:

198. No comments received.

Clinical Commissioning Group:

199. The CCG concludes the level of additional demand placed on NHS 
services, related to this development, will warrant the commissioning of 
either:

 Additional capacity within existing GP surgery premises, or,
 Where it proves not practical to expand existing GP surgery premises, 

the development of a new GP surgery to replace existing surgeries that 
reach capacity in terms of numbers of patients.

200. In support of this, the CCG requests that the applicant makes either:
 An appropriate financial contribution towards the capital investment 

that the CCG will make to develop additional capacity within existing 
GP surgery premises; or

 The gift of a parcel of land within the development suitable for the 
development of a new GP surgery to replace existing surgeries that 
reach capacity.  

Hedge End Medical Centre:

201. No comments received. 

71



St Luke’s Surgery:

202. No comments received. 

Hampshire Fire and Rescue:

203. No comments received.

Southern Water:

204. No objection, subject to conditions.  

205. The exact position of the public 15 inch water trunk main must be 
determined on site and no development to be within 6 metres of either 
side of the mai without consent.  The final layout shall maintain and 
respect Southern Water’s rights with regards to the ownership of the 
land located within the site boundaries.

206. Based on a desk study of the impact that the additional foul sewerage 
flows from the proposed development there is an increased risk of 
flooding unless any required network reinforcement is provided by 
Southern Water in conjunction with the developer.  

207. Southern Water can provide a water supply to the site.  Southern Water 
requires a formal application for connection and on-site mains to be 
made by the applicant or developer.

208. No further comments in relation to the amendments.

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust:

209. No comments received.

Crime Prevention Officer:

210. No comments received.

BT Openreach:

211. No comments received.

Health and Safety Executive:

212. Do not advise against the granting of planning permission in this case.

Hampshire Chamber of Commerce:

213. No comments received.

72



Hampshire Gardens Trust:

214. No comments received.

The Woodland Trust:

215. Objection on the grounds of potential disturbance and deterioration to 
Bushy/Bottom Copse, designated as Ancient Semi-Natural Woodland 
through an intensification of recreational activities; and the impacts of 
noise, dust and light pollution during both construction and operational 
phases of development.   

216. Habitats vulnerable to outside influences affecting the wood’s stable 
conditions; fragmentation of semi-natural habitats within close proximity 
of woodland; and removal of a significant number of mature and/or high 
grade trees to facilitate several aspects of the development.

217. The Trust is concerned about the inclusion of swales within the buffer 
as these features may change the hydrology of the woodland.  

218. Additionally, while the Trust encourages use of ancient woodland, there 
are concerns regarding the construction of the proposed walkways due 
to the direct loss of ancient woodland soils to construct.  Ask that the 
applicant consider the inclusion of pathways that will not result in the 
loss of an irreplaceable habitat.

219. The Trust requests that a minimum of a 50m buffer is provided between 
the development and the ancient woodland and should comprise a 
semi-natural habitat strip made up of at least 50% tree cover, planting 
this area if necessary.  

220. No further comments received in relation to the amended proposals.

The Forestry Commission:

221. The Forestry Commission has prepared joint standing advice with 
Natural England on ancient woodland and veteran trees which should 
provide the necessary advice to support the decision-making process.

Eastleigh Disability Forum:

222. No comments received.

British Horse Society:

223. Object to the diversion of the route and impact on safety of equestrians. 

224. Railway line - the BHS is concerned about the safety of horses and 
riders being in close proximity of the railway line with the diverted route 
needing to be at least 50m from the boundary of the railway itself. We 

73



note the route is as far away as the proposed development allows, but 
we require your confirmation that the distance is a minimum of 50m 
from Network Rail’s boundary.

225. Road Safety - can you please confirm what plans are in place to ensure 
that horse riders can safely cross the road that runs through the estate 
that will now bi-sect the bridleway? The current bridleway is continuous 
and therefore we seek EBC’s assurances that horse riders, as 
legitimate vulnerable road users, are treated on equal terms to those of 
walkers and cyclists. There was nothing in the original consultation that 
addressed the estate road issue.

226. Width and surface of diverted bridleway - The surface should not be 
tarmac and both the surface and width of the route should be compliant 
with HCC Countryside Service minimum specifications and also the 
recommendations of the BHS.

227. Diverted route - The diverted bridleway should be established before 
the original bridleway is closed as per the recommendations of the 
Hampshire Countryside Access Forum. 

228. Signage - Signage to be erected to indicate that the route is open to 
horse riders so people are aware that equestrians have the right to use 
it. Also signage at each end of the bridleway warning horse riders about 
the frequency of trains.

229. Woodhouse Lane Horse crossing - As part of the development and the 
Botley Relief Road the planners stated that a horse crossing would be 
put in place where the bridleway joins Woodhouse Lane. Please 
confirm that this crossing is included in the plans and are compliant with 
Hampshire Countryside Service specifications and the BHS 
recommendations and will be completed as part of the diversion of the 
bridleway.

230. In the original letter of the 14th August from the BHS, we requested 
whether it would be possible for horse riders to be able to use the 
proposed underpass as an alternative route to crossing the relief road. 
This would enable equestrians to access the proposed Botley to 
Bishops Waltham multi-user route that will commence east of 
Woodhouse Lane. 

231. Original Response:

232. The Society would like to express its disappointment at the potential 
loss of valuable green space between urban communities that provide 
local people with a rural environment in which to enjoy their leisure 
activities.

74



233. Proposed bridleway diversion route - Care has been taken in the design 
of the bridleway to make it attractive in that it meanders through trees 
and green space providing a route of interest for all users.

234. Safety - Safety has to be of paramount importance to this particular 
proposed bridleway diversion. Therefore, EBC and HCC should take 
into consideration every safety aspect to ensure the mitigation of 
hazards and that the diversion does not become instrumental in 
preventing a horse rider using the route through fear of incurring an 
incident such as their horse being frightened by a train.  

235. Shared use - Walkers, cyclists and horse riders happily share 
bridleways providing there is sufficient width and a suitable surface, but 
if there is space to provide separate routes without detracting from the 
design or routing horse riders closer than 50m to the boundary hedging 
of the railway then this would be welcomed as it will provide an 
opportunity to have the suitable surfaces for different user groups.  

236. Widths - The Society encourages Order Making Authorities to adopt a 
recommended standard of 5 meters width for diverted bridleways.  The 
BHS will usually object to bridleway diversion proposals where the 
width of the replacement bridleway is less than four meters unless 
exceptional circumstances apply.  

237. Road crossing - The proposed diversion will take the bridleway across 
an estate road.  It is unclear as to how many motor vehicles are 
expected to use this road and what precautions will be put in place to 
ensure the crossing is safe for horse riders.  

238. Fencing and gates - The BHS understands that there is no intention to 
install gates or erect fencing except where horse corals are to be 
located either side of Woodhouse Lane where the bridleway intersects 
the main road.

239. Construction sites - The BHS would ask that the safety guidance 
provided in the BHS leaflet regarding bridleways within construction 
sites is included as part of the requirements made of developers’ during 
the construction period.  It provides useful information about temporary 
fencing, hazards such as overhead cables, and how and why horses 
react to sudden noise, etc.

240. Completion of bridleway diversion – It is understood that Hampshire 
Countryside Services will be seeking to ensure that the bridleway 
diversion will be complete before the commencement of building work.  
The BHS would also seek assurance that this will happen and that the 
bridleway remains open for use.

241. Additional information has been provided and comments are awaited.  
Members will be updated at committee.

75



Byways and Bridleways Trust:

242. No comments received.

Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) Hampshire:

243. No comments received.

Solent Local Enterprise Partnership:

244. No comments received.

Go South Coast Bus Operator:

245. Recommend permission is granted, subject to securing developer 
contributions towards extending the current Bluestar 3 service to 
Woodhouse Lane for a period of 7 years; provision of a travel pack to 
all dwellings; carriage widths used by buses to be a minimum 6.5m; 
and provision of a high quality bus stop.

Policy context:  designation applicable to site

 Local Gap;
 Countryside;
 SINC;
 Ancient Woodland;
 Bridleway/Public Right of Way (PRoW);
 Proposed Bridleway/cycleway extension;
 Proposed public open space;
 Safeguarded land for Botley Bypass.

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan 
Policies

The Development Plan

246. At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).

Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review (EBLP 2001-2011) 

247. The key policies of the adopted local plan are: 

 1.CO – Protection of countryside;
 3.CO – Protection of local gap as identified on the proposals map;
 18.CO – Protection of the character of the landscape;
 22.NC – Protection of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;

76



 23.NC – Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SINCs);

 25.NC – Promotion of biodiversity;
 28.ES – Provision for storage and collection of domestic waste and 

recyclables;
 32.ES – Control of uses that generate air, land or water pollution; 
 33.ES – Requirement for air quality assessment;
 34.ES – Energy efficiencies;
 36.ES – Provision of well-designed lighting;
 37.ES – Sustainable design;
 41.ES – Protection of water courses;
 43.ES – Development in flood risk areas; 
 45.ES – Sustainable drainage requirements;
 59.BE – General design criteria;
 60.BE – Development along major road and rail corridors;
 62.BE – Accessible design;
 63.BE – Car park design;
 64.BE – Design response to overhead electricity transmission lines;
 66.BE – Communications technology requirements;
 71.H – Encourage mixed use developments;
 72.H – Development density;
 73.H – Housing mix;
 74.H – Affordable housing;
 75.H – Efficient use of land;
 91.T – Safeguarding land for (amongst other routes) Botley Bypass;
 100.T – Transport requirements;
 102.T – Provision of safe access;
 103.T – Provision of Travel Plans;
 104.T – Parking requirements;
 147.OS – Open Space provision;
 149.OS – New and enhanced playing fields;
 152.OS – Extensions to cycle/pedestrian links;
 153.OS – Provision of new bridleways;
 168.LB – Archaeological potential;
 190.IN – Provision of public utilities and infrastructure;
 191.IN – Provision of infrastructure made necessary by the 

development.

Specific to the site:

 150.OS – Provision of additional public open space to the east of 
Berrywood Primary School, Hedge End.

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029

248. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  

77



While this has not been withdrawn and remains a material 
consideration, it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited 
weight in the determination of this application.

Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036

249. The Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st 
October 2018 and the Council is awaiting confirmation of the date for 
examination.  The adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in late 
Summer 2019.  Given the status of the emerging Plan, it is considered 
that limited weight can be attributed to it as a whole.

250. This site is recognised as having potential as a housing development 
site in the emerging Local Plan, having been assessed within the 
Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA). A draft policy is 
contained within the emerging Local Plan which supports the delivery of 
a secondary school, sports facilities, public open space, local centre 
and approximately 650 dwellings (Draft Policy HE1).  A number of 
criteria are contained in this policy which this application is assessed 
against.

251. In view of this policy being in draft form and therefore still to be 
considered by the appointed Planning Inspector as part of the Local 
Plan examination, it is necessary to consider what weight can be 
afforded it taking account of the representations that have been made 
as part of the Local Plan consultation process.

252. From the information available at the time of writing this report, 11 
representations were made to the policy, 3 in support, 2 neutral, and 7 
opposing.  Of the objections, all matters that were raised have also 
been raised following the consultation on this planning application.

253. In light of the small number and nature of representations received, it is 
considered moderate weight can be afforded to the draft policy. 

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 

254. The application site lies partially within a Minerals Safeguarding Area, 
to which Policy 15 ‘Safeguarding – mineral resources’ applies. This 
policy seeks to protect potentially economically viable mineral resource 
deposits from needless and unnecessary sterilisation.

Supplementary Planning Guidance

255. Relevant documents are:

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 
2011)

 Supplementary Planning Document : Biodiversity (December 
2009)

78



 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 
Development (March 2009) (Updated March 2015)

 Supplementary Planning Document: Parking Standards (January 
2009)

 Supplementary Planning Document: Affordable Housing (July 
2009) (Updated March 2016)

 Supplementary Planning Document: Housing Mix (February 2003)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 

2008); 
 Planning Obligations 2010 Update. 

Other Relevant Documents

 Public Art Strategy;
 Biodiversity Action Plan for Eastleigh Borough 2012-22.

National Planning Policy Framework 2018

256. At national level, The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ 
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in 
the determination of planning applications. At national level, The 
National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) is 
a material consideration of significant weight in the determination of 
planning applications. The National Planning Policy Framework (the 
‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by statute) 
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. There is a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and (unless material considerations indicate otherwise). 
Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: economic 
(supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social (providing 
housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances 
should also be taken into account, so they respond to the different 
opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.

257. Core planning principles include;
 always seeking to secure high quality design and a good standard 

of amenity and open space
 contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

and reducing pollution
 protecting biodiversity, hydrology and areas of flood risk

258. LPAs should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning 
obligations.

79



National Planning Practice Guidance 

259. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 
consideration of planning applications.

Assessment of proposal: Development plan and / or legislative 
background

260. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a 
local planning authority determining an application to do so in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.

261. As indicated above the Development Plan comprises the Saved 
Policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013; the NPPF and the Planning 
Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant 
weight.

Prematurity

262. The concept of prematurity in planning is the predetermination of plan-
making choices by the grant of planning permission.  This matter has 
been raised as the emerging Local Plan contains the Council’s draft 
policies for delivery of housing (of which this site is part) that have yet 
to be considered by a Planning Inspector at examination and found 
sound.   

263. Paragraphs 49-50 of the 2018 NPPF specifically address the issue of 
prematurity and confirm that: 

‘…arguments that an application is premature are unlikely to 
justify a refusal of planning permission other than in the limited 
circumstances where both:
a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative 
effect would be so significant, that to grant permission would 
undermine the plan-making process by predetermining decisions 
about the scale, location or phasing of new development that are 
central to an emerging plan; and
b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet 
formally part of the development plan for the area.

Refusal of planning permission on grounds of prematurity will 
seldom be justified where a draft plan has yet to be submitted for 
examination…Where planning permission is refused on grounds 
of prematurity, the local planning authority will need to indicate 
clearly how granting permission for the development concerned 
would prejudice the outcome of the plan-making process.’

80



264. It is considered that the development proposed is neither so substantial 
or its cumulative effect so significant as to undermine the plan-making 
process.  This position is supported by the response from the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government confirming they have 
no comments to make regarding the submitted Environmental 
Statement, which assesses the likely environmental impacts of the 
proposal.

The General Principle of Development

265. The site lies outside of the defined urban edge and is designated as 
Countryside and Local Gap in the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan Review (2001-2011). Saved Policy 1.CO of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) seeks to protect the 
countryside from inappropriate development and resists development 
outside the urban edge unless it is for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, 
development for outdoor recreational use, public utility developments 
and/or extensions to existing education or health facilities. The 
proposed redevelopment of the site for residential purposes does not 
fall within the range of uses deemed appropriate for countryside 
locations. The proposed secondary school would not constitute an 
extension to an existing educational facility.  However, the weight which 
can be attributed to this policy is influenced by requirements for 
housing.    

266. In relation to the Council’s 5 year housing land supply, Eastleigh’s Five 
Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement dated March 2018 sets 
out the Council’s approach to managing the delivery of new housing in 
the borough over the next 5 years. The intention is to ensure that 
sufficient housing is delivered to meet the Borough’s identified needs 
over the next five years without compromising sustainable development 
objectives. This document states the Council has 5.52 years of housing 
supply land (including this site). 

267. Since this document was published, the Land at Satchell Lane Planning 
Inquiry has taken place (planning ref. O/17/80319) and, while this 
matter was not discussed, evidence from both parties indicates the 
Council’s current 5 year housing land supply is between 7.2-7.8 years.  
Planning Inspectors in recent appeal decisions have supported the 
Council’s position on the supply of housing and so weight can be given 
to these figures. This matter does not therefore reduce the weight to be 
attributed to Saved Policy 1.CO.  Inspectors have also recognised, 
however, that to ensure the continued delivery of a 5 year supply of 
housing development on appropriate countryside sites will need to be 
granted.

268. Inspectors have confirmed this policy is not to be considered out of date 
due to age; because it pre-dates the first version of the NPPF; or 
because it only made provision to 2011.

81



269. Taking account of these matters, and the degree of consistency with 
the 2018 NPPF, it is for the decision maker to determine the weight to 
be afforded to this policy.  As discussed at the Satchell Lane Inquiry, 
previous Inspectors have afforded between considerable/ significant to 
full weight.  The Inspector in the Satchell Lane Inquiry took a different 
position, affording reduced weight to this policy as in his view it, ‘lacks 
the flexible and balanced approach towards the issue enshrined in the 
Framework’. The Council is currently considering its position in relation 
to this decision.

270. For the purposes of this application, Members (as the decision makers) 
should determine the weight to be afforded to this, and other policies.  
In advising Members and in light of the previous appeal decisions, it is 
the view of officers that considerable weight can be afforded to Saved 
Policy 1.CO. 

271. With regard to the emerging 2016-2036 Local Plan, although only 
limited weight can be given to the Plan at this time, it is apparent that 
some development needs to be permitted beyond the existing urban 
edge.  This does not mean, however, that all sites near to the urban 
edge would be suitable for residential development. 

272. This site is also located within the Local Gap, which Saved Policy 3.CO 
seeks to protect by only supporting appropriate development that 
cannot be acceptably located elsewhere and that would not diminish 
the gap visually or physically.  

273. Delivery of a secondary school and the associated facilities is 
challenging as these require significant land parcels; the ability to 
connect into, or provide, good transport links; and a wide range of 
issues such as land ownership and viability to be overcome.  As a 
consequence, it is more difficult to accommodate such facilities within 
existing urban areas.

274. In considering this site, Hampshire County Council as land owner are 
able to release the necessary amount of land for the construction and 
operation of 7-9 FE secondary school, for which there is an established 
need.  Good transport links can be provided and the scheme would 
facilitate delivery of highway improvements, including a financial 
contribution towards the construction of the Botley Bypass, and would 
bring forward Phase 1 of the bypass to enable safe access to the 
school (this is discussed in more detail below).  There is, therefore, an 
argument that the secondary school development cannot be acceptably 
located elsewhere.  This position may be reinforced by the fact that a 
secondary school was proposed to be located on the West of Horton 
Heath site in 2017 (planning ref. O/14/75735), however due to delays in 
this site coming forward with any certainty HCC sought to progress the 
current scheme.  Notwithstanding this, it should be recognised that the 
scheme would visually and physically diminish the Local Gap.  

82



275. In addition to the school, outline consent for up to 605 dwellings is 
sought.  While this is required to deliver the school as a viable 
development, it is not considered to be appropriate development in 
relation to this policy and would also visually and physically diminish the 
Gap.    

276. To summarise, the development proposal is contrary to Saved Policy 
1.CO and, to a lesser extent due to the constraints in delivery of a 
secondary school, Saved Policy 3.CO.  It is considered appropriate to 
assign considerable weight to these policies.  Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Paragraph 11 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) require a Local Planning 
Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It 
is therefore necessary to consider whether there are material 
considerations in this case that may indicate that a decision can be 
taken that does not accord with Saved Policies 1.CO and 3.CO.

277. To support the work on the emerging Local Plan, the Council has 
undertaken a Settlement Gap Policy Review (June 2018) to assess the 
value of allocated gaps, which in turn could be used to inform decisions 
on a revised urban edge. Applying the sub-regional advice from the 
Partnership of Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) which requires no more 
land than is necessary to prevent the coalescence of settlements is 
included in a Gap, Landscape and Visual Appraisal of Existing Gaps in 
Eastleigh and the Assessment Matrices were used to identify areas that 
do not contribute to the physical or visual separation of existing 
settlements. In this review, the majority of this site is proposed to be 
removed from Countryside Gap designation, with the northeast corner 
of the site, close to the Winchester Rd/Woodhouse Lane junction to be 
retained.

278. The evaluation of the Gap function is based on the guidance, 
settlement identity and an assessment of the impact of physical 
developments and infrastructure and not on the needs for planning for 
new housing developments. Weight can therefore be applied to this 
assessment and the conclusion that development on this site would not 
undermine the identity of existing settlements. 

279. With areas of the urban edge requiring repositioning to meet housing 
needs and a full assessment of the Gaps, the Strategic Land 
Availability Assessment has examined in excess of 200 sites for 
residential development and identified this site within the emerging 
Local Plan (2016 – 2036) as suited for residential development and the 
provision of a secondary school.

280. As discussed above, although limited weight can be given to the 
emerging plan as a whole due to its current status, it is considered that 
the number and nature of representations to emerging policy HE1 
means moderate weight can be afforded this policy.  In addition, it is 

83



recognised that, in considering the principle of development on this site, 
significant work has been undertaken to date which supports the 
assigning of weight to the policy. 

281. The addition of 605 dwellings to the supply of housing in the area is 
substantial and the scheme could deliver housing within five years with 
the first phase of development anticipated to be constructed in 2021-
2023.  This site (together with the Winchester Street site) forms part of 
the Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Calculation on which the 
Council’s current 5 year supply figure is based. 

282. Subject to determining the site is considered sustainable in all other 
respects, it is considered that there are material considerations that 
would warrant a decision contrary to the development plan on this site 
on this occasion.  It is concluded therefore that the principle of 
development can be accepted despite the conflict with adopted plan 
policies.

Sustainable Development

283. The NPPF is a significant material consideration when assessing 
planning applications.  

284. Section 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) states 
that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development, which can be summarised as 
meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.

285. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system 
has three overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental 
(which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways) that should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the 
Framework.

286. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding 
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take 
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and 
opportunities of each area.

287. Due to this hybrid application comprising two separate proposals which 
differ in the level of detail, the assessment considers each of the three 
dimensions of sustainable development for the two proposals 
separately below.

Secondary School and Access Roads (Detailed):

288. In brief, the proposal for which full planning permission is sought 
includes:

84



- A 7 Form Entry secondary school with the potential to expand to 9 
Form Entry, staff car park and associated sports provision, including 
MUGA, sports hall and playing fields;

- Primary access roads and points of access, pedestrian and cycle links 
(including the diversion of bridleway route number 6c), an underpass, 
and a pedestrian SINC crossing;

- Associated drainage, landscaping, utilities, other supporting permanent 
and temporary infrastructure and mitigation measures.

Economic Sustainability:

289. Section 2 of the NPPF, when discussing economic sustainability, seeks 
to ‘help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of 
infrastructure’.  

290. During the construction phase, the site will make some contribution to 
the wider area in terms of construction jobs and related industries and 
there will be some benefit to the local area from construction workers 
using local facilities. 

291. The Environmental Statement which accompanies this application 
states that the construction of the development (educational and 
residential combined) will provide employment and training 
opportunities over a period of approx. 8 years, estimating in the region 
of 260 FTE jobs with 80 of these estimated to be retained in the 
Eastleigh area.  A development of this size also provides opportunities 
for training and the scheme would be expected to deliver an 
Employment and Skills Plan which provides for local training 
opportunities, working with schools and colleges and employment 
opportunities.  

292. Due to the movement of HGVs and construction vehicles during the 
construction process, there is the potential for short-term delays due to 
increased traffic that could affect access to local businesses.  This is 
unlikely to have a significant impact on local businesses and may 
potentially be offset by the use of these businesses by construction 
workers.  Access to Hilliers Garden Centre will need to be managed 
during the construction of the Botley Bypass and this development and 
will be covered as part of the Construction and Environment 
Management Plan for the site (to be conditioned).  

293. During the operational phase of development, the Environmental 
Statement states that by 2025, the school would provide employment 
for 100 staff (full and part-time).  

85



294. In addition, the proposed educational development would result in 
financial contributions being secured to offset certain impacts of the 
development, such as transport contributions towards improvements in 
the local network including delivery of the bypass.

295. The majority of these matters are considered to be benefits and support 
economic sustainability.

296. The site forms part of the wider Uplands Farm Estate owned by HCC 
which comprises approx. 80ha of agricultural land between the 
settlements of Hedge End and Botley.  The site has mainly been used 
for crops and is a mixture of Grade 3a and 3b land.

297. The proposed development as a whole, would result in the loss of 
approx. 50ha of agricultural land.  Paragraph 170 of the 2018 NPPF 
requires decision makers to recognise the wider benefits from natural 
capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and other 
benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land.  Approximately 
30% (15.9ha) of land is Grade 3a and therefore classed as ‘best and 
most versatile’ (BMV) agricultural land. This is a detrimental economic 
impact and must be weighed against the benefits of the scheme.  A 
relatively small area of BMV land falls within the land take associated 
with the school.

298. Taken as a whole and in light of the small area of BMV impacted by 
delivery of the school and access roads, it is considered that overall the 
educational development proposal would be economically sustainable.  

Social Sustainability:

299. Chapter 8 of the 2018 NPPF ‘Promoting Healthy and Safe 
Communities’ , seeks to provide the social, recreational and cultural 
facilities and services the community needs.

300. Paragraph 94 states:

‘It is important that a sufficient choice of school places is available 
to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local planning 
authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative 
approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will 
widen choice in education.’

301. It goes on to say that great weight should be given to the need to 
create, expand or alter schools through decisions on applications.

302. In terms of secondary school capacity, there is currently a capacity 
deficit of 6% which is forecast to increase to a deficit of 18% (116 no. 
Year 7 places) by 2022.  It is expected, therefore, that existing 
secondary school provision in the area would not meet demand arising 
from the proposed development by 2022.  Delivery of a secondary 

86



school on this site would therefore remove the potential for an adverse 
effect arising from additional pressure on existing school capacity from 
this site and Winchester Street, and would offer an additional benefit by 
providing extra secondary school provision for the wider area.  This is 
considered a significant benefit.

303. The provision of new sports facilities in the area, through the securing 
of a Community Use Agreement at the school, would allow individuals, 
local groups and organisations access to improved opportunities and 
facilities for sports recreation.  This is a key part of the local aspirations 
for the area and specified in criteria ii of the draft policy HE1.

304. Sport England currently object to the proposal, due to uncertainty 
regarding community use of the school sports facilities. Subject to 
securing this Community Use Agreement (CUA) through the S106, the 
Council’s Planning Policy team raises no objection to the proposal.  
Without this provision, objections would stand from both parties.   

305. Hampshire County Council as land owner and education authority have 
confirmed their willingness to enter into such a provision and Wildern 
Academy Trust as Sponsor are keen, in principle, to enter into and 
deliver the terms of a CUA.  Details of the S106 provision and the lease 
clause are being finalised and Members will be updated at committee.  
It is recognised by all parties that this is critical to the success of this 
project. 

306. The school development does result in the loss of agricultural land 
which a number of residents have indicated in representations is used 
informally for recreational purposes.  While access to the land 
associated with the school will be controlled and walking routes 
restricted to public footpaths, use of the school facilities and the 
provision of land to Eastleigh Borough Council for wider community 
sports provision is considered, on balance, to mitigate this impact.  

307. Should planning permission be granted, the school will be the first 
phase of the development, with work intended to commence on 
construction of the temporary haul road in September 2019 and the 
school itself in November 2019 (with Phase 1A of the Bypass works 
commencing May 2020).   The school will therefore be a key 
component in the development of a community within the new 
development and providing opportunities to connect to, and integrate 
with, the wider community successfully.  

308. Subject to securing the CUA provision within the S106, it is considered 
that the proposed educational development would be socially 
sustainable.

Environmental Sustainability:

87



309. There are a number of different components to Environmental 
Sustainability, including consideration of site-specific planning matters 
and the impacts of the development on its surroundings and local 
infrastructure, which are considered below under the relevant 
subheadings.  

Design and Layout:

310. The school site is approx. 7.5ha (excluding the SINC and the 20m 
buffer) and has been located roughly central in the site with the 
woodland SINC separating the playing fields from the school buildings.  
The main school building sits on the northern boundary of the school 
site and comprises a three storey ‘Superblock’ building centered around 
a triple height atrium that allows natural light into the heart of the 
school.  At full capacity the school will accommodate 1050 pupils, 
although it is not anticipated to reach full capacity until 2026/27.

311. The sports hall is located to the southwest of the main building with the 
Multi-use Games Area (MUGA) adjacent.  Outdoor spaces are provided 
south of the school and east of the sports hall which enable informal 
play, dining space and outdoor learning.  The staff car park is located 
west of the main building and north of the MUGA.

312. The design of the building has been carefully thought through to 
provide a high-quality learning environment for the pupils internally and 
externally and to deliver a landmark building in the wider community 
that will develop as the residential scheme is built out.  

313. The building is large both in terms of volume and height (although 
compact for a school of this capacity) and will be a striking feature 
within the landscape.  The school has a simple, clean and 
contemporary design with good fenestration that provides articulation 
and interest in the elevations.  The use of a buff brick is intended to 
provide a contrast with the future residential development which would 
be anticipated to reflect, for the most part, the local vernacular of red 
brick.  While the Council’s Urban Design Specialist has noted that the 
main entrance lacks some legibility, as the wider scheme develops 
through Reserved Matters, the plaza in front of the school will play a 
key role in defining the main school entrance and integrating the school 
with its surroundings.  Pupil entrances are located to the east, south 
and west and defined by full height glazing.

314. The two storey sports hall has been designed to reflect the form and 
materials of the main building to provide a cohesive appearance to the 
school buildings. It is less well detailed, in part due to its function; 
however the sports hall sits within the site and therefore has limited 
wider visual impact due to the level of screening.  There may be future 
opportunities for enhancements to this building and on balance this is 
not felt to be a significant issue.    

88



315. The school buildings are separated from the playing fields by the 
woodland SINC.  While this is unusual, it is not uncommon for schools 
to have playing fields located away from buildings.  Alternative locations 
for the school were considered, however the location of the school in 
this position and the layout of the site was considered the best option, 
taking account of wider site constraints and opportunities and the wider 
aspirations.

316. In order to access the playing fields, a bridge has been designed to 
cross the woodland SINC.  This timber and steel structure is designed 
to minimise the impact on the SINC in terms of footprint on the ground 
and obstruction of flood waters; and provide a safe crossing with 
recessed handrail lighting that minimizes disturbance to wildlife 
including bats.  Some changes to levels within the playing field sites will 
be required. 

317. The playing fields will be fenced with a 1.8m high, mesh panel fence for 
safeguarding purposes, which will continue into the SINC to prevent 
unintended access.  Pupils will be accompanied by staff when travelling 
to the playing fields and will be supervised at all times whilst using this 
facility.  

318. While fencing the SINC is not optimal from a biodiversity perspective, it 
is apparent that informal and unauthorised access has been occurring 
for an extended period which is detrimental to the SINC and which will 
be limited by the fencing in this location.  The SINC fencing will need to 
be carefully designed to prevent obstructions to wildlife and flood water 
and a condition for the detailed design can be imposed.    

319. In relation to protected species, the necessary survey works have been 
carried out and badgers, bats, breeding birds, slow worms and otters 
were identified as using the wider site.  The School Construction and 
Environment Management Plan considers wildlife and seeks to protect 
it during the construction phase.  An site-wide Ecological Mitigation and 
Management Plan will be secured by condition. Natural England have 
raised no objection to the proposal. 

320. On balance, it is considered the layout and design respond to the site 
context and will deliver high quality educational development.  The 
proposal is therefore considered to accord with Saved Policy 59.BE and 
the aims of Chapter 12 of the 2018 NPPF.

Impact on Heritage Assets:

321. The school site is located away from the wider site boundary and there 
are no designated heritage assets within the site.  On the eastern side 
of Woodhouse Lane there are three Locally Listed barns which would 
not be affected by this proposal.

89



322. The archaeological evaluation identified only one archaeological site 
that merits mitigation, evidence suggestive of a Roman occupation site.  
HCC Archaeologist has confirmed that he is satisfied with the 
conclusion drawn in the Environmental Statement that the impact on 
these archaeological remains should be mitigated by an archaeological 
excavation to be agreed in detail with the planning authority in due 
course. A pre-commencement condition will be imposed to that effect.  
It is considered the proposal accords with Saved Policy 168.LB.

Landscape and Character:

323. Saved Policy 18.CO seeks to protect the intrinsic character of the 
landscape; together with Saved Policy 59.BE that requires development 
to take account of the context of the site and surroundings.  Also 
applicable to this site is Saved Policy 60.BE which protects against 
development along major road or rail corridors, which adversely affects 
the quality of the environment. 

324. Moderate weight is afforded to Policy 18.CO in light of the discussion 
on Saved Policies 1.CO and 3.CO; the emerging draft policy HE1; and 
the gap assessment.  Full weight is afforded to Policies 59.BE and 
60.BE. 

325. In general terms, the character of the site is that of agricultural fields 
with woodland and field boundary hedgerows interspersed.  When 
within the site, there are limited views of existing residential 
development and the railway line to the north and intermittent views of 
vehicles closer to Woodhouse Lane.  The site is located at the southern 
end of the Horton Heath Undulating Farmland Landscape Character 
Area and separated from the majority of that area by the railway line, 
containing and limiting the impact on this character area.  The site is 
edge of settlement, located on the edge of suburban Hedge End and 
separated from the existing townscape by the woodland SINC and 
other tree screens.  As such, the development is not seen in isolation 
but against a backdrop of existing screening and development.  This 
location between existing residential development, the railway line and 
Woodhouse Lane (to become Botley Bypass) provides physical and 
visual containment. 

326. Construction of buildings on open land fundamentally alters the 
character of that land and has an irreversible impact.  The delivery of 
access roads and the school will urbanise the site and change the user 
experience when walking the bridleway (which will be further changed 
when the residential development is delivered).  

327. However, the school sits well inside the site and north of the woodland 
SINC, providing a setting and a degree of screening.  Where possible, 
existing trees are to be retained and a new tree belt planted along the 
western boundary line of the playing fields, adding a visual screen in 
this location.  While there will be some views of the school from the 

90



railway line and areas along Woodhouse Lane, these will be seen in the 
context of the surrounding development, the Botley Bypass and in time, 
the wider site context of residential development.  The school is 
designed to be an attractive landmark building and will perform an 
important function in the evolution of the character and community in 
this development.

328. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been prepared to 
inform the proposals as a whole.  This concludes that the effects arising 
from the construction phase will be temporary, reversible and short-
term.  It states that there are no predicted significant landscape or 
visual effects arising from the construction phase.  This position is 
accepted.

329. The assessment concludes that the residual operational effects (those 
remaining after 15 years of operation) are worst for the Horton Heath 
Undulating Farmland Landscape Character Area, which it predicts will 
received slight to moderate adverse residual effects, which are not 
considered significant.  All other landscape receptors are predicted to 
receive adverse effects ranging from no change to slight to moderate 
which are similarly not considered significant.  This position is also 
accepted.

330. Users of the bridleway 6c, which will be diverted as part of the wider 
scheme, are predicted to receive moderate residual adverse effects on 
their visual amenity, which are significant.  A balancing exercise 
therefore needs to be undertaken to assess the level of this impact in 
the wider context and will be carried out when considering the outline 
residential development below.

331. In relation to the proposed educational development, it is considered 
the wider benefits of provision of a secondary school with the 
associated facilities and community benefits outweigh the detrimental 
impact to the character of the site and the lesser impacts to the wider 
landscape and character.  As such, the development is considered to 
conflict to some extent with Saved Policy 18.CO and accord with 
Policies 59.BE and 60.BE.     

Access, Parking and Transport Matters:

332. Saved Policy 100.T requires new development to be well served by 
public transport and cycling and walking routes; minimize its impact on 
the existing transport network and provide a choice of transport mode.  
Policy 102.T allows for the provision of new, safe access; and Policy 
103.T requires the delivery and implementation of (in relation to this 
scheme) a School Travel Plan. 

333. Saved Policy 63.BE sets out the criteria for new car park design and 
Policy 104.T requires the provision of adequate off-highway parking. 

91



334. Access, parking and traffic congestion are concerns raised by the 
majority of objectors to the scheme.

335. With regards to access, the detailed proposal includes modifications to 
the approved bypass scheme required to enable delivery of this site 
and the educational facility and include:

- The provision of a Southern Access point (in the form of a T-junction) 
into the development site from Woodhouse Lane including additional 
road widening along this section of Woodhouse Lane required to 
accommodate a central island to safely restrict turning right out of the 
site;

- The provision of a fourth arm to the proposed Botley Bypass 
roundabout junction to provide the main point of access into the site 
including an additional nearside lane on the southern approach to the 
roundabout;

- The provision of a pedestrian and cycle underpass under Woodhouse 
Lane just south of the proposed new roundabout junction (as part of 
the Safer Routes to School);

- Alterations to the position of the acoustic bunds and drainage ponds 
around the new roundabout (required to facilitate the new underpass);

- Alterations to the position of Bypass surface water swales required to 
facilitate the changes to the roundabout;

- Provision of water pumps to convey surface water drainage from the 
underpass;

- Revised street lighting strategy to ensure highway safety around the 
new Southern Access, roundabout, underpass and across the 
Winchester Street railway bridge;

- A new combined approach to the mitigation strategy and planting within 
the Middle Land to reduce the impact from the Bypass, the school and 
the early infrastructure works;

- Additional acoustic bunds along both Woodhouse Lane frontage and 
the Bypass adjacent to Winchester Street to support the new housing 
development, including a modification to the planting scheme to 
facilitate the acoustic bunds.

336. As a result of residents and consultee comments, the proposals for 
works to the railway bridge have been revised and two-way traffic 
retained with a 2.4m footway/cycleway being proposed for the bridge.

337. HCC as Highways Authority have confirmed that the highway authority 
has reviewed the details of this application in the wider context of both 
development sites and the delivery of Botley Bypass.  This has required 
a number of transport scenarios to be assessed and they are satisfied 
with the robustness of the assessment. Subject to the delivery of off-
site highway improvements they raise no objection to the proposed 
development (both educational and residential).  These improvements 
will be secured as part of the S106.

92



338. The highways authority have not reviewed the assessments of Junction 
7 and 8 of the M27 motorway as these fall under the jurisdiction of 
Highways England.  Detailed comments are awaited from Highways 
England and Members will be updated at committee.  

339. As part of the application, opportunities to improve pedestrian/cycle 
routes to the school have been explored in detail and the Connections 
Plan submitted with the applications shows the improved connectivity.  
Improvements are required to some of these routes and new 
footway/cycleways are to be created.  HCC Countryside Access team 
has raised no objection to the proposals, subject to securing upgrades 
to routes and dedication of paths as Public Rights of Way and/or 
bridleways.  This can be secured through the S106 agreement.  

340. In addition to these improvements, a Framework School Travel Plan 
has been provided to encourage reduced car dependency.  Hampshire 
Highways have confirmed that the modal shift to non-car use is 
ambitious but it believes it is achievable with a robust Travel Plan.   A 
detailed School Travel Plan will be secured as part of the S106.   

341. It is acknowledged by the highways authority that the bus service 
provision in this vicinity is evolving, with commitments to improved 
routing and services to Hedge End village centre secured under 
planning permissions for Boorley Green/Boorley Gardens.  In addition, 
the bus enhancements secured as part of the North Whiteley 
development also have the potential to provide enhancements within 
the area.  

342. It is also recognised by the highways authority that the site would 
benefit from improved bus services, with increased frequency, and they 
would support a level of service as secured in connection with nearby 
committed development sites which will be a direct arrangement 
between the developer and local operators and will ensure the site can 
contribute to a comprehensive bus strategy for the Hedge End/Botley 
community.  Go South Coast Bus Operator have raised no objection to 
the scheme subject to securing developers contributions towards 
subsidising the expansion of the current Bluestar 3 to Woodhouse 
Lane.  A commitment to improving bus provision in the area can be 
secured through the S106 process.  

343. Assuming no material objection from Highways England, it is 
considered the proposed educational development accords with Saved 
Policies 100.T, 102.T and 103.T.

344. Due to the complexity of delivering the Botley Bypass and the need to 
open the secondary school by September 2021, it has been important 
for HCC as the applicant to demonstrate safe access can be provided 
to the school in time for this date.  Significant work has been 
undertaken to develop a delivery strategy that sets out how the different 
components of the bypass works, site access works, including a 

93



temporary access for the school; and the wider access improvements 
will be carried out.  This is a key document in ensuring the necessary 
infrastructure is in place and delivery is as smooth as possible 
(recognizing some disruption is inherent during the construction of 
roads and developments).  Delivery of the essential works set out in 
this document will be secured through the S106 together with the 
timeframe for doing so with a Grampian Condition preventing the 
opening of the school should these works not be completed.  (A 
condition will also be imposed for Construction and Environment 
Management Plans for the wider site as it comes forward.)

345. In order to deliver the secondary school in time and to avoid undue 
delay, a temporary haul road is to be constructed, part of which in time 
will become a section of the interior road and the temporary access 
road, which itself will be replaced when the wider development is 
delivered.  The Contractors Compound will provide for contractor 
parking and, once no longer required, will provide temporary coach 
parking for the school.  This is detailed in the Delivery Strategy and a 
School Construction and Environment Management Plan has been 
provided.  Compliance with the CEMP and its review when necessary 
can be conditioned.

346. A staff car park is provided as part of the school and located in the 
northwest corner of the school site.  The temporary access road will run 
in front of the school providing access to the car park which in time, will 
be replaced with the a pedestrian plaza.  At this stage the access to the 
car park will be provided estate roads.  This car park would be available 
for use to community users of the school sports facilitates under the 
Community Use Agreement.  While the car park does not provide for 
the level of trees sought within the Quality Places SPD, additional trees 
are being provided elsewhere within the school site and on balance, 
this is considered an acceptable approach in this situation.  The 
proposed car park is considered to accord with Saved Policy 63.BE and 
broadly accord with Saved Policy 104.T.

347. The site does not provide space for parents to drop off/pick up children 
which has the potential to impact on estate roads as the wider scheme 
develops.  This is a deliberate policy-led decision by HCC as the 
education authority to encourage other means of travel to school then 
the car.  The School Travel Plan does suggest opportunities for park 
and stride locations within the residential development.  As part of the 
future reserved matters, careful consideration will need to be given to 
the design of roads within the residential development taking account of 
evidence gathered during the operational phase of the school.    

348. The diversion to the bridleway running through the site is discussed in 
relation to the residential scheme below.

Noise, Air Quality and Contamination:

94



349. Saved Policy 32.ES seeks to control uses that generate air, land or 
water pollution; and Policy 59.BE requires that development is an 
appropriate use for the locality and avoids unduly interfering, disturbing 
or conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses. 

350. In relation to the construction phase of the school, there is the potential 
for noise and air pollution impacting residents and water pollution 
impacting the woodland SINC which contains a Gilly.  A detailed CEMP 
has been submitted and compliance with this, with reviews as 
necessary will be conditioned.

351. In relation to the operation of the school, there is the potential for noise 
and air quality impacts from plant.  At this stage the details are not 
known, however the Council’s Environmental Health specialist has 
confirmed a condition can be imposed to require details and relevant 
assessments to be provided prior to installation.

352. There is the potential for noise generated by pupils to disturb residents, 
both around the school and on the playing fields as well as from plant 
associated with the school.  A condition can be imposed to require a 
noise assessment to be provided as part of the reserved matters to 
inform the residential scheme to ensure sufficient separation and 
mitigation of noise sources to avoid an unacceptable impact on the 
amenity of occupiers of the future development.

353. This does not however, address the potential impact on existing 
occupiers.  The residents at greater risk of disturbance are located in 
Stag Drive located to the southwest of the playing fields.  The design of 
the residential layout in this location does provide for some protection to 
rear gardens due to the orientation of the buildings and the nearest 
property is located more than 40m away, separated from the playing 
fields by Bottom Copse.  In addition, as the playing fields are not to be 
lit by artificial lighting, the hours of use will be naturally restricted to 
daylight hours reducing the duration of the potential impact and limiting 
it to the most part to when the majority of residents will be away from 
home.   There will be community use during weekends which has the 
potential to impact these residents.  Unsupervised access to these 
facilities will not be allowed which will provide opportunity for noise 
disturbance to be managed.  Notwithstanding this, there remains the 
potential for noise disturbance which must be balance against the wider 
benefits in delivery of a secondary school and community use of sports 
facilities.  On balance, it is considered the potential impact to a small 
number of residents is not sufficiently detrimental to warrant a refusal. 

354. Initial ground investigation works have been carried out and the site 
presents a relatively low risk of potential contamination.  Conditions 
have been recommended within the assessment to include a watching 
brief for unexpected contamination and a CEMP to control construction 
pollution, together with a Materials Management Plan.  These 
conditions can be reasonably imposed. 

95



355. Overall, it is considered the proposal broadly accords with Saved 
Policies 32.ES and 59.BE. 

Biodiversity and Trees:

356. Extensive discussions have taken place in relation to biodiversity and 
trees, particularly due to the presence of the ancient woodland SINC 
which runs through the school site and the need to balance the school 
needs with the ecological protection and enhancement requirements 
contained in Saved Policies 23.NC, 25.NC and 59.BE and the 2018 
NPPF.

357. Objections have been made by the Woodland Trust due to the impact 
on the SINC, hydrology and access; and residents have raised general 
concerns regarding the impact on wildlife and biodiversity, together with 
the impact on the SINC and access.  Natural England has raised no 
objection subject to appropriate mitigation.  

358. 20m buffers have been secured to the SINC both where it passes 
through the site and to the south where it becomes Bottom Copse and 
is outside of the application boundary, as required by the draft policy 
HE1 and Natural England guidance.  As discussed above, due to 
safeguarding, a boundary fence is to be provided through the SINC to 
prevent unauthorised access which will need to be raised above the 
flood water level to allow flood waters and wildlife to pass unimpeded; 
but will need to be low enough to allow larger animals to jump it and 
open enough to allow birds and bats to pass through.  The detailed 
design of this structure can be conditioned.

359. The SINC bridge is to be lit with low level recessed handrail lighting and 
the playing fields will be unlit to avoid impacting bats and other wildlife.  
In addition, lighting of the MUGA will be reduced to minimize the impact 
on the tree line adjacent that serves as a bat foraging route.

360. An Ecological Mitigation and Management Plan has been submitted for 
the wider site which includes an outline SINC Management Plan.  
Discussions are ongoing with Hedge End Town Council who have 
confirmed their willingness to take on the management of this SINC, 
(Bottom Copse is already in their ownership and management).  While 
the draft Management Plan covers ten years, this is seen as a ‘live’ 
document that will require review and updating over an extended period 
to ensure best management of the SINC.  Financial contributions 
towards the management of the SINC are also to be secured as part of 
the S106 and access arrangements with the school to enable the Town 
Council to manage the SINC within the school’s ownership concluded.

361. The Woodland Trust have raised concerns regarding access to the 
SINC and the use of the buffer for swales and walkways.  These are 
applicable to the outline scheme and therefore discussed below.

96



362. Where possible, existing trees and hedgerows have been retained, 
although the existing hedgerow through the playing fields will have to 
be removed.  To mitigate the loss of this and improve connectivity, a 
strong native tree line will be planted outside the playing field fence on 
the western boundary.  

363. Tree and landscape planting will be provided as part of the school and 
proposals have been updated to take account of consultee comments.  

364. Some trees have had to be removed to facilitate car park access and 
justification has been provided to enable the Council’s Tree Consultant 
to withdraw his objection.  The School Landscape Management Plan 
and Arboricultural Impact Assessment have been updated and 
improved and the Council’s Tree Consultant is now satisfied.  
Compliance with these documents can be secured by condition.  

Drainage and Flood Risk:

365. A detailed SuDS scheme has been submitted for the school and no 
objection has been raised by Natural England or the Environment 
Agency.  Some concerns were raised by the Council’s Ecology 
Specialist to which a response has been provided by the applicant and 
further comments from the Council’s Ecologist are awaited.  The SuDS 
provides features within the school grounds which have been designed 
to form part of the landscape, enhance biodiversity and will offer an 
additional educational resource.  The scheme is therefore considered to 
accord with Saved Policy 45.ES.

366. In relation to foul sewerage, to facilitate a permanent foul sewer 
connection for the School, an application has been made to Southern 
Water to design and build a pumping station to serve the whole of the 
Woodhouse Lane development which the school will connect to via 
pipework to be delivered in conjunction with the first arm of the estate 
road. 

367. However, this connection may not be available when the school opens 
and therefore a temporary sewage treatment plant is required, until the 
initial phase of the site wide foul sewer network and primary pumping 
station can be delivered; at which time the temporary sewage treatment 
plant will be decommissioned.  Southern Water has confirmed the site 
will be able to connect into the network in due course and will work with 
the developer to facilitate this.  The Environment Agency has raised no 
objection to the proposed temporary sewage treatment plant subject to 
the appropriate license being secured.

97



Sustainability Measures:

368. Chapter 14 of the 2018 NPPF and Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of 
the Local Plan, require development to be sustainable in terms of 
resource use, climate change and energy use.  

369. The school has been designed to meet the Council’s requirement of 
BREEAM Excellent, achieving a score of 73.3% at pre-assessment 
which exceeds the minimum 70% require to achieve ‘Excellent’.  
Delivery of this requirement will be covered by condition.

370. It is therefore considered that the educational development meets the 
requirements of relevant Saved Policies.

Residential Amenity:

371. The school is located away from existing residential development and 
in time, the proposed dwellings will be erected between these two uses.  
The school is proposed to anchor one side of a local centre where a 
host of less sensitive uses could be provided, whilst care at the 
reserved matters stage will be taken to ensure the residential 
development has an acceptable relationship to the school building and 
activities within the school site.  Due to the separation from existing 
residents it is considered there will not be a significant detrimental 
impact.  There is the potential for disturbance to impact future occupiers 
and a detailed assessment of the noise impacts will need to be made to 
ensure the design of the residential properties maximize opportunities 
to minimum noise disturbance for these residents. 

372. As with any construction project, there is the potential to cause 
disturbance during the build process.  A CEMP will be conditioned to 
ensure the appropriate measures are taken to minimize disturbance.

Residential Development (outline)

373. In brief, outline planning permission is sought for:
 

- Up to 605 residential dwellings and local centre;
- Road infrastructure, pedestrian and cycle links and a pedestrian SINC 

crossing;
- Associated drainage, public open space, landscaping, other supporting 

infrastructure and mitigation measures.

374. Parameter plans have been submitted to set the parameters which will 
guide the detailed design at reserved matters.  In addition, a set of 
design principles have been developed to secure the key objectives of 
the development driving delivery of a high quality scheme.

375. The submitted parameter plans are:

98



- Land Use;
- Building Heights;
- Hydrology;
- Access and Movement;
- Landscape and Ecology;
- Densities. 

376. These are assessed individually below.

Parameter Plans:

377. In considering the individual parameter plans, the quantum of 
development (the amount of development that can be accommodated 
on-site) will be established. 

Land Use:

378. The Land Use plan indicates how the land is to be used across the site 
for the outline development.  The residential land parcels have taken 
shape around the school and the primary link road, informed by the 
need for substantial green infrastructure, the retention of a Countryside 
Gap in the northeast corner and context.  Where possible, existing 
landscape features are retained and the parcels respond to the 
changes in typography across the site.  20m buffers are provided to the 
SINC and linear parkland is provided buffering the railway line. 
Approximately 12ha of Public Open Space are provided which 
significantly exceeds policy requirements and provide a multifunctional 
Green Infrastructure network. The land parcels take account of the 
safeguarded land required to deliver the bypass and associated noise 
bunds.  Concerns regarding loss of land used for informal recreation 
are therefore addressed.

379. The local centre is situated central to the site and close to the 
secondary school which is an appropriate location.   

380. The Land Use plan responds to the relevant requirements of Draft 
Policy HE1 and Saved Policies 23.NC, 41.ES, 43.ES, 71.H, 75.H, 91.T, 
and 147.OS.   

Building Heights:

381. The Building Heights plan gives an indication of the scale of 
development and proposes generally the lower density housing to be 
up to 9m in height (2 storey), the medium density up to 12m in height 
(2.5 storey) whilst the higher density development, which may contain 
apartments and is proposed around the local centre, could be up to 
15m (3 storey) in height. 

382. There is a gradation of density across the site with the highest density, 
and larger buildings, located at the village core, opposite the school and 

99



at key junctions, assisting in creation of a sense of place. Larger 
buildings front onto parks, and play areas, to provide containment and 
natural surveillance of space.  There is a lower density at the rural edge 
with detached properties and short residential streets.

383. The storey heights have evolved in response to landscape character, 
existing vegetation and buildings and views into the site and take 
account of the proposed educational development.  It is therefore 
considered the building heights plan is acceptable and in accordance 
with 2018 NPPF guidance which seeks to ensure good design (Chapter 
12) and Saved Policy 59.BE.

Hydrology:

384. The Hydrology plan identifies existing watercourses and proposed 
sustainable drainage features for both the development and Botley 
Bypass. The existing watercourse sits within the SINC which has a 20m 
buffer.  Swales are shown within this buffer which is accepted by the 
Council’s Ecology Specialist.  The concerns raised in relation to these 
swales by the Woodland Trust are noted as is Natural England’s 
response which has been to not raised an objection.   The SuDS 
features are located to take account of the typography of the site and 
are located in open space.  Discussions are ongoing with Hedge End 
Town Centre in relation to management and maintenance of the SuDS 
together with the Public Open Space and SINC, and they have 
confirmed in principle that they would be willing to take this on.  Final 
comments are awaited from HCC as Local Lead Flood Authority; and 
assuming no material planning objection, it is considered the indicative 
SuDS scheme accords with national and local planning policy.  The 
indicative scheme demonstrates three forms of naturalised filtration and 
maintenance of runoff at greenfield rates as required by Draft Policy 
HE1.  The detailed design will however be required to improve on the 
indicative proposals used to assess the potential for SuDS by reducing 
the amount of underground pipework.  The hydrology plan complies 
with Saved Policies 25.NC and 45.ES.

Access and Movement:

385. The Access and Movement parameter plan establishes the general 
principles of access and movement within the site, with primary and 
secondary roads identified, pedestrian and cycleway routes and the 
diversion of the existing bridleway. The strategy for vehicular access 
and movement includes two accesses into the site from the Botley 
Bypass which form the primary access road loop to be approved in 
detail as part of full planning application.  The illustrative masterplan 
suggests a network of smaller residential streets within the structure 
shown on the parameter plan, although the exact determination of the 
layout is a detailed matter to be considered with later applications.   It is 
expected that all the new highways would be adopted highways and at 

100



the reserved matters stage officers will ensure the design of the 
highways are sufficient to allow their future adoption.

386. The parameter plan also indicates a network of new and improved 
rights of way, pedestrian and cycleway routes linking to existing 
footpaths and cycleway routes at various points, ensuring the option for 
more sustainable travel and greater connectivity to the wider 
community and Countryside Rights of Way network.   The location of 
the diverted bridleway has been discussed and agreed with HCC 
Countryside Access team and delivery of the temporary and permanent 
diversions will be secured through the S106 agreement.  The Council is 
in the process of preparing the Diversion Order and Members will be 
updated on this matter at committee.  Financial contributions will also 
be secured within the S106 to deliver improvements to existing 
footways and dedication of paths to PRoWs and Bridleways.  The BHS  
comments in relation to detailed design are noted and will be 
addressed at reserved matter stage.

387. The access parameters have evolved in response to site constraints, 
the wider context analysis, stakeholder engagement, 2018 NPPF 
guidance Saved Policies 62.BE, 100T, 102.T, 152.OS and Draft Policy 
HE1.

Landscape and Ecology:

388. The amended Landscape and Ecology parameter plan responds to 
comments from the Council’s Landscape and Ecology Specialists and 
indicates a network of Green Infrastructure spaces (approx. 12ha) 
which includes play areas, footpaths and sustainable drainage features 
in addition to ecological mitigation areas needed to provide buffers to 
ecological features such as existing SINCs. Differing management 
regime will be applied to each of the different areas, with conditions and 
S106 obligations to secure the management details and funding.   The 
total amount of open space significantly exceeds the amount sought to 
be policy compliant offering opportunity for a variety of formal and 
informal open spaces for the benefit of new and existing residents. As 
discussed above, formal sports pitches will form part of the school site 
to which community access will be secured through the use of a 
“community use agreement”. Three equipped children’s play areas, 
including one for older children, will be provided across the site. 

389. The landscaping strategy and use of the open space will contribute to 
differing characters areas, whilst new buffer and tree planting will create 
a series of green infrastructure corridors throughout the development 
framing development parcels and acting as wildlife corridors. The open 
space is expected to be adopted by Hedge End Town Council who will 
actively be engaged in the design and form of these areas as part of 
the reserved matters application.  The proposed open spaces have 
evolved in a logical manner and respond to site constraints, context 
analysis, stakeholder engagement and development plan policies and 

101



therefore accord with guidance contained within the 2018 NPPF, Saved 
Policy 147.OS and Draft Policy HE1. 

Densities:

390. The Densities parameter plan gives an indication of the scale of 
development and indicates the general location of the dwellings and 
their density. The parcels of land indicating differing densities are 
proposed divided up on the basis of site constraints, landscape 
character and proximity to local facilities. Generally the density reflects 
the building heights parameter plan with lower density areas (up to 35 
dph) at the more rural edges. The medium density areas (up to 45 dph) 
are located more internally to the site with the highest density (up to 55 
dph) located near the centre of the site, closer to the school and local 
centre to give a critical mass of people and inject activity within the core 
of the site.  These densities are higher than typically delivered on 
greenfield sites, but respond to the NPPF’s requirement to make 
efficient use of urban land and increased densities within sustainable 
locations.  Care will need to be taken at detailed design stage to ensure 
the Council’s requirements for good quality living environments are met 
and will be informed by the Design Principles, to be secured by 
condition.

391. The residential density proposals have evolved taking account of 
densities in the local area, internal space standards, the Quality Places 
SPD and parking standards.  On this basis the plans are considered 
acceptable and in accordance with relevant 2018 NPPF, and Saved 
Policy 72.H. 

Economic Sustainability:

392. Section 2 of the NPPF, when discussing  economic sustainability, 
seeks to ‘help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of 
infrastructure’.  

393. As discussed above, during the construction phase, the site will make 
some contribution to the wider area in terms of construction jobs and 
related industries and there will be some benefit to the local area from 
construction workers using local facilities.  The Construction Skills and 
Training Plan will also apply to the residential development phases.

394. As with any new housing, the proposed development would bring 
people into the area which would be a continuing economic benefit that 
would support growth in the local economy.  There is also the New 
Homes Bonus and the proposed development would result in financial 
contributions being secured to offset certain impacts of the 
development, such as transport contributions towards improvements in 

102



the local network and contributions towards the provision of enhanced 
community infrastructure.  

395. The Local Centre makes provision for 1,000 sq.m. of retail floor space 
which has the potential to provide an estimated 30-35 FTE jobs 
retained in the Eastleigh area (this estimate is based on broad 
assumptions due to details of the commercial space not being available 
at this stage).

396. Provided they are appropriately secured and outweigh the adverse 
impacts of the scheme, these elements are all considered to be 
benefits in the planning balance.  It should be noted that these benefits 
could also be accrued from a development of this size in a different 
location.

397. As noted above, there is the potential for short-term delays due to 
increased traffic through the movement of construction vehicles that 
could affect access to local businesses.  This is unlikely to have a 
significant impact on local businesses and may potentially be offset by 
the use of these businesses by construction workers.  Access to Hilliers 
Garden Centre will need to be managed during the construction of the 
Botley Bypass and this development and will be covered as part of the 
Construction and Environment Management Plan for the site (to be 
conditioned).

398. Also discussed above is the loss of BMV agricultural land of which the 
site contains approx. 30%.  Hampshire County Council as land owner 
has been able to relocate the tenant farmer as another farmstead within 
the County Farm Estate has become available.  To facilitate the 
relocation, HCC have committed to undertaking significant 
refurbishment works to the existing buildings including the installation of 
new farm equipment to enable the farm to be used as a dairy holding.  
Notwithstanding this, the loss of BMV land is irreversible and is a 
detrimental economic impact which must be weighed against the 
benefits of the scheme.  On balance, it is considered the proposed 
residential development offers a number of economic benefits which 
weigh against the permanent loss of Grade 3a agricultural land and 
therefore is considered to be economically sustainable, albeit to a 
lesser degree than the school as residential development can more 
easily be accommodated on another site. 

Social Sustainability:

399. Chapter 5 of the 2018 NPPF ‘Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes’ 
states that, ‘it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land 
can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with 
specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with 
permission is developed without unnecessary delay.’

103



400. It goes on to say that where major development involving the provision 
of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should expect 
at least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home 
ownership.

401. Paragraph 72 of the 2018 NPPF recognises that, ‘the supply of large 
numbers of new homes can often be best achieved through planning 
for larger scale development, such as new settlements or significant 
extensions to existing villages and towns, provided they are well 
located and designed, and supported by the necessary infrastructure 
and facilities.’

402. This large scale development sits on the edge of the settlement of 
Hedge End and will provide an extension to the residential edge.  The 
development would be supported by a local centre, the secondary 
school and associated facilities; a range of public open space, play 
areas and connections to the wider environment including Hedge End 
Town Centre, Hedge End Train Station and Botley High Street.  The 
scheme proposes a mix of dwelling size, type and tenure, with 35% 
affordable housing to be secured by a S106 agreement.  As part of this, 
two larger 5-bedroom properties are to be included for rent to meet the 
needs of larger families on the housing register who are more difficult to 
accommodate.  This scheme does not provide specifically for elderly 
persons accommodation.

403. Chapter 8 of the 2018 NPPF ‘Promoting Healthy and Safe 
Communities’ , seeks to provide the social, recreational and cultural 
facilities and services the community needs.

404. In accordance with Saved Policy 190.IN of the Local Plan, development 
is only to be permitted where adequate services and infrastructure are 
available or suitable arrangements can be made for their provision. 
Where facilities exist but will need to be enhanced to meet the needs of 
the development, contributions are sought towards provision and 
improvement of infrastructure. 

405. As part of the S106 agreement, the land to the west of the school 
playing fields and east of Berrywood Meadows would be transferred to 
Eastleigh Borough Council, together with financial contributions, to 
enable the Council’s aspirations to delivery community sports provision 
in this location to move forward.  Financial contributions are also being 
sought towards provision and improvement of a range of local 
infrastructure, including health provision in discussion with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

406. To date, the applicant has agreed to the principle of the contributions 
sought and a S106 legal agreement can be progressed should 
Members resolve to permit this application.    

104



407. As with the economic benefits, the provision of additional housing and 
financial contributions towards local infrastructure could also be 
accrued from a development of this size in a different location.

408. The scheme would make a contribution to the Council’s housing land 
supply, and the first phases of the development would come forward 
within the 5-year period.  The scheme would provide an appropriate mix 
of properties for the area including affordable housing and would make 
financial contributions to improvements to local infrastructure, including 
health provision.  The proposal can therefore be considered to be 
socially sustainable.

Education:

409. Due to the size of the scheme, there will be an increased demand for 
primary and secondary school places.  HCC as Education Authority 
have confirmed financial contributions should be secured towards the 
future expansion of Deer Park Secondary School in order to mitigate 
the impact of the development on educational infrastructure and ensure 
that sufficient school places are provided to accommodate the 
additional children expected to be generated by the development.  This 
can be secured through the S106 agreement.

Environmental Sustainability:

410. There are a number of different components to Environmental 
Sustainability, including consideration of site-specific planning matters 
and the impacts of the development on its surroundings and local 
infrastructure, which are considered below under the relevant 
subheadings.  

Impact on Heritage Assets:

411. There are no identified above ground heritage assets on the site.  On 
the eastern side of Woodhouse Lane there are three Locally Listed 
barns which would not be significantly affected by this proposal.

412. As discussed above, the archaeological evaluation identified only one 
archaeological site that merits mitigation, evidence suggestive of a 
Roman occupation site.  This is located close to the railway.  HCC 
Archaeologist has confirmed that he is satisfied with the conclusion 
drawn in the Environmental Statement that the impact on these 
archaeological remains should be mitigated by an archaeological 
excavation to be agreed in detail with the planning authority in due 
course. A pre-commencement condition will be imposed to that effect.  
It is considered the proposal accords with Saved Policy 168.LB.

105



Landscape and Character:

413. The broad assessment on impact in relation to the residential 
development reflects that of the educational development and so will 
not be repeated.

414. The site is visually and physically constrained by the existing 
development and infrastructure, and the landscape and typography 
present.  Development will be viewed in this context.  

415. Draft Policy HE1 requires the retention of a countryside gap to separate 
Boorley Green, Botley and Hedge End.  As discussed in relation to 
Saved Policy 3.CO, the Gap Assessment considers the northeast 
corner of the site can provide sufficient land to maintain a countryside 
gap and the scheme has evolved to take account of this assessment.  
Due to typography and existing and proposed landscape, and taken 
together with the presence of the railway line acting as a ‘firm 
settlement boundary’ to Hedge End as discussed by the Inspector in 
the Land at Hedge End North Planning Appeal Decision (O/17/75953), 
it is considered the parameter plans respond adequately to this policy 
requirement  and it would be viewed as a logical and defined urban 
extension and not seen as urban sprawl. 

416. The greatest impact will be upon users of the bridleway 6c, which will 
be diverted as part of the wider scheme.  The LVIA contained in the 
Environmental Statement predicts a moderate residual adverse effect 
on their visual amenity, which are significant.  A balancing exercise 
therefore needs to be undertaken to assess the level of this impact in 
the wider context and will be carried out when considering the outline 
residential development below.

417. The proposed residential development will deliver 605 dwellings which 
contribute to the Council’s 5 year housing land supply and a local 
centre providing employment opportunities. The development provides 
for the transfer of the woodland SINC into public ownership and 
management and transfer of open space land to enable delivery of the 
Council’s wider community sports aspirations.  It is considered the 
wider benefits outweigh the detrimental impact to the character of the 
site and the lesser impacts to the wider landscape and character.  As 
such, the development is considered to conflict to some extent with 
Saved Policy 18.CO and accord with Saved Policies 59.BE and 60.BE 
and the relevant paragraphs in the 2018 NPPF.     

Access, Parking and Transport Matters:

418. Similar considerations in relation to the educational development are 
applicable to the outline residential proposals.  

106



419. The detailed access arrangements to the site have been discussed 
above and are considered acceptable, subject to no material objections 
from Highways England.

420. Subject to a condition requiring submission of the internal road detail as 
reserved matters, HCC as Highways Authority have raised no 
objection.

421. The scheme includes provision for improvements to existing roads and 
footways, to be secured through the S106 agreement; and the 
illustrative Masterplan indicates parking can be accommodated within 
the site, although this is a matter of detailed design which will follow at 
reserved matters stage. Resident’s concerns regarding parking are 
noted and the relationship with the secondary school and parking will 
be carefully examined at this time. 

422. Subject to securing the necessary road, footway/cycleway, PRoW and 
other access requirements, it is considered the proposed educational 
development accords with Saved Policies 100.T, 102.T and 103.T.

Noise, Air Quality and Contamination:

423. As discussed above, Saved Policy 32.ES seeks to control of uses that 
generate air, land or water pollution; and Policy 59.BE requires that 
development is an appropriate use for the locality and avoids unduly 
interfering, disturbing or conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses. 

424. The impact of the school on future residents has been discussed and 
conditions will be imposed to ensure this matter is adequately dealt with 
at reserved matters stage.  

425. In relation to the impact of the proposed residential development on 
existing residents, the scheme is separated from existing residents by 
an existing woodland buffer and the parameter plans indicate a 
separation distance in the region of 20m.  It is possible there will be a 
change to the noise environment as a result of this outline 
development, however this is an established residential area and the 
proposed development is similarly residential.  It is not considered 
therefore, that a change in the noise environment as a result of the 
proposed residential development would be significantly detrimental.

426. There is the potential for disturbance during the construction phase of 
the development, and a condition requiring a site-wide CEMP will be 
imposed.

427. No objection has been received from the Council’s Environmental 
Health Specialist, subject to conditions.

428. Initial ground investigation works have been carried out and the site 
presents a relatively low risk of potential contamination.  Conditions 

107



have been recommended within the assessment to include a watching 
brief for unexpected contamination and a CEMP to control construction 
pollution, together with a Materials Management Plan.  These 
conditions can be reasonably imposed. 

429. Overall, it is considered the proposal broadly accords with Saved 
Policies 32.ES and 59.BE.

430. To align with the Council’s wider health priorities and in light of the 
proximity of the local centre to the school, a condition is recommended 
that prevents the use of the commercial element for takeways.

Biodiversity and Trees:

431. As discussed above, the scheme has been revised to address 
comments from the Council’s Ecology and Landscape Specialists and 
Tree Consultant, and additional information submitted to respond to 
Natural England’s representation.  

432. The scheme has evolved through discussions with Ecology Specialists 
due to the presence of the woodland SINC and the ecological 
constraints of the site.  Additional comments are awaited on the 
amended plans from the Council’s Ecology Specialist and Members will 
updated at committee.

433. Assuming no material planning objection is received, it is considered 
that the scheme has taken account of the ecological constraints of the 
site and where possible retained and enhanced existing features.  A 
Ecological Mitigation and Management Plan will be secured by 
condition and a SINC Management Plan together with funding put in 
place through the S106 agreement.  Additional contributions will be 
sought for the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy to minimise the 
impact of recreational pressure on the Solent Maritime SAC, Solent and 
Southampton Water SPA and Ramsar site (known as the Solent 
Complex).  The SuDS in principle meets the aims of Draft Policy HE1 
and the detailed scheme will be secured through condition.  The 
scheme proposes a site-wide Green Infrastructure network which 
delivers ecological benefits.  Natural England indicates there are further 
opportunities to provide a greater biodiversity net gain which will be 
explored in detail at reserved matters stage.

Drainage and Flood Risk:

434. A Flood Risk Assessment has been undertaken as part of the 
application and has informed the proposed development.  The 
assessment concludes that supported by hydraulic modelling to 
consider the impact of climate change, the development is considered 
to be at very low risk of fluvial flooding and where the development 
interacts with the flood plain, care has been taken to mitigate the risk to 
both the crossings and to the stream. 

108



435. Some surface water flooding was been identified at the Site and is 
attributed to low points in the topography and under capacity culverts 
beneath Woodhouse Lane which will be mitigated against as part of the 
Woodhouse Lane Bypass works.

436. As discussed above, the indicative SuDS scheme demonstrates three 
forms of naturalised filtration and maintenance of runoff at Greenfield 
rates as required by Draft Policy HE1.  The detailed design will however 
be required to improve on the indicative proposals used to assess the 
potential for SuDS by reducing the amount of underground pipework.  
Subject to no material objection from the Local Lead Flood Authority it 
is considered the proposed can accord with Saved Policies 25.NC and 
45.ES.

437. Southern Water have confirmed that they will work with the developer 
to deliver the necessary foul sewerage infrastructure to serve the site 
and a condition will be imposed to prevent occupation of the residential 
phase until this has been delivered.

Sustainability Measures:

438. The scheme has been developed to achieve a BREEAM Communities 
‘Excellent’ certificate and this will be secured by condition.

439. The affordable housing would be built to Lifetime Home Standards; and 
the dwelling units would meet minimum space standards informed by 
local and national policy at the detailed design stage.

440. The 2018 NPPF, and Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the Local 
Plan, require development to be sustainable in terms of resource use, 
climate change and energy use.  In March 2015 a Ministerial Statement 
announced that the Code for Sustainable Homes would cease to be 
applied to new development, although the requirement to achieve the 
Code’s levels for energy efficiency and water consumption remains.  A 
condition requiring the development to meet these requirements can be 
imposed.

Residential Amenity:

441. In relation to the impact of the proposed residential development on 
existing residents, the scheme is separated from existing residents by 
an existing woodland buffer and the parameter plans indicate a 
separation distance in the region of 50m, which significantly exceeds 
back to back distances contained within the Council’s Quality Places 
SPD.  In addition, the Building Heights parameter plans show buildings 
to be up to 9m in height (generally two storey) in locations in closer 
proximity to existing properties which limits the potential for overlooking 
and loss of privacy.  The detailed design stage will consider residential 
amenity in more detail, however from the information available it is 

109



considered there would be no significant detrimental impact on 
residential amenity.  The proposal therefore accords with Saved Policy 
59.BE in this regard.  The amenity of future occupiers will be assessed 
at detailed design stage.

Planning Obligations

442. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved 
Policies 74.H, 101.T, 147.OS and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM32 and DM37 of 
the Submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, the Council’s 
‘Planning Obligations’ SPD and the requirements of Regulation 122 of 
the Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a requirement for 
developers’ contributions to ensure on and off-site provision for facilities 
and infrastructure made necessary by the development, or to mitigate 
against any increased need / pressure on existing facilities. This is in 
addition to the requisite on-site provision of affordable housing. 

443. If permission is to be granted then contributions / obligations towards 
the provision of the following infrastructure and requirements would 
need to be secured via a Section 106 obligation, index linked as per the 
Planning Obligations SPD and HCC requirements:  

 A Community Use Agreement to secure community use of the 
secondary school sports facilities;

 Provision of 35% affordable housing on site;
 Off-site highway works;
 On and off-site footway, cycleway and bridleway works;
 Public Open Space;
 Lorry routing restrictions and CEMP;
 Travel Plan (and associated contributions);
 Employment and Skills Management Plan;
 Unallocated parking spaces;
 Local centre and requirements related to types of uses and size of 

units;
 Treatment of the Environment Agency Hydrobrake;
 Financial contributions towards:

-Primary, Secondary and SEND Education;
-Community infrastructure;
-Community Sports Provision;
-Health Provision;
-Off-site highway junction improvements and strategic footway 

and cycleway network improvements;
-Bus service and infrastructure provision, including infrastructure 

maintenance;
-Public art;
-Solent Recreation Mitigation Project;
-TROs;
-Air Quality Monitoring;

110



-Community Development Worker/Project Manager;
-On-site Open Space and SUDS maintenance and supervision;
-On-site tree maintenance;
-Public Open Space;
-Play areas, supervision and maintenance;
-Post-occupancy evaluation and residents satisfaction survey
-SINC Management
-Sustainable Transport.

444. The applicant has agreed in principle to enter into a Planning Obligation 
and discussions are continuing, with final terms to be finalized. 

445. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure will 
comply with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 2010, in that the monies would be necessary to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms, would go towards 
projects that are directly related to the development, and are fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. The 
contributions would be index-linked to ensure the contributions rise in 
line with the costs of providing the identified projects/measures. The 
obligations sought are necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms and to meet the needs generated by the new 
residents and the potential impact on existing services and facilities.

Referral to the Secretary of State 

446. In accordance with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning 
(Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 should there be a resolution to 
grant outline permission for the development the application must be 
referred to the Secretary of State to decide whether he wishes to 
determine it himself following a public inquiry. The criteria for referral 
include development of local authority land and development of out of 
centre retail, office and leisure facilities. As the development also 
constitutes EIA development, the Secretary of State is also required to 
be notified of any resolution to permit under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 
2017.

Conclusion

447. Section 38(6) of the Act states a scheme contrary to the development 
plan should be refused unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The NPPF is a strong material consideration including its 
desire for LPAs to boost housing delivery and where policies are out of 
date, such as housing policies, support development unless the 
adverse impacts outweigh the benefits of the development. Saved 
Policy 1.CO is not considered to be a policy for the supply of housing, 
however some revisions to the urban edge are necessary to meet the 
forecast housing needs for the emerging plan period up to 2036. 

111



448. The Council have a 7.8 year Housing Land Supply exceeding the 
minimum requirement set out in the NPPF of 5 years.  

449. The development of this site would be contrary to Saved Policies 1.CO 
(Development in Countryside) and 3.CO (Local Gap) of the Adopted 
Development Plan (2001 – 2011). In support of the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036), the Gap Review recommends 
exclusion of the majority of the site from a Gap and retention of a 
Countryside Gap in the northeast corner.  This carries some weight as 
a landscape assessment based on the function of this land as a means 
of protecting the identity of settlements. Of less weight, is the 
recommendation following the SLAA that this site be included within a 
revised urban edge and be allocated for residential and educational 
development. 

450. It is accepted that the proposed residential development would give rise 
to certain benefits, notably in terms of housing provision, including 
affordable housing. There would also be social benefits through an 
increase in public open space provision, landscaping and financial 
support to the delivery of infrastructure in the locality. In addition there 
would be the economic benefits due to construction, an increase in 
local population, payment of New Homes Bonus and financial 
contributions secured via a S106 planning obligation.  However, it 
should be noted that these financial and infrastructure benefits are not 
site-specific or over and above what could be achieved on another site.

451. It is also accepted that the proposed educational development meets a 
known need for secondary school provision and delivers wider 
community benefits through enabling the community to use the sports 
facilities (subject to a Community Use Agreement).

452. In assessing any harm the development would cause, it is considered 
that the development would not affect the function of the Local Gap in 
protecting the individual identity of settlements.  Subject to final 
comments from the Borough’s Ecologist, the ecological impact on 
protected species and their habitat, the SINC, water quality and flow 
can all be avoided or mitigated.  Final comments are also awaited from 
Highways England in relation to the impact on Junction 7 and 8 of the 
M27.  Assuming no material planning objection from Highways 
England, it is considered that, on balance, the development would be 
environmentally sustainable.

453. It is considered therefore that the benefits of the proposed development 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the harm caused by it 
and therefore the proposed development is considered to be 
sustainable and in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as set out in the NPPF. 

454. Subject to subject to the referral of the planning application to the 
Secretary of State; no material planning objections from outstanding 

112



consultee responses, completion of a Section 106 agreement for 
planning obligations and the recommended conditions, full permission 
for the secondary school and access roads and outline permission for 
the residential development is recommended to be granted.

113



114



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley 28 January 2019

Application 
number:

O/18/83698

Case Officer: Kitty Budden
Received Date: 25/07/2018
Site Address: Land North and East of Winchester Street, Botley, SO30 

2AA
Applicant: Hampshire County Council

Proposal: Outline: Erection of up to 375 no. dwellings, public open 
space, allotments, drainage, landscaping, other 
supporting infrastructure and mitigation measures 
associated with the development. 2 no. new accesses 
onto Winchester Street, associated on-site roads, 
footpaths/cycleways and setting of a Public Right of Way 
(route number 3). Detailed matters for consideration 
access (all other matters reserved - scale, appearance, 
landscaping and layout).

This application is subject to an Environmental Impact 
Assessment and is a departure from the development 
plan, affects the setting of a Listed Building and affects a 
Public Right of Way.

Recommendation: GRANT OUTLINE CONSENT, subject to no material 
planning objections from outstanding consultees and 
completion of the S106 agreement, delegated back to 
Chair, Vice Chair and Ward Members for final approval.

CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

1. The residential development hereby permitted shall begin either: 
a) No later than the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission; or 
b) No later than the expiration of two years from the date of approval of 
the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2. No residential development shall start until details of the: 
a) Layout of the site 
b) Scale of the buildings 

115

Agenda Item 13



c) External appearance of the buildings 
d) Landscaping of the site 
[hereafter called "the reserved matters"] have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The reserved 
matters shall be in general accordance with the following approved 
parameter plans:
Land Use (251898_PL_011 Rev 4); Building Heights (251898_PL_012 
Rev 4); Hydrology (251898_PL_013 Rev 5); Access and Movement 
(251898_PL_014 Rev 4); Landscape and Ecology (251898_PL_015 
Rev 8); and Densities (251898_PL_016 Rev 3). 
Application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made 
within two years of the date of this permission. The development shall 
accord with the approved details. Reason: To comply with Section 92 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3. Upon submission of the first reserved matters application and any 
subsequent applications, a supporting statement shall be provided 
demonstrating how the detailed design of the scheme responds to the 
principles set out in the Design Principles, November 2018, Post 
Submission Issue 2.  Reason: To ensure delivery of high quality 
development.

4. The development must accord with the parameter plans and Design 
Principles, unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure high quality development.

5. Upon submission of the first reserved matters application and any 
subsequent applications, a supporting statement shall be provided 
assessing the setting of the Listed Buildings and demonstrating how the 
detailed design has taken account of these heritage assets and 
optimised opportunities to preserve and enhance their setting.  Reason: 
To safeguard the architectural and historic character of the Listed 
Buildings. 

6. Upon submission of the first reserved matters, a Landscape and 
Ecological Protection, Mitigation and Management Strategy shall be 
provided for approval by the Local Planning Authority, in general 
accordance with the approved Landscape and Ecology parameter plan.  
Each phase of the development must demonstrate compliance with this 
strategy through the submission of a landscape and ecology 
management plan and implementation report and the development shall 
not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved 
strategy and details.  The Strategy and Plan shall include:

116



 details of mitigation, enhancement, management and monitoring 
of habitats on and off-site (related to the development) and all 
landscaped areas (except privately owned domestic gardens); 

 details of the extent and type of new planting, to be of native 
species;

 details of maintenance regimes including a SINC management 
plan;

 details of any new habitats created on site;
 details of any new wetlands/SuDS created on site and their 

future management;
 details of the treatment of site boundaries and/or buffers around 

water bodies;
 incorporation of features suitable for use by breeding birds and 

bats;
 details of management responsibilities;
 a timetable for implementation.

The development shall accord with the details set out in the Plan.  
Reason: To ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat 
found on the site and to secure opportunities for the improvement of 
wildlife corridors and wider enhancement of the nature conservation 
value of the site in line with national planning policy.

7. Upon submission of the first reserved matters application, an 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Method Statement, Tree Survey and 
a Protective Fencing Plan has been provided to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval. The development must accord with the approved 
details and to the appropriate British Standard. This condition may only 
be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed development, 
subject to satisfactory written evidence of monitoring and compliance by 
the retained arboricultural consultant during construction. 
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 
important part of the amenity of the locality.

8. No development, excavation or demolition shall commence until a site 
meeting has taken place with the site manager, the retained 
arboricultural consultant and a representative from the Local Planning 
Authority. Work cannot commence until the LPA officer has inspected 
and approved the tree protection, ensuring it conforms to the Tree 
Protection Plan and the Arboricultural Report.  All other aspects of the 
Arboricultural Report will be addressed at this meeting. The tree 
protection shall be retained until the development is completed and 
nothing shall be placed within the fencing, nor shall any ground levels 
be altered or excavations made without the written consent of the Local 

117



Planning Authority. This tree condition may only be fully discharged on 
completion of the development subject to satisfactory written evidence 
of monitoring and compliance by the pre-appointed tree specialist during 
construction.  Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which 
form an important part of the amenity of the locality.

9. No construction or demolition work for the residential development 
phases shall start until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance 
with the approved method statement which shall include: 
a) a programme and phasing of the demolition and construction work, 
including roads, landscaping and open space; 
b) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material and plant storage areas used during demolition and 
construction; 
c) the arrangements for the routing/ turning of lorries and details for 
construction traffic access to the site, including a lorry routing plan; 
d) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works, loading/ unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any 
damage to the highway [including vehicle crossovers and grass verges]; 
e) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by 
demolition and construction, including measures to prevent mud on the 
highway; 
g) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during construction period; 
h) temporary lighting; 
i) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
j) safeguards for fuel and chemical storage and use, to ensure no 
pollution of the surface water leaving the site; 
k) diagrammatic and written details of construction drainage containing 
three forms of temporary filtration;
l) measures to offset construction impacts on protected species and 
sites, including protective fencing for ecological areas.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the 
locality.

10. No construction or deliveries to the site except between the hours of  
0800 to 1800 Monday to Friday, 0900 to 1300 on Saturday, and at no 
other time on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays. Reason: To limit the 
impact the development has on the amenity of the locality.

118



11. No construction or demolition shall take place until details of the 
measures to protect the public foul rising mains, sewers and water 
mains located within the site have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason:  In the interests of protecting the public sewers.

12. No construction or demolition shall take place until a noise and vibration 
assessment of the demolition and construction activities shall be carried 
out, and a scheme of works detailing the mitigation measures to control 
noise and vibration from the development, including piling, shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the LPA. The scheme shall 
detail the mitigation measures for protecting existing and proposed 
dwellings from noise and vibration. The assessment should have due 
regard to the advice and guidance contained in British Standard 
BS5228:2009 (A1 2014) “Noise And Vibration Control On Construction 
And Open Sites”. Reason: To protect the amenities of occupiers of any 
nearby premises and minimise the risk of vibration damage to 
neighbouring buildings.

13. No construction, demolition, or site clearance shall begin until the 
developer has carried out a dust assessment, and prepared a scheme 
of works to deal with dust from the site that adequately takes into 
account the impact of site preparation and construction works, on 
existing and proposed dwellings, has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall detail the 
mitigation measures for protecting existing and proposed dwellings from 
dust and should take account of the Institute of Air Quality Management 
guidance, ‘Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and 
construction sites’.  Reason: To protect the amenities of occupiers of 
any nearby premises from dust.

14. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source 
shall take place on this site during the demolition, construction and 
fitting out process without the prior written permission of the Local 
Planning Authority.  Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers 
of nearby properties. 

15. No vegetation clearance shall occur on site during the bird nesting 
season [between 1st March & 31st August] unless supervised by an 
appropriately qualified ecologist. Reason: To prevent harm to breeding 
birds.

119



16. No development shall take place until the developer has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation and recording which has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Reason: To ensure that the archaeological interest of the site 
is properly safeguarded and recorded.

17. No work shall commence on site until the following has been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
a.) a report of preliminary investigation comprising a Desk Study, 
Conceptual Site Model, and Preliminary Risk Assessment documenting 
previous and existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in 
accordance with national guidance and as set out in Contaminated Land 
Report Nos. 11, CLR11, and BS10175:2011 Investigation of potentially 
contaminated sites - Code of Practice, and, unless otherwise agreed 
with the LPA;
b.) a report of a site investigation documenting the ground conditions of 
the site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as 
appropriate by the Preliminary Investigation and in accordance with 
BS10175:2011, and BS 8576:2013; and unless otherwise agreed with 
the LPA;
c.) a detailed site specific scheme for remedial works and measures to 
be undertaken to avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when 
the site is developed and proposals for future maintenance and 
monitoring.
Such a scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to 
oversee the implementation of the works.  Reason: To minimise the risk 
from land contamination for public safety.

18. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until there has 
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification by the 
competent person approved under the provisions of condition 17(c) that 
any remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of 
condition 17(c) has been implemented fully in accordance with the 
approved details (unless varied with the written permission of the LPA in 
advance of implementation).
Unless agreed in writing with the LPA such verification shall comply 
with the guidance contained in CLR11 and EA Guidance for the Safe 
Development of Housing on Land Affected by Contamination - R&D 
Publication 66: 2008. Typically such a report would comprise:
a.) a description of the site and its background, and summary of 
relevant site information,
b.) a description of the remediation objectives and remedial works 
carried out

120



c.) verification data, including - data (sample locations/analytical results, 
as built drawings of the implemented scheme, photographs of the 
remediation works in progress, etc.
d.) Certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in situ 
is free from contamination, gas / vapour membranes have been 
installed correctly.
Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in 
accordance with the scheme approved under condition 17(c).  
Reason: To minimise the risk from land contamination for public safety.

19. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the 
development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed. Surface water run-off should be controlled 
as near to its source as possible through a sustainable drainage 
approach to surface water management (SuDS). The drainage system 
should be designed to accommodate surface water runoff according to 
the following criteria:
i) The surface water drainage system must be designed to control 
runoff and prevent flooding of property in up to a 1 in 100 year storm 
event, plus an allowance for an increase in storm intensity with climate 
change in line with National Planning Policy Framework. In line with 
CIRIA C635 "Designing for Exceedence in Urban Drainage", events 
under the 1 in 30 year return period should be contained within the 
system, while short-term surface flooding in events in exceedance of 
the 1 in 30 year return period is acceptable, so long as this can be 
safely stored without risk to people;
ii) The rate at which surface water is discharged from the site may vary 
with the severity of the storm event but should be no greater than the 
undeveloped rate of runoff for a given event;
iii) The drainage arrangement should also be such that the volumes of 
surface water leaving the site are no greater than that at pre-
development. Long-term storage may be required to control any 
additional surface water volumes generated;
iv) Surface water discharges to watercourses must not exceed a 
velocity of 1 m/s;
v) The development should achieve nutrient neutrality.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage from the development and to 
ensure no impact on the Solent Complex from pollution or changes in 
flow within the operational phase.

121



20. No development shall commence until details of the SUDS have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Details 
must comply with Advice Note 3: https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf. The 
submitted Plan shall include details of:

• Profiles and dimensions of water bodies
• Details of marginal planting

Careful consideration should be given to the increased carrying 
capacity for feral geese within the aerodrome vicinity and a summary of 
suggestions for SUDS sites/feral geese are shown below:

• No islands
• 1m fringe of common reed phragmites australis
• Steep sided banks into the water
• Signs discouraging feeding of birds

No subsequent alterations to the approved SUDS scheme are to take 
place unless first submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  The 
scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe movement of aircraft and the 
operation of Southampton Airport through the attraction of Birds and an 
increase in the bird hazard risk of the application site.  

Note to Applicant: For further information please refer to Advice Note 1 
and 3 https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-
Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf and https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-1-Aerodrome-Safeguarding-An-
Overview-2016.pdf. 

21. No development shall commence until a Bird Hazard Management Plan 
has been submitted and approved in writing by the LPA.  The submitted 
plan shall include details of:

• Monitoring and management of the SUDS system to 
ensure that there is a zero tolerance to nesting feral geese.
• Monitoring and management of the site to ensure there is 
a zero tolerance to nesting gulls.  This should include the 
management of any flat/shallow pitched roofs on buildings within 
the site which may be attractive to nesting, roosting and ‘loafing’ 
birds.

The Bird Hazard Management Plan should comply with advice note 3 
(https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-
Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf). The Bird Hazard Management Plan shall be 
implemented as approved, on completion of the development and shall 
remain in force for the life of the development.  No subsequent 
alterations to the plan are to take place unless first submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA.

122

https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-1-Aerodrome-Safeguarding-An-Overview-2016.pdf
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-1-Aerodrome-Safeguarding-An-Overview-2016.pdf
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-1-Aerodrome-Safeguarding-An-Overview-2016.pdf
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf


Reason: It is necessary to manage the development in order to 
minimise its attractiveness to birds which could endanger the safe 
movement of aircraft and the operation of Southampton Airport.

22. Prior to the commencement of development, details of the highway 
works have been submitted to the County Council, including relocation 
of the bus stop; and no part of the development shall be occupied until 
the highway works as shown in principle on drawing 251898_CH_06 
Issue 2 and 251898_CH_15 Issue 01 have been constructed, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: In 
the interests of highway safety. 

23. Prior to commencement of the development, a drainage strategy 
detailing the proposed means of foul water sewerage disposal and an 
implementation timetable shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall accord with the 
approved details and timetable.  No occupations shall take place until it 
has been demonstrated that there is capacity available for the number 
of properties to be connected.  Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision 
of foul and surface water drainage and protect biodiversity.

24. Prior to commencement of each phase of development, the following 
details for each phase been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The details must be in accordance with the 
Design Principles as set out in Condition 3 (as applicable): 
a) Details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces of the development;
b) Details of rainwater goods;
c) Details and location of meter boxes;
d) Colours and materials for fascias and soffits;
e) Balcony details (if applicable);
f) Details of chimneys;
g) Street trees;
h) Window design and detail;
i) Any green roofs;
j) The alignment, height and materials of all walls, fences and other 
means of enclosure; 
k) Width, alignment, gradient, sight lines and type of construction 
proposed for any footpaths and accesses; 
l) Plans including cross sections to show proposed ground levels and 
their relationship to existing levels both within the site and on 
immediately adjoining land; 
m) Details for ongoing management and maintenance of any roads, 
footpaths and accesses including any future plans for adoption;

123



n) The provision to be made for street lighting and/or external lighting. 
Lighting shall be designed to comply with the advice and guidance of 
the Institute of Lighting Professional, ILP, publication ‘Guidance Notes 
for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011’; and located to 
minimise light spillage and avoid impacting on flight corridors used by 
bats;
o) The provision to be made for the parking of vehicles;
p) Provision of bin and cycle storage.
The development shall not be occupied until the approved details have 
been fully implemented unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: To ensure high quality design and limit the impact the 
development has on the locality.

25. Prior to commencement of each phase of development, plans and 
particulars of the internal road layout, to be designed to an adoptable 
standard, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  Development shall accord with the approved plans.  
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety.

26. Prior to the commencement of each phase of development, details of a 
technology and communication strategy for the provision of broadband, 
fibre optic and audio visual technology within that phase must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The infrastructure must then be provided for use upon first occupation of 
the buildings hereby permitted within that phase and retained thereafter.
Reason: To improve the opportunities to work from home and to reduce 
the proliferation of individual masts, aerials, satellite dishes and wiring 
on flatted blocks in the interests of visual amenity.

27. No development shall start until a detailed landscaping scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall cover all hard & soft landscaping [including 
trees and boundary treatment] and shall provide details of timings for all 
landscaping and any future maintenance. The works shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved plans and to the appropriate British 
Standard. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents.

28. All hard & soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatment shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the 
appropriate British Standard. For a period of 5 years after planting, any 
trees or plants which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or 

124



defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with 
others of the same species, size and number as originally approved in 
the landscaping scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents.

29. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a 
detailed noise mitigation scheme to address noise arising from existing 
and future traffic on Winchester Street and the Botley Bypass shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The standards to be achieved shall be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the submission of the noise mitigation 
scheme. The noise mitigation measures, as approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, shall be fully installed and verified as 
performing as required prior to the first occupation of each dwelling unit, 
and shall thereafter retained. Reason: In the interests of residential 
amenity.

30. Prior to the commencement of development a mineral recovery plan for 
the management of sand and gravel resource recovered incidentally 
from excavation work throughout the construction phase of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The mineral recovery plan shall include details of 
methods for ensuring that all viable minerals excavated during the 
construction phase are put to beneficial use on site as part of the 
development. A method to record the recovery of minerals shall also be 
included within the plan. Records of the amount of recovered material 
shall be made available to the Minerals Planning Authority. The 
development must accord with these approved details.  Reason: To 
satisfy Policy 15: Safeguarding – Minerals Resources of the Adopted 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013.

31. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the 
parking areas including the garages and unallocated visitor spaces have 
been provided in accordance with the approved plans and thereafter 
permanently retained and used only for the purposes of accommodating 
bicycles and private motor vehicles incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwelling house as a residence. 
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety and to ensure adequate provision of on-site facilities.

32. Prior to the commencement of each residential phase of the 
development hereby approved (or in accordance with a timetable to be 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority) other than for the 

125



access works a BREEAM Communities final certificate at Excellent level 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in respect of that phase.
Reason: To demonstrate the required compliance with BREEAM 
Communities Excellent standard.

33. Before two years from the final occupation of each residential phase, a 
post occupancy evaluation report detailing compliance with BREEAM 
Communities Excellent must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, the parameters of which must be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority prior to submission. Reason: To 
ensure compliance to the required BREEAM Communities standard.

34. Prior to the occupation of any building within each individual phase of 
the development (or, in accordance with a timetable to be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: As 
built stage SAP data and as built stage water calculator confirming 
energy efficiency and the predicted internal mains water consumption to 
achieve:
 In respect of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% improvement of 

dwelling emission rate over the target emission rate as set in the 
2013 Building Regulations

 In respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted internal 
mains water consumption of 105 litres/ person/ day. 

Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design 
across the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government’s 
Ministerial Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local 
Planning Authorities should, from the date of its publication, take into 
account the government’s intentions in the statement “and not set 
conditions with requirements above a Code level 4 equivalent” for 
residential development. To ensure the non-residential elements of the 
development meet the relevant essential requirements of the adopted 
Environmentally Sustainable Development Supplementary Planning 
Document.

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes 
a positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to 
achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all 
proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.

Note to Applicant: Given the nature of the development, it is possible 
that a crane may be required during its construction. The applicant’s 

126



attention is therefore drawn to the requirement within the British 
Standard ‘Code of practice for safe use of cranes’ for crane operators to 
consult the aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to an 
aerodrome. This is explained further in Advice Note 4, ‘Crane and Other 
Construction Issues’, available at http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf.

Note to Applicant: A formal application for connection to the water 
supply is required in order to service this development.  Please contact 
Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, 
Hampshire, SO21 2SW (Tel. 0330 303 0119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk.

______________________________________________________________

Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 
development which is a departure from the adopted Development Plan 
and of significant public interest.  

2. It is one of two applications submitted by the applicant for consideration; 
the other comprising a hybrid application for a secondary school and 
residential development at land to west of Woodhouse Lane 
(O/18/83634).  This site is considered separately and on its own merits; 
however where there are matters that link the two sites, these are noted 
as such in this report.

The Site and Its Surroundings

3. The site is located to the north east of Botley and sits partially behind 
existing residential development along the northern side of Winchester 
Street. It is currently agricultural land used for cattle grazing and 
occupied by Uplands Farm, which contains a cluster of listed farm 
buildings, four modern farm buildings and operates as a dairy holding. 

4. It is bound by residential properties on Winchester Street and the village 
of Botley to its south; and the Fareham to Eastleigh railway line to its 
north, beyond which are agricultural fields.  The River Hamble lies to its 
east with the Botley Mill Woodland SINC and River Hamble corridor 
forming the site’s eastern boundary and providing a natural buffer 
between the site and the Bottings Industrial Estate.  The site’s western 
boundary is formed by a small yard, field and a mix of small dwelling 
and workshop units beyond, located in a triangular land parcel between 
Winchester Street and Boorley Green.  The Botley Conservation Area is 
located at the site’s eastern boundary incorporating the river corridor in 
this locality and contains a number of Listed Buildings along Winchester 
Street and within the village.

127

http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf


5. Access to the site is achieved from Winchester Street via an access 
track into allotments, a field gate at the north of the Site and principally 
via a private road to the Uplands Farmstead and Newhouse Farm 
beyond on the northern side of the railway line.  The B3354 Winchester 
Street currently acts as one of the main through routes from Botley to 
Hedge End and Boorley Green.

6. The site area equates to approximately 21.5 hectares and is mainly 
owned by Hampshire County Council; however a portion of the site is 
owned by a mix of third party landowners who have their land under 
option with HCC to enable the comprehensive development of the site.  
A portion of the land to the south of the Listed farm buildings, formerly 
used as a garden nursery (Uplands Nursery) is excluded from the 
application at the owners choice.  The Listed buildings, while owned by 
HCC, are also excluded from this current application and will be the 
subject of a later planning and Listed Building application.   

7. The site is designated Countryside and approximately a third falls within 
the Local Gap separating Botley, Hedge End and Boorley Green.  In 
addition, part of the site is also safeguarded to facilitate delivery of the 
Botley Bypass.  Consent was granted by HCC on the 22nd November 
2017 for the bypass (reference CS/17/81226) which will occupy the 
western and northern periphery of this site. 

8. In addition to the bypass constraint, a 132kV overhead power line 
crosses the site from east to west and a 33kV overhead power line 
crosses north to south. A Public Right of Way (PRoW) (route no.3) also 
traverses the site from Winchester Street to open countryside to the 
north via an underpass beneath the railway line. An existing 
underground easement for an intermediate pressure gas pipeline is 
located to the north of the site; immediately south of the railway line 
there is a water main; and a trunk main sewer is located adjacent to the 
site’s western boundary along Winchester Street.

9. The topography for the site is uneven with the Uplands Farm buildings 
located at the highest point and the remainder of the land falling away 
towards the eastern and western boundaries.

10. The site is located fairly close to Botley High Street where there are a 
range of local facilities.  It is also possible to walk to Botley train station 
within approximately 20 minutes (approx. 1.6km).

Description of Application

11. The application comprises an outline application with the access as the 
only detailed matter for which permission is sought.  The only matters 
for consideration therefore are the principle of development, the 
quantum of development; and the detailed matter of access to the site.  
Matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale would be 
considered as part of a reserved matters application at a later date.   

128



It seeks permission for:
 The erection of up to 375 no. dwellings, public open space, allotments 

and community orchard, drainage, landscaping, other supporting 
infrastructure and mitigation measures associated with the 
development; and

 2 no. new accesses onto Winchester Street, associated on-site roads, 
and footpaths/cycleways. 

12. The application is accompanied by a Location Plan, Illustrative 
Masterplan and parameter plans, together with a Connections Plan.  In 
addition, the following reports and technical assessments have been 
provided which have been updated as necessary throughout the course 
of the application:
 

 Arboricultural Statement;
 Delivery Strategy;
 Design and Access Statement (including Open Space Assessment, 

Parking Provision Details and Public Art Statement);
 Environmental Statement (including Outline Construction and 

Environment Management Plan);
 Flood Risk Assessment (including Drainage Strategy, Foul Sewerage 

Statement and SUDS Statement);
 Planning Statement (including Affordable Housing Statement, Mineral 

Statement, Planning Obligations - Heads of Terms, and Utilities 
Statement);

 Site Survey;
 Statement of Community Involvement;
 Sustainability Report; and
 Transport Assessment (including Framework Travel Plan).

13. A number of the technical assessments, including the Environmental 
Statement and the Transport Assessment have been prepared to 
assess the impacts of both this site and the Woodhouse Lane site.

Environmental Impact Assessment 

14. This is a Schedule 2 EIA development and significantly above the 
indicative screening thresholds advised by the NPPG. The proposal has 
been screened and scoped under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 2017 as 
needing an Environmental Statement and subsequent Environmental 
Impact Assessment. The maximum parameters tested by the 
Environmental Statement are those identified by the parameter plans.

Habitat Regulations Assessment  

15. The proposal has been screened under the UK Habitats Regulations 
and has the potential to impact Natura 2000 sites.  An Appropriate 

129



Assessment (AA) has therefore been undertaken by the Council as the 
Appropriate Authority to assess whether the proposals are likely to have 
a significant (adverse) impact on these protected sites. The assessment 
has been submitted to Natural England for comment and an update 
provided for Members at committee.

Relevant planning history

16. As mentioned above, in November 2017, HCC granted planning 
permission for (ref. CS/17/81226): 

17. ‘Proposed construction of a Bypass for Botley providing connection from 
Station Hill (A344/A3051 junction) to Woodhouse Lane together with 
associated improvement/enabling works to Woodhouse Lane.’

Representations received

18. Twenty letters of representation have been received from 19 properties 
(one duplicate) of which 18 are objections.  These raised a number of 
matters, as summarised below: 

19. Transport and Parking:
 Additional dwellings and junction onto Winchester Street will undermine 

the promised benefits of bypass;
 Additional HGV traffic flow, traffic congestion, temporary road closures, 

further traffic light restrictions;
 Suitability of access serving the development including proximity to bus 

stop;
 Traffic congestion onto M27;
 No viable cycling routes through Winchester Street or Botley;
 Increased traffic through Botley village impact on highway safety, cycle 

safety and amenity; 
 Concerned Holmesland Drive will become cut through;
 Parking only meets minimum requirements, concerned will increase 

parking on Winchester Street;
 Widening pavements and traffic lights on bridge hazard and frustration;
 Why no access onto bypass?
 Encourages use of railway bridge and will expose children to 

unacceptable levels of air quality and traffic danger; 
 Additional bridge over railway line for vehicles, and if not, must be 

useable for walkers/ bikers/ pushchairs/ scooters;
 Safety and health concerns for those using the bridge, particularly for 

those young persons, mothers and babies traversing from Boorley 
Green toward the schools passing the stalled/queuing traffic each side 
of the bridge;

 Reserved parking for occupiers of the garage-less houses opposite the 
fire station should be created in the allotment area north of the fire-
station, with further spaces for visiting public.  

130



20. Local Services and Infrastructure:
 Impact on doctors and schools;
 Should secure a pedestrian crossing outside the recreation park and 

speed cameras by the school;
 No proposal to upgrade water supply which experiences low pressure 

at times;
 Sewerage system inadequate and backs up sometimes;
 Is there provision for more public transport to service all these new 

houses?
 Woodhouse Lane pavement, on the n/w side only, in parts a bare metre 

wide.

21. Ecology:
 Loss of fields mean loss of habitat and feeding grounds for wildlife;
 Loss of valuable habitat for bats hunting and feral cats.

22. Environment:
 Unsympathetic to the immediate area, especially for those residents 

living in Winchester Street and the surrounding roads;
 Loss of green space for residents to walk;
 Height of proposed buildings contravene planning policy and will be 

visually dominant;
 Impact on air pollution;
 Loss of Hedge End Greenbelt;
 Development could exacerbate flooding issues in Winchester Street 

and nearby properties; 
 With re-routed traffic and additional traffic, think air quality issue will 

move rather than be improved by bypass;
 Gap between Boorley Green and Woodhouse Lane not sufficient to 

maintain local gap and community separation;
 Suggest that access for emergency vehicles would be a problem.

23. Land-use:
 Loss of quality farmland;
 Current allotments meet need;
 Higher percentage of bungalows should be considered;
 The site has a major water main going through it;
 Part of the site is crossed by high voltage cables suspended from 

pylons.

24. Amenity:
 Design, appearance, layout not as expected – no consideration to 

outlook and impact on existing properties and their countryside setting;
 Overlooking and loss of privacy including to Winchester Street 

properties;
 Noise and dust during construction;
 No buffer or green space shown to prevent immediate building impact 

to existing views and space;

131



 Increased pollution impacting on health;
 3 storey properties would be built directly behind property;
 Relocate the allotments to run along the side of house and the rear of 

the properties to alleviate concern of loss of privacy.

General Matters:
 Disproportionate amount of planning/development occurring in locality;
 Overdevelopment and use of 3 storey buildings creating town 

environment;
 Character of village ruined by overdevelopment;
 'Design, layout or appearance' is not in keeping with the local village 

environment;
 Unsustainable;
 Botley will become suburb of Hedge End;
 Botley does not need further housing due to already granted schemes;
 Botley centre not a local centre which provides shops that need 

sustaining;
 Building on this site is not on the development plan and does not 

benefit the Botley community;
 Few starter homes, and few for the end of life making it impossible for 

families to grow, mature and conclude their lives in the village;
 Botley badly needs cemetery;
 Clear pedestrian access to Botley Station should be provided;
 Development contrary Lord Chancellor ruling in 1990, that the strategic 

gap between Botley and Boorley Green started at fence. 

25. Other Matters:
 Causing emotional impact on residents;
 Magnitude with all of the other developments going on in the area at the 

same time;
 Understand more housing needed, but must be done thoughtfully;
 Should be building on brownfield sites;
 How will green boundary at end of property be maintained after built?
 Concerning that EBC and HCC bringing application forward of local 

plan review;
 During Botley Neighbourhood Plan (NP) consultation, no support for 

further housing and urbanisation; is a view that NP was deliberately 
derailed as NP may have opposed the developments;

 Application consultation flawed, residents feel totally ignored, objection 
futile;

 As the by-pass has to be build first there are no plans in the 
foreseeable future to build the new housing which means the existing 
housing will be blighted for a number of years to come.

26. Non-Material Planning Considerations:
(The following matters were raised but do not constitute material 
planning matters and therefore cannot be taken into account.)

 Devaluation of property;

132



 Removes views of open countryside for properties including those 
along northern side of Winchester Street;

 Community should have the right to know true cost of bypass.

27. 1 letter supports that scheme commenting that the proposal was 
sustainable development and would be an asset to Botley.  

28. One letter is neutral, commenting that there should be provision of 
footpath/cycleway to train station; vehicle access to rear of properties 
along Winchester Street should be protected; sensitive ecology/habitats 
by new bridge should be protected; the design of new bridge should 
enhance local environment; the design of houses should complement 
existing older Botley properties; and new trees should be cared for so 
they don’t die.

29. Representations have also been received from University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust, summarised below:

30. University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) is 
currently operating at full capacity in the provision of acute and planned 
healthcare.  Although the Trust has plans to cater for the known 
population growth, it cannot plan for unanticipated additional growth in 
the short to medium term.  In order to enable the Trust to provide 
services needed by the occupants of the new development, a financial 
contribution is required.  The development directly affects the ability to 
provide the health service required to those who live in the development 
and the community at large.  Without the contribution, the development 
is not sustainable and should be refused. 

31. Following the submission of amendments to the scheme, a further 
round of consultation was undertaken.  Two representations were 
subsequently received.  One representation supported the 
amendments, particularly those related to the Botley to Bishops 
Waltham bridleway.  The second representation raised concerns related 
to: 

 It is neither democratic or in the interests of the borough residents that 
EBC fail to provide a Local Plan (known to be required for at least 9 
years) but push ahead with site allocation without the sites being tested 
for soundness by an Independent Inspector;

 The 650 dwellings granted at appeal at Boorley Gardens should 
substitute for those at Woodhouse Lane;

 Community should have  been told the cost of the bypass would be 
another 1000 dwellings;

 Although revised application no longer includes traffic lights on railway 
bridge, the widening of the footpath will prevent two large lorries 
passing and create similar issues to those on Mill Hill which are 
deemed unacceptable;

 Additional noise reduction and safety measures required to protect 
residents close to bridge;

133



 This area will remove one of the last working farms in the area and is 
on high ground in places which will be visible to the whole area - a blot 
on the landscape;

 The argument that more houses are needed to maintain the viability of 
Botley School, seems strange. Boorley Green children have attended 
Botley school for centuries, as a result it should not be necessary to 
build two primary schools at Boorley Green and instead the children at 
Boorley Fields could attend Botley school to maintain its viability.

Consultation responses (Summarised)

32. The consultation responses that have been received in relation to this 
application have been summarised below.

Environmental Health Specialist:

33. No objection in principle, subject to conditions.  The proposed 
residential dwellings will be adjacent to the Botley Bypass and close to 
Winchester Road.  This will result in noise impacts from road traffic on 
the development. Existing residential development will be impacted by 
noise and air pollution arising from the traffic generated by this 
development. Given the existing and former uses of this development 
site land contamination impacts are probable. 

34. With respect to the information supplied we have the following 
comments to make:

35. Land contamination:
Given the potential for land contamination to be present on site and 
sensitive nature of the proposed end uses, housing and allotments, the 
application should be conditioned to require a site investigation and any 
requirements for remedial measures are approved prior to their 
commencement and are suitably validated.

36. Noise:
The assessment of noise impacts provided concludes that residential 
development can be provided on site, however this is achieved by 
exceeding the external noise levels included in the Local Plan. As this is 
an outline application we would recommend that the final layout and 
internal arrangement of dwellings is agreed with the council on the 
basis of agreed noise impact assessment and modelling information. 
Further we would recommend that an acoustic design process is 
followed to ensure that noise impacts on dwellings and other noise 
sensitive uses in minimised.

37. Air Quality:
The report supplied by the applicant has considered the impact of 
nitrogen dioxide and PM10 generated by the traffic generated by the 
development on the existing road network. In these respects it advises 
that there will be a small negative impact on some receptors.  We need 

134



to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to ensure that increases in 
air pollutant arising from the developments are minimised and that the 
applicant contributes to the Councils work to reduce levels of air 
pollution as soon as possible.  On this basis we would recommend that 
the development should contribute to support our work to manage air 
pollution in the Botley Air Quality Management Area.

38. The assessment of construction impacts has identified the need for a 
detailed management scheme to control air pollution impacts. The 
broad principles outlined are accepted and conditions recommended.  

39. Light:
Condition is recommended to secure a lighting scheme for the 
development.

Ecology Specialist:

40. Overall an improved green network than the Woodhouse Lane site, but 
it is not clear if these links are continuous. The landscape plan needs to 
clearly show the final green networks and more detail on the “proposed 
amenity space”. Some of these areas need to be managed for 
biodiversity to ensure the continuation of wildlife corridors. Sections of 
hedgerow are being lost at this site for access roads and some 
trees/scrub removed have not been recorded in the Biodiversity 
calculations.

41. The perimeter planting needs to be stronger than currently proposed 
and its retention guaranteed, not forming part of private gardens as 
currently proposed.

42. If off-site enhancement of the “middle site” reflects the tables in the 
biodiversity calculations (in ES Vol 2, App C), more of the area should 
be devoted to planting to favour ecology (e.g. wildflower areas as 
opposed to amenity grassland).

43. A detailed CEMP will be required as a condition and include details of 
fencing to be erected prior to construction to protect habitats to be 
retained.

44. Ecological Mitigation and Management Plan (EcMMP) – this will need to 
be conditioned to provide specific mitigation, enhancements, 
management and monitoring of habitats on and off-site. This should 
also include a SINC management plan. This should include the 
preclusion of light spill from the development into habitats.

45. Details of SuDS used on the site will need to be submitted to and 
approved by the Council prior to construction.

46. There are several outfalls proposed (outline drainage strategy ES vol 1 
App F2) at the stream which runs through the SINC. Outfalls should be 

135



kept to a minimum as they result in a loss of natural bank and 
associated habitat and provide more fixed points in the channel which 
will need to be preserved (potentially through periodic bank engineering/ 
reinforcement) thus restricting the natural processes and movement of 
the channel which would be otherwise unrestricted within the SINC.  
The number of outfalls needs to be minimised. Any loss of habitat as a 
result of drainage works and outfalls will need to be quantified and 
mitigated/ compensated.

47. There are some good aspects of the proposed SuDS scheme for the 
whole site. However there appear to be too many pipes and tanks 
between the features and finally the water is piped to an outfall at the 
stream. This over engineering is not maximising the biodiversity value or 
sustainability of the system and should be revised.

48. Further information has been submitted to respond to these matters and 
revised comments are awaited.  Members will be updated at committee.

Tree Services Specialist:

49. The provided arboricultural document is a constraints statement, only. It 
does not aid with planning decision making, in this instance, because it 
is not an impact assessment in relation to the access arrangements. 
However, the illustrative master plan does appear to show retention of 
the majority of trees and this should not be particularly difficult given the 
amount of tree-free area within the red line area.

50. In terms of the two new access points, only, it appears that they will 
punch through existing hedgerows, with no significant trees present. If 
that is the case, no objection is raised to the access proposals.

51. At reserved matters, we would expect to see an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment - to assess the conflicts between the proposed 
development and the trees impact of proposed works - and an 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan.

Housing Enabling Specialist:

52. This site would be a qualifying site for affordable housing provision and 
in line with our adopted Affordable Housing SPD would need to provide 
35%, which on the basis of the maximum 375 units overall, would 
equate to 131 affordable homes, tenure split to 65% affordable rent (85 
homes) and 35% shared ownership (46 homes). 

53. The affordable housing mix is to be broadly reflective of the total 
housing being provided on the site once agreed and, due to the Welfare 
Reform Act, this site should deliver a small number of 1 bedroom units 
and would suggest a total of 7No. 1 bedroom affordable units for rent, 
not all provided by way of a single block of flats.

136



54. The affordable 2 bedroom accommodation should house 4 persons and 
the 3 bedroom homes a mix of 5 and 6 persons to meet the needs of 
those applicants awaiting housing from our housing register.  

55. All the affordable dwellings must be built to Lifetime Homes Standards 
in line with our Affordable Housing SPD and 3% of the affordable homes 
to be built to Wheelchair Accessible Standards (homes that are 
designed specifically for wheelchair users to live in). These units are to 
be a minimum of 2 bedroom ground floor accommodation, ideally with 
their own entrance doors and an element of these units included within 
each phase to meet the overall provision. These homes would be made 
available to applicants from our housing register and would not be age 
restricted. 

56. If there was an opportunity for some bungalow provision we would 
welcome a dialogue to secure some provision for affordable housing to 
meet the needs of larger family households that require ground floor 
accommodation.    

57. I note from the accompanying information there is reference to 5No 
Specialist Adaptive Homes I would welcome further detail as to what 
this provision is - from the phasing information I note that it sits within 
the same phase as the proposed age restricted retirement apartments. 

58. The affordable units should be pepper-potted throughout the 
development in clusters of no more than 10-15 units and if developed in 
phases we would ideally wish to see each phase delivering 35% 
affordable.

Planning Policy Specialist:

59. This response considers the consistency of the application with the 
emerging Local Plan. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (June 2018) 
was submitted to the Secretary of State on 31st October 2018 with the 
dates of the hearing sessions yet to be decided.   

60. The Local Plan includes site allocation BO2, Land west of Uplands 
Farm, Botley that sets out the policy for the application site. This 
allocation is for 300-375 dwellings; land for the Botley by-pass; 
approximately 6,000 sqm employment floorspace; and public open 
space. The policy sets out detailed criteria on the requirements for the 
development and also includes the requirement for a masterplan 
covering the whole site. The Local Plan allocation is largely based on 
the Revised Pre-Submission Draft 2011-2029 Local Plan. 

61. The Local Plan policy S4 identifies an employment floorspace need and 
sets out a variety of sources of supply. In order to meet this need, the 
Local Plan identifies new small scale allocations such as the application 
site. This is in addition to safeguarding existing employment sites and 
delivering permitted development. This is set out in the Local Plan 

137



Employment Background Paper and the Employment Needs 
Assessment Update report (GL Hearn). 

62. While it is welcomed that the residential development proposed is at the 
higher level of the indicative range set out in policy BO2, the outline 
application does not include any employment floorspace within the site. 
Supporting information explains the reasons for this including the 
reduction in land since the draft allocation, the lack of direct access to 
Botley bypass and uncertainty about the potential to underground power 
lines crossing part of the site. It also notes the potential for small scale 
employment uses within existing farm buildings and their curtilage. 

63. The supporting information highlights uncertainties that have 
implications for the provision of employment floorspace. In accordance 
with the emerging policy BO2, the development proposal should include 
employment floorspace. To justify a departure from this policy, it should 
be clearly demonstrated why compliance is not possible or viable or 
how an alternative to on-site provision can effectively support 
employment in the local area.

Economic Development Specialist:

64. No comments received.

Health Specialist:

65. No comments received.

Property Services:

66. No comments received.

Urban Design Specialist:

67. Whist the Indicative masterplan has been amended to show a denser 
red line at “17” for the public right of way, it would be helpful at this 
stage to gain a view from HCC as to what their vision for Botley Centre 
is with particular reference to the highway environment, and Winchester 
street in particular. As stated in my earlier consultation the construction 
of the Botley by-pass presents an opportunity for the establishment of 
well- functioning walking/cycling infrastructure providing strong 
connections to the village centre. Whilst I appreciate that this lies 
beyond the red line HCC are well placed to affect a comprehensive 
approach.

 Green infrastructure truncated by estate roads – does not appear that 
this detail has been addressed – although more the remit of EBC 
Ecologist.

138



 Width/construction guidance could be shown in the Design Principles 
document.  

 Amendment provided at POS (point 10) reducing the amount of hard 
surfacing, providing a more informal ambiance to the space.

 The other points raised as markers in the previous response  i.e. 
BREEAM communities/reference to design code and integration of 
public art are within the control of the LPA. 

68. Overall response remains no objection.

Landscape Specialist:

69. Landscape Parameter Plan: 
It is important that the parameter plans are robust in terms of containing 
all of the positive principles set out in the Design & Access Statement, 
Design Code and indicated in the illustrative masterplan. The landscape 
strategy should also respond to the mitigation identified in the 
Environmental Statement.

70. The illustrative masterplan and Design and Access Statement 
demonstrate a range of landscape Green Infrastructure (GI) typologies 
that make up the proposed landscape framework and setting for the 
development site. Whilst it is understood that the parameter plan should 
refrain from creating restrictions to future design flexibility and 
innovation at detailed stage, it is equally important that the good 
landscape quality demonstrated in the masterplan is embedded into the 
permission at outline stage in order that the principles and standards 
are followed through. Breaking down the broad category of ‘proposed 
amenity space’ into typologies could assist.

71. Some of the landscape mitigation features identified by the LVIA 
process have not been carried through into the Parameter Plan. Whilst it 
is recognised design evolution may result in some features being 
designed out, features could be included within the parameter plan 
without altering the fundamental layout proposals, and would improve 
the GI connectivity throughout the site. 

72. The illustrative masterplan provides for a robust grid/network of linked 
GI throughout the site. This is less well-expressed through the 
Parameter Plan and the plans could bolster the links south west- north 
east across the site. These proposals would then have the layered 
effect of supporting a robust and connected GI network as well as 
maximising the potential for landscape mitigation as identified by the 
conclusions of the ES report. 

73. Two key areas would need further development through masterplanning 
at detailed stage, and need to consider whether a marker should be put 
down in the Design Code at this stage:

139



 Outlook from dwellings overlooking the bund and acoustic fence. 
 The footpath route south of the bunds and fence and north of the 

allotments. 

74. Commentary is also provided on some elements contained within the 
Design Principles.

Direct Services Manager:

75. No comments received.

Built Heritage Consultant:

76. While the proposed access points themselves do not affect heritage 
assets, the increase in traffic is a concern for those assets in 
Winchester Street, The High Street and Mill Hill, particularly no. 8 
Winchester Street which is very close to the road.  During the build it is 
essential that construction traffic is excluded from these streets.

77. With regard to the master plan and the three listed buildings, the 
proposed defining of the site along the back wall of the barn completes 
the ruination of the setting.  It must be accepted that due to housing 
need and this position relative to the village, combined with the need for 
the bypass to reduce stress on the majority of Botley’s listed buildings, 
the farmland setting is almost inevitably going to be lost, however 
pinching the setting this tight is unnecessary.  

78. While the semi-circular ditch did not appear on this tithe map of 1839, it 
has been in place since the mid 1860’s and forms a natural boundary 
around the farmstead creating its setting which itself would be the buffer 
between the new and old and could be the genesis for a layout with 
greater imagination for the proposed housing and having a closer 
affinity to this particular site.  The allotments and orchard might be 
within its scope for example.

HCC Archaeologist:

79. Archaeological remains are known to exist within the site and the site 
does have archaeological potential. On the basis of existing data I 
would not anticipate that archaeological remains will emerge as an 
overriding issue and on that basis it is my opinion that archaeological 
mitigation could be dealt with post determination of this application 
secured by an archaeological condition, or conditions, attached to any 
planning permission which might be issued. The mitigation might be 
addressed in two stages, a preliminary field survey to establish the 
location, extent and character of archaeological remains on the site and 
archaeological investigation of those remains ahead of development. 
The geophysical survey has apparently eliminated the potential for 
substantive archaeological sites. However the existing archaeological 

140



evidence of prehistoric occupation implies sites of a nature that would 
not show up through geophysical survey. Given river side flank included 
within the site any archaeological survey should be sufficient to locate 
such ‘less substantive’ sites.

80. You may wish to secure the archaeological mitigation through a general 
archaeological condition, or consider separate conditions for the distinct 
phases of mitigation, the preliminary archaeological survey, the 
archaeological excavation stage and the post excavation and reporting 
stage.

HCC Highways Development:

81. The highway authority has reviewed the details of this application in the 
wider context of both development sites and the delivery of Botley 
Bypass.  This has required a number of transport scenarios to be 
assessed and the highway authority is satisfied with the robustness of 
the assessment.

82. The concurrent application for Woodhouse Lane forms the initial phase 
of Botley Bypass and provides a new secondary school and associated 
pedestrian and cycle links which relate to the consideration of this 
application.  The Botley Bypass has been granted planning permission.

83. The site is well connected to the local and strategic highway network, 
with the M27, junction 8 being 4km away.  Winchester Street itself is a 
single carriageway road, approximately 6.0m wide.  There is a 7.5 
tonnes weight limit between the junction with the A334 at High 
Street/Mill Hill/Church Lane and approximately 100 metres south east of 
the junction with Holmesland Drive.  

84. The bypass route passes through the Winchester Street site to the north 
of the existing Uplands Farm and parallel to the railway line. However, 
the site is to be served via Winchester Street, with no direct access from 
the site onto the bypass.  

85. The proposed development at the Winchester Street site will be 
provided with two primary vehicular access junctions. Both junctions will 
take the form of priority controlled ‘T’ junctions, connecting with 
Winchester Street. The minor arm of each junction will connect with the 
internal road network of the site and will also be provided with a 
pedestrian refuge island to support pedestrian movements along the 
northern side of Winchester Street. 

86. The access arrangements are to be implemented prior to occupation of 
the residential development.

87. The Highway Authority undertook an audit of the sustainable 
infrastructure with the Applicant at the pre-application stage.  This 
identifies a number of deficiencies which require improvement within the 

141



existing pedestrian/cycle network surrounding the site which need to be 
addressed including footway widening and recommended speed 
reduction.

88. It is proposed to provide a 3m wide shared footway / cycleway along the 
northern side of Winchester Street for the section of this road that is 
fronted by the application site. The proposed general arrangement for 
Winchester Street takes into account the committed scheme associated 
with Boorley Green, which proposed a reduction in the speed limit for 
the length of Winchester Street to 30mph, and the provision of visual 
traffic calming measures.  In the event that these measures do not 
come forward, then they will need to be incorporated into these 
proposals.  

89. The existing railway bridge on Winchester Road on approach to the 
Woodhouse Lane junction currently includes a footway of insufficient 
width to cater for the increased pedestrian/cycle flows generated by the 
development proposal.  An improvement scheme has therefore been 
submitted to enhance facilities.  Following consultation and feedback on 
the original proposals, an alternative scheme has been developed, 
which results in less disruption to traffic flows, while still improving 
pedestrian and cycle provision across the bridge.  The revised proposal 
retains two-way vehicular flows and provides a footway/cycleway of 2.4-
2.5m, with a margin strip of 0.4m.  This meets the minimum width of 
2.0m for a cycleway, as specified in Manual for Streets.  

90. As the application is outline, it is expected that full details of the internal 
layout will be provided as part of future reserved matters applications.  
The general approach is noted.  The detail of the proposals will need to 
ensure they comply with the standards of the highway authority 
particularly where roads are being offered for adoption. 

91. An existing PRoW crosses through the Winchester Street site.  This 
footpath will be upgraded.

92. Car and cycle parking will be provided in accordance with EBC’s 
Residential Parking Standards. 

93. In relation to bus services, the site is served by existing hourly week-day 
and Saturday services, and 2 hourly Sunday services to Southampton-
Boorley Green.  There are 2 hourly, week-day services between 
Hamble-Eastleigh.  

94. In order to accommodate the proposed eastern access junction, the 
existing bus stop and bus shelter on the northern side of Winchester 
Street will be relocated. It is considered that this relocation would not 
have detrimental impact on the operation of the bus services which use 
this bus stop. 

95. It is acknowledged that the bus service provision in this vicinity is 
evolving, with commitments to improved routing and services to Hedge 

142



End village centre secured under planning permissions for Boorley 
Green/Boorley Gardens.  In addition, the bus enhancements secured as 
part of the North Whiteley development also have the potential to 
provide enhancements within the area.  

96. The site would benefit from improved services, with increased 
frequency, and the highway authority would support a level of service as 
secured in connection with nearby committed development sites.

97. Botley railway station is within 2km of the Winchester Street site and is 
accessible by walking and cycling. 

98. In order to establish the likely residential trip generation of the 
development proposal, an average of the approved trip rates associated 
with the developments at Horton Heath, Boorley Gardens and North 
West Boorley Green has been derived.  This was compared with a 
standard methodology of utilising the most recent version of the TRICS 
database.  This exercise determined that utilising the rates extracted 
from the approved transport assessment is robust.  

99. The resultant forecast residential trip rate is 0.56 during the AM peak 
period and 0.58 during the PM peak period.  This equates to 210 
residential trips during the morning peak hour and 218 trips during the 
evening peak period.  

100. The trips associated with the residential element of the proposed 
development have been distributed upon the highway network utilising 
the sub Regional Transport Model (SRTM) and strategic modelling has 
been carried out to establish where the significant impacts are forecast 
to occur and where these junctions require further assessment.  The 
highway authority is satisfied with the scope of junction modelling 
identified as a result of this assessment.

101. Junction 7 and Junction 8 of the M27 are junctions managed by 
Highway’s England who will be responding directly on these.  The 
highway authority therefore has not reviewed these two junctions.

102. In the context of development of both sites, a single enabling delivery 
strategy has been developed setting out how the various infrastructure 
requirements will be delivered alongside the phasing of the 
development.  This provides the strategy for both of the development 
sites and the Botley Bypass.  

103. The Transport Assessment has provided the basis for agreeing 
appropriate mitigation.  These are as follows:

104. Highway works
 Site access works as set out in drawing number 251898_CH_05 and 

06;

143



 Contribution towards interim improvements at the Homesland 
Lane/A334 Mill Lane junction.

105. Walking and cycling measures
 Delivery of the walking and cycling measures as set out in the 

recommendations section of the Walking and Cycling Review (dated 8 
June 2018), including improvements to the walking route from the site 
to Berrywood Primary School.

106. Public Transport
 A service level agreement to be secured setting out agreed routes and 

frequency of bus services to serve the site.  Agreement to provide 
sufficient flexibility to tailor services around demand during build out of 
the development.

107. Travel Plan
 A framework travel plan is to be secured for the site setting out clear 

aims and objectives for promoting modal choice and a costed action 
plan through which to achieve this.  The framework travel plan, together 
with an appropriate bond and approval and monitoring fees should be 
secured within the Section 106 Agreement.

108. Construction/Phasing
 An outline Construction Environmental Management Plan has been 

submitted in support of the application.  It is noted that a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan detailing construction vehicle routeing will be 
submitted in advanced of the first phase of works.  This should be 
secured through the S106 Agreement.

109. Alongside site specific mitigation as set out in this response, the 
proposals would contribute towards the delivery of Botley Bypass which 
is a significant local strategic highway scheme and a delivery priority for 
the highway authority.

110. Subject to a Section 106 agreement to secure the matters identified in 
the mitigation section above, and a planning condition securing detail of 
internal roads at reserved matters stage, the highway authority raises 
no highway objections to this application.

HCC Childrens Services (Education):

111. No objection, subject to securing financial contributions towards 
expansion projects at Botley CE Primary and Deer Park Secondary 
School in order to mitigate the impact of the development on 
educational infrastructure and ensure that sufficient school places are 
provided to accommodate the additional children expected to be 
generated by the development, including SEND (Special Educational 
Needs and Disability) provision.

144



HCC Minerals and Waste:

112. No objection, subject to condition.

113. Acknowledge the Ground Investigation Report which found that the 
large scale extraction of minerals present at the site would not be viable.  
Encourage full consideration of the opportunities for mineral extraction 
prior and as part of the proposed development.  HCC would therefore 
request conditions regarding a mechanism for incidental recovery and 
recording the quantity of received mineral.

114. Highlight that the proposed development lies adjacent to the 
safeguarded site Botley Rail Aggregates Terminal.  It is noted the EIA 
scoping report acknowledges the nearby location of this safeguarded 
site.  In order to determine any mitigation measures that the proposed 
development may need to undertake, we would encourage direct 
discussions with the operator.

HCC Local Lead Flood Authority:

115. The general principles for the surface water drainage proposals are 
acceptable.  We would recommend that further information on the 
proposals be submitted as part of a more detailed design phase. 
Therefore conditions related to a detailed drainage scheme and 
associated management proposals are recommended.  

HCC Countryside Access:

116. Botley Footpath 3 runs through the development site and is proposed as 
a primary walking route within the development.  The proposals detail 
that the Public Right of Way will be located adjacent to an ecological 
enhancement zone, informal play space and SUDS which we fully 
support, however the eastern edge is proposed to be bounded with a 
road and parking, we recommend that the application be amended and 
that the Public Right of Way is situated within a green corridor away 
from motorised vehicular traffic.  

117. Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 provides that the Public 
Right of Way through the site should be retained and improved in-line 
with the Countryside Service Design Standards.  The expected increase 
in footfall from the development will also necessitate an upgrade to the 
surface of the public right of way, we request that the surfacing and 
ongoing maintenance of the route be established and secured through 
legal agreement.

118. We note that the Access and Movement plan suggests a ‘25m lateral 
tolerance’ in relation to Botley Footpath 3, if the definitive line of the 
public right of way is proposed to be diverted then the application should 
be amended to include the formal diversion of the Public Right of Way.

145



119. Wider Onsite Access Improvements:
The proposals also include other public access provision including a 
network of pedestrian paths, a dedicated footpath / cycleway, and a 
5metre wide cycle/pedestrian route which we fully support.  We request 
that the legal status, proposed surfacing in-line with Hampshire County 
Council (Countryside or Highways design standards), and ongoing 
maintenance of these routes be established and secured through legal 
agreement.

120. Offsite Access Improvements:
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 under Policy S13 
provides the ‘Botley to Bishops Waltham Rail Trail’ as a proposed 
strategic public access link, the route is also identified as a priority 
improvement within the Countryside Access Plan.  We note that the 
Ramblers have objected to the application as this route has not been 
provided as part of the application, and due to the cumulative adverse 
impact the Botley Bypass, Woodhouse Lane and Winchester Street 
developments will have on the Public Rights of Way Network in the 
locality, it is our view that the southern part of this route should be 
secured.  We have had discussions with the Applicant and it is our 
understanding that significant work has gone into the possibility of 
providing the southern section of this route and that a permissive route 
and in time dedicated route that links to Maddoxford/Wangfield Lane 
can be secured to ensure that the current lease and farming activities 
on the land are not compromised.

121. We raise no objection to the application subject to securing the above 
amendments/obligations.

HCC Planning and Development:

122. No comments received.

Hedge End Town Council:

123. Members considered planning application O/18/83698 and resolved No 
Objection subject the following consultation response:

124. ‘The fields earmarked for development are the last real gap between 
Hedge End, Botley & Boorley Green. Should they disappear then these 
will cease to be distinct areas & will merge into one huge suburb. It is to 
be noted that the footpaths are very well used by existing residents. The 
current local infrastructure needs to cope with the additional residents 
and the correct infrastructure needs to be in place. The impact from 
additional residents on the provision of doctor’s surgeries needs to be 
considered, especially in light of the present local GP situation when 
one surgery is already placed in ‘special measures’. The nearest 
doctors surgery cannot cope with the demand and has a CQC rating of 
“inadequate”, therefore the services will only deteriorate further with the 
additional demands placed upon it. It should be remembered that the 

146



land in question does flood and should be borne in mind. The Town 
Council supports Eastleigh Borough Council’s plan for housing 
expansion and the need for a secondary school in the area. The Town 
Council would highlight the point that the area in question is very well 
used by the local community as green space and is frequently used by 
dog walkers, family and community groups’.

125. No further comments have been received following re-consultation.

Botley Parish Council:

126. Updated comments in relation to the revised proposals:

127. The committee welcomed the proposed improvements to the Public 
Rights of Way network and the inclusion of support for the proposed 
Botley to Bishops Waltham Bridleway Trail.

128. The committee welcomed the minor change to the layout of the 
allotment area to allocate a parking space for the Neighbourcare 
Minibus.

129. Residents of Winchester Street present at the meeting expressed 
concern about having their comments and objections properly heard 
and validated. They were deeply concerned about the extent of 
proposed housing development in the Botley area and the strain this will 
put upon the social infrastructure and public services within the 
community. It was noted that residents can find it difficult to understand 
the purpose of public consultations when their objections appear to 
have no effect upon the outcome of the application process.

Botley Parish Action Group:

130. (Combined response for the Woodhouse Lane and Winchester Street 
proposals.)

131. Object to this application and the associated Woodhouse Lane 
application being decided before the Local Plan has been reviewed.  

132. Boorley Green and Botley are already taking a more than reasonable 
amount of necessary development in the Borough.  This would more 
than double the size of the Parish, where infrastructure is already under 
considerable strain and does not have the ability to expand to support 
such massive development.

133. The Hedge End North development granted by the Secretary of State 
was opposed by the Council and was not in the original plan for the 
area.  Therefore this number should have been deducted from other 
proposals for Botley.  Instead, another large development is being 
added and included in the emerging Local Plan.

147



134. Understand the need to move forward with the secondary school but 
consider it unacceptable to progress with housing before the Local Plan 
is tested.

135. The development will effectively close the gap between the communities 
of Boorley Green and Hedge End and virtually all the green open land 
around Boorley Green will be lost.  The remaining fields on the 
Curdridge side of the village are now also under threat from aggressive 
developers.  This is contradictory to Strategic Policy S8 in the emerging 
Local Plan.

136. Existing residents feel their well-being is no longer of importance and 
any objections are being ignored.  Note that Hedge End residents are 
complaining of the loss of virtually the only open area for walking and 
recreation and fully support their objection.

137. Request decision is deferred until the Local Plan has been pronounced 
sound by the Government Inspector.

138. Pleased and relieved to note that previous proposals for traffic lights at 
the railway bridge have been dropped.  However question if two large 
vehicles can pass if footway widened to 2.4m.  Consider the only 
sustainable solution is to erection a footbridge over the railway line as 
previously suggested.

139. Request that the vehicle weight limit already in place on Winchester 
Street should be extended along Winchester Rd to Denhams Corner 
roundabout.

140. Residents in Kestrel Close, where the housing is below the level of the 
road are complaining of notably increased noise from growing number 
of vehicle movements.  Also concerns regarding increased risk of 
accidents due to large increase in vehicle movements and congestion at 
the bridge.  Request consideration be given to erection of sound and 
safety barriers by the bridge.

Curdridge Parish Council:

141. Members were very concerned about the amount of development taking 
place within Hedge End and bordering the parish boundary, but felt that 
due to Eastleigh Borough Council’s lack of an up-to-date Local Plan that 
there was little hope that the various developments proposed could be 
avoided.

142. Resolved DO NOT OBJECT, subject to Eastleigh Borough Council 
ensuring that financial support is put in place to be contributed towards 
the proposed Botley to Bishops Waltham Trail and that EBC formally 
defines the countryside gap to be protected and extends it Eastwards 
right up to the Winchester City Council boundary.

148



Durley Parish Council:

143. No comments received.

Botley Allotment Association:

144. No comments received.

Botley Neighbourhood Plan Group:

145. No comments received.

Botley, Curdridge and Durley History Society:

146. No comments received.

Botley C of E Primary School:

147. No comments received.

Wildern School:

148. No comments received.

Esso (pipelines):

149. No comments received.

Southampton Airport Safeguarding:

150. No objection, subject to airport safeguarding conditions.

Eastleigh Ramblers Association:

151. As stated in the application documents this site is crossed by Footpath 
No 3 Botley which is a very important pedestrian link between Botley 
village centre and the countryside to the north east and also enabling 
those living to the north of the railway line to access the facilities the 
village provides. It should be noted that it has a width of 10 feet south of 
the railway line and is a footpath only under the railway.

152. We have noted that the illustrative master plan and landscape plan both 
show the footpath to be retained on its existing alignment and within a 
landscaped setting. As these plans are for illustrative purposes only we 
consider it is necessary and request Eastleigh Borough Council to 
impose a planning condition on any approval of this application which 
requires the route to be retained on its existing alignment in a 
landscaped setting as a public footpath and not a footway save for any 
essential crossing of strategic road links where appropriate provision 
should be made for a pedestrian crossing point.

149



153. The applicant is the owner of land both north and south of the railway 
line as illustrated by red and blue lines on Drawing No 251898_PL_020. 
There needs to be a specific requirement to complete the Strategic 
Footpath Cycleway Bridleway route shown on the Proposals Map and 
Policy S13 Item xi of the Draft Eastleigh Local Plan 2016-2036 and we 
object to this application because it is not included in the application. 

154. The proposed route from the Botley Bypass northwards is shown on the 
extract from Drawing No. 251898_PL-020. There should be a 
requirement to complete an adopted bridleway along this route before 
the first dwelling is occupied. This route is included in the planning 
consent for the Botley Bypass and it needs to be taken further north not 
just to the Borough Boundary but through to Wangfield Lane without 
which the proposed development will be without any non-motorised 
connections for cyclists and equestrians from Botley and the 
development site to the countryside in Curdridge and Durley and 
frustrate the expressed policy of Botley, Curdridge and Bishop’s 
Waltham Parish Councils to develop a trail between Botley and Bishop’s 
Waltham as recorded in the Statement of Intent which appears in the 
Appendix below.

155. Only one part of the land is not owned by the applicant and that is the 
bridge over the railway line which is in the ownership of Network Rail 
and they have indicated to us that they are prepared to cooperate in 
facilitating the completion of this route subject to (a) the raising of the 
parapets of the bridge to 1.8 metres by railings fixed to the parapet to a 
design they approve; (b) that the fencing at either end of the bridge be 
upgraded if necessary to ensure that there is no possibility of access by 
the public to the operational railway; (c) that the responsibility for the 
maintenance of the surface of the bridge to a standard suitable for a 
bridleway traffic falls on a party other than Network Rail; and (d) no cost 
associated with the project falling on Network Rail.

156. We request Eastleigh Borough Council to include enforceable 
provisions by condition as part of any outline planning approval or as a 
requirement of a prior Section 106 Agreement that will require the 
applicant to dedicate the route within their ownership shown above as a 
bridleway and to construct same to the satisfaction of Eastleigh Borough 
Council and the highway authority and to conclude an agreement for its 
continuation across the railway line so to provide opportunities for 
sustainable transport and recreation before any dwelling within the 
application site is occupied.

Natural England:

157. No objection, subject to appropriate mitigation being secured.

158. In order to mitigate the identified adverse effects and make the 
development acceptable appropriate financial contributions should be 

150



secured as agreed by the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership 
(SRMP) Definitive Strategy; and a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) should be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the district ecologist/biodiversity officer that identifies the 
steps and procedures that will be implemented to avoid or mitigate 
constructional impacts on species and habitats.  We advise that an 
appropriate planning condition or obligation is attached to any planning 
permission to secure these measures.

159. Subject to the appropriate financial contribution being secured, Natural 
England is satisfied that the proposal will mitigate against the potential 
recreational impacts of the development on the site(s). Our advice is 
that this needs to be confirmed by the Council, as the competent 
authority, via an appropriate assessment to ensure there is no adverse 
effect on the integrity of the site(s) in accordance with the Conservation 
of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017.

160. There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in 
the water environment with evidence of eutrophication at these 
designated sites.  An Integrated Water Management Study for South 
Hampshire has identified that there is uncertainty whether housing 
development in the later stages of the plan period would require 
mitigation.  In light of this uncertainty, Natural England advises that a 
nutrient budget is calculated for this development and recommends that 
the proposal achieve nutrient neutrality.

161. Natural England strongly recommends that all new development adopt 
the higher standard of water efficiency under Building Regulations and 
re-use in line with best practice.

162. This application is supported by a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) which includes measures to offset 
construction impacts on protected sites and species. It is Natural 
England’s advice that these measures are approved by the Ecology 
Specialist at Eastleigh Borough Council and that they are secured by an 
appropriately worded planning condition(s). With this secured, Natural 
England would have no further concerns on this aspect of the proposal.

163. With regards to Botley Mill Wood SINC, without adequate mitigation, 
this development is likely to incur adverse effects upon wet woodland 
priority habitat within the Botley Mill Wood SINC through construction 
and operational impacts, recreational pressure, and air and water 
pollution. Current Master planning shows a SuDS feature and 
associated boundary/fence line is situated directly adjacent to the 
boundary of the SINC.  The LPA must ensure the proposal meets the 
requirements of Natural England’s standing advice on ancient woodland 
and the additional requirements for biodiversity enhancement and net 
gain as set out in the revised NPPF.

151



164. The ES also incorporates a section on ‘Biodiversity calculations’ that 
demonstrates how the development will result in a net gain by ‘valuing 
habitats before and after development’, following the Defra Biodiversity 
offsetting methodology. Natural England welcomes and concurs with 
this approach, although the resulting figure for net gain in habitat is 
modest. As phases come through at the detailed design stage, it is 
recommended that further opportunity is sought to enhance biodiversity 
as part of the development. 

165. Natural England has produced standing advice to help planning 
authorities understand the impact of particular developments on 
protected species. 

166. No further comments in relation to the amended scheme.

Network Rail:

167. No comments received.

Highways England:

168. In the case of this development proposal, our interest is in the M27 and 
in particular the M27 Junctions 7 and 8.

169. Additional information is requested to enable a thorough review of the 
predicted impact of the proposed development, including the cumulative 
impact of the development with the Land West of Woodhouse Lane 
application on the M27 junctions 7 and 8 and provide our formal 
evidence based response.

170. Additional information has been provided and revised comments are 
awaited.  Members will be updated at committee.

Marine Management Organisation:

171. Please be aware that any works within the Marine area require a licence 
from the Marine Management Organisation. It is down to the applicant 
themselves to take the necessary steps to ascertain whether their works 
will fall below the Mean High Water Line. 

172. Planning documents for areas with a coastal influence may wish to 
make reference to the MMO’s licensing requirements and any relevant 
marine plans to ensure that necessary regulations are adhered to. For 
marine and coastal areas where a marine plan is not currently in place, 
we advise local authorities to refer to the Marine Policy Statement for 
guidance on any planning activity that includes a section of coastline or 
tidal river. 

152



173. If you require further guidance on the Marine Licencing process please 
follow the link https://www.gov.uk/topic/planning-development/marine-
licences

River Hamble Harbour Authority:

174. No comments received.

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG):

175. The CCG concludes the level of additional demand placed on NHS 
services, related to this development, will warrant the commissioning of 
either:

 Additional capacity within existing GP surgery premises, or,
 Where it proves not practical to expand existing GP surgery premises, 

the development of a new GP surgery to replace existing surgeries that 
reach capacity in terms of numbers of patients.

176. In support of this, the CCG requests that the applicant makes either:

 An appropriate financial contribution towards the capital investment that 
the CCG will make to develop additional capacity within existing GP 
surgery premises; or

 The gift of a parcel of land within the development suitable for the 
development of a new GP surgery to replace existing surgeries that 
reach capacity.  

St Luke’s and Botley Surgery:

177. No comments received.

Hampshire Fire and Rescue:

178. No comments received.

Southern and Scottish Electricity Networks:

179. SEPD owns electricity distribution apparatus on the application site 
comprising a 132kV line on steel lattice towers and a 33kV line on 
wooden poles. As a statutory undertaker and a licensed Distribution 
Network Operator under the Electricity Act 1989 SEPD has a duty under 
section 9 “ … to develop and  maintain an efficient, co-ordinated and 
economical system of electricity distribution … ”. SEPD may under the 
Act (i) secure a Necessary Wayleave which could fix the lines in place 
for fifteen years, and /or (ii) exercise compulsory purchase powers to 
acquire a permanent easement on the line(s) to remain in place 
indefinitely. 

153



180. Electricity distribution apparatus can only be diverted by SEPD and only 
SEPD can provide diversion assurances to a local planning authority.  

181. Undergrounding will sterilise more land than a retained overhead line.

182. SEPD is concerned at material inaccuracies or misrepresentations in 
the application, in particular:

183. 4.1 The Planning Statement (p44) states that “The masterplan assumes 
that both the including [sic]  132kV electricity cables … and smaller 
33kV electricity cables … can be undergrounded to maximise housing 
numbers. The masterplan has however been phased and designed to 
enable the development to proceed in the event that the larger 132kV 
cables cannot be undergrounded.” There is no provenance for an 
undergrounding assumption.

184. The masterplan does not “enable” the development to proceed with the 
cables retained overhead. Instead, it is reliant on their absence without 
explanation.

185. 4.2 The Design and Access Statement states (p26) “…the electricity 
132kV pylons and 33kV, smaller lines, will be undergrounded…”. Again, 
there is no basis for this assumption. Reference is also made to 3m and 
30m easements whereas there are no easements on the site.

186. 4.3 The Design and Access Statement then tests a number of 
scenarios:

187. Scenario 1 assumes undergrounding of the 132kV line and assumes the 
absence of the 33kV line.

188. Scenario 2 retains the 132kV line and also assumes the absence of the 
33kV line but wrongly concludes that “ … a significant development area 
has been lost due to the existing pylon easement … the estimated 
homes lost as a result of the pylon easement is 40-70…”

189. There is no easement.

190. Retention of the overhead electricity distribution apparatus need not 
result in any loss of development from the allocation, including the 
employment allocation. Scenario 2 is rejected without justification but in 
SEPD’s view is the only basis of a masterplan that can deliver the full 
residential and employment allocations.

191. The Scenario 2 Framework Diagram (fig 28, p40) shows a “Pylon line 
including associated easement zone” which is 70m wide, for which there 
is no requirement in statutory regulations or guidance. Again, there is no 
easement.

192. Scenario 3, which forms the basis of the submitted illustrative 
masterplan and which is reliant on the lines being absent is described 
as “ … could be implemented … with or without pylon undergrounding 

154



[sic] … a flexible approach has been taken to allow for the masterplan 
concept to work with or without the undergrounding of the 132kV power 
lines.” This would only be correct if the applicant wishes (as is 
acceptable within policy, regulations and guidance) to develop under 
and near to the overhead lines.

193. SEPD OBJECTS to the application as it stands. It makes false and 
misleading assumptions about electricity distribution apparatus and if 
consented could be undeliverable as it would be predicated on removal 
of apparatus which only SEPD can deliver.

194. SEPD is willing to co-operate with the local planning authority and the 
applicant to achieve an application that SEPD could support, based on 
a parameter plan that SEPD believes can deliver:
 retention of the 132kV and the 33kV overhead electricity distribution 

apparatus compliant with policy, statutory regulations and 
established guidance3 (or removal of the apparatus subject to 
technical and commercial agreement with the applicant);

 9.75 ha of net residential land providing 375 dwellings at 38.4ndph 
in accordance with the draft allocation;

 0.8 ha of employment land in accordance with the draft allocation;
 the basis of approval being parameter plans and not illustrative 

masterplans; and
 the safeguarding of POS land under and near to the overhead lines 

in a s106 agreement

195. SEPD believes that a parameter plan can be devised which will achieve 
all of these criteria, removing the risk of uncertainty over the electricity 
distribution apparatus, and removing the need for SEPD to consider 
Necessary Wayleaves or compulsory purchase of easements.

196. SEPD is willing to engage proactively with the local planning authority 
and applicant to achieve a sustainable and deliverable scheme for the 
site.

National Grid Plant Protection:

197. No comments received.

Southern Water:

198. The exact position of the foul rising main, foul sewer and water mains 
must be determined on site.

199. We request that if this application is determined, the applicant should 
produce a suitable layout maintaining the statutory clearance distance 
for public foul rising mains. 

200. The 150 mm diameter foul rising main requires a clearance of 4 metres 
and the foul gravity sewer requires a clearance of 3 metres either side 

155



of the sewer to protect it from construction works and allow for future 
access for maintenance. No development or new tree planting should 
be located within the easement of the foul sewers.

201. Please note there is 36inch water apparatus within the site boundary; 
this apparatus is within ownership of other water company.

202. In order to protect drainage apparatus, Southern Water requests that if 
consent is granted, a condition is attached to the planning permission 
requiring protection measures to be approved. 

203. Southern Water has undertaken a desk study of the impact that the 
additional foul sewerage flows from the proposed development will have 
on the existing public sewer network. This initial study indicates that 
there is an increased risk of flooding unless any required network 
reinforcement is provided by Southern Water. 

204. Southern Water and the developer will need to work together in order to 
ensure the delivery of the network reinforcement aligns with the 
proposed occupation of the development.  

205. It may be possible for some initial dwellings to connect pending network 
reinforcement. Southern Water will review and advise on this following 
consideration of the development program and the extent of network 
reinforcement required.

206. We request that should this application receive planning approval, the 
details of foul and surface water sewerage disposal are secured by 
condition. 

207. Southern Water can provide a water supply to the site. Southern Water 
requires a formal application for connection and on-site mains to be 
made by the applicant or developer. 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust:

208. No comments received.

Crime Prevention Officer:

209. No comments received.

BT Openreach:

210. No comments received.

Health and Safety Executive:

211. HSE does not advise, on safety grounds, against the granting of 
planning permission in this case.

156



Hampshire Chamber of Commerce:

212. No comments received.

Historic England:

213. Botley Conservation Area (BOA) – Visual inter-connectivity does not 
really exist between this site and the river valley, and the village.  It is 
noted that the BOA alongside the River Hamble would also create a 
buffer between the conservation area at this point and the new 
development.  It is therefore concluded that the proposal would not 
harm the character and appearance of the conservation area.

214. Uplands Farm – Creating new development where there would be a 
close visual relationship between the new build and the listed buildings 
causing an erosion of their agricultural setting would be harmful to their 
significance.   The farmstead is situated on rising ground and can be 
viewed across the site (from the public footpath for example) in its 
agricultural setting.  It is important that this setting is not eroded 
altogether and the farmstead placed in a suburban context as this would 
be harmful to the significance of the farmstead group and to the 
individual listed buildings.

215. In the illustrative master plan there is some acknowledgement of the 
need to protect the setting of the listed group (ie by placing the 
allotments on the north-east side of the farmstead) but as currently 
proposed this does not go far enough.  Although the area to the north-
east would not be densely developed with housing, allotments do not 
have a same open character as fields and become peppered with 
numerous sheds and greenhouses.  I suggest that one or two small 
fields should remain which could be utilised a paddocks in association 
with the remaining farm buildings.  I strongly urge that sufficient 
agricultural land is retained to allow the farm buildings to function in a 
low key, small scale agricultural or small-holding type use.  This would 
have the double benefit of respecting the setting of the listed buildings 
and (more importantly) retaining them in a use close to their original 
purpose.  This, coupled to other improvements to the immediate 
environs of the farmstead by removing large modern agricultural 
buildings, would lessen harm and offer some heritage benefit which 
would weigh in the planning balance to offset the harm arising to the 
wider setting of the farmstead.

216. Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage 
grounds.

217. We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need 
to be addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of 
paragraphs 184,190, 192-194 and 196 of the NPPF.  

157



218. In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory 
duty of section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which they possess.

219. Additional information has been provided and comments are awaited.  
Members will be updated at committee.

Hampshire Buildings Preservation Trust:

220. The Trust has no objection to the outline application, but would like to 
be informed when the EIA is available so that the impact on the setting 
on the three Grade 2 Listed Buildings can be considered. 

221. We note that the Listed farm buildings are excluded from this 
application, and the proposals for the Listed buildings and their curtilage 
are to form part of a separate full planning application to be submitted at 
a later date. We wish to be consulted on this application, please.

Winchester City Council:

222. No comments received.

Eastleigh Disability Forum:

223. No comments received.

Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) Hampshire:

224. No comments received.

Solent Local Enterprise Partnership:

225. No comments received.

Go South Coast Bus Operator:

226. Recommend permission is granted, subject to securing developer 
contributions towards extending the current Bluestar 3 service to 
Woodhouse Lane for a period of 7 years; provision of a travel pack to all 
dwellings; carriage widths used by buses to be a minimum 6.5m; and 
provision of a high quality bus stop.

227. Policy context:  designation applicable to site

 Local Gap;
 Countryside;
 Site of Importance to Nature Conservation (SINC);
 Existing Allotments;

158



 Public Right of Way (PRoW);
 Proposed Bridleway extension;
 Safeguarded land for Botley Bypass. 

228. Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan 
Policies

The Development Plan

229. At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).

Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review (EBLP 2001-2011) 

230. The key policies of the adopted local plan are: 

 1.CO – Protection of countryside;
 3.CO – Protection of local gap as identified on the proposals map;
 18.CO – Protection of the character of the landscape;
 22.NC – Protection of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;
 23.NC – Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 

(SINCs);
 25.NC – Promotion of biodiversity;
 28.ES – Provision for storage and collection of domestic waste and 

recyclables;
 32.ES – Control of uses that generate air, land or water pollution; 
 33.ES – Requirement for air quality assessment;
 34.ES – Energy efficiencies;
 36.ES – Provision of well-designed lighting;
 37.ES – Sustainable design;
 41.ES – Protection of water courses;
 43.ES – Development in flood risk areas; 
 45.ES – Sustainable drainage requirements;
 59.BE – General design criteria;
 60.BE – Development along major road and rail corridors;
 62.BE – Accessible design;
 63.BE – Car park design;
 64.BE – Design response to overhead electricity transmission lines;
 66.BE – Communications technology requirements;
 71.H – Encourage mixed use developments;
 72.H – Development density;
 73.H – Housing mix;
 74.H – Affordable housing;
 75.H – Efficient use of land;
 91.T – Safeguarding land for (amongst other routes) Botley Bypass;
 100.T – Transport requirements;

159



 102.T – Provision of safe access;
 103.T – Provision of Travel Plans;
 104.T – Parking requirements;
 147.OS – Open Space provision;
 149.OS – New and enhanced playing fields;
 152.OS – Extensions to cycle/pedestrian links;
 153.OS – Provision of new bridleways;
 168.LB – Archaeological potential;
 169.LB – Protection of Conservation Area;
 174.LB – Development within the curtilage of a Listed Building;
 190.IN – Provision of public utilities and infrastructure;
 191.IN – Provision of infrastructure made necessary by the 

development.

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029

231. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  
While this has not been withdrawn and remains a material 
consideration, it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited 
weight in the determination of this application.

Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036

232. The Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st 
October 2018 and the Council is awaiting confirmation of the date for 
examination.  The adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in late 
Summer 2019.  Given the status of the emerging Plan, it is considered 
that limited weight can be attributed to it as a whole.

233. This site is recognised as having potential as a housing development 
site in the emerging Local Plan, having been assessed within the 
Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA). A draft policy is 
contained within the emerging Local Plan which supports the delivery of 
approximately 300-375 dwellings, land for the Botley Bypass, 
employment use and public open space (BO2).  A number of criteria are 
contained in this policy which this application is assessed against.

234. In view of this policy being in draft form and therefore still to be 
considered by the appointed Planning Inspector as part of the Local 
Plan examination, it is necessary to consider what weight can be 
afforded it taking account of the representations that have been made 
as part of the Local Plan consultation process.

235. From the information available at the time of writing this report, 2 
representations were made to the policy, both in support (one 
requesting amendments).  

160



236. In light of the small number and nature of representations received, it is 
considered reasonable weight can be afforded to the draft policy.

    Supplementary Planning Guidance

 Relevant documents are:

Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
Supplementary Planning Document : Biodiversity (December 2009)
Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 

Development (March 2009) (Updated March 2015)
Supplementary Planning Document: Parking Standards (January 

2009)
Supplementary Planning Document: Affordable Housing (July 2009) 

(Updated March 2016)
Supplementary Planning Document: Housing Mix (February 2003)
Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008); 
Planning Obligations 2010 Update.

    Other Relevant Documents

 Public Art Strategy;
 Biodiversity Action Plan for Eastleigh Borough 2012-22;
 Botley Conservation Area Appraisal.

    National Planning Policy Framework 2018

237. At national level, The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ 
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in 
the determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. There is a general presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and (unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise). Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible 
local services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and 
enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst local 
circumstances should also be taken into account, so they respond to the 
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different 
areas.

238. Core planning principles include;
 always seeking to secure high quality design and a good standard of 

amenity and open space
 contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and 

reducing pollution

161



 protecting biodiversity, hydrology and areas of flood risk

239. LPAs should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning 
obligations.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

240. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 
consideration of planning applications.

Assessment of proposal: Development plan and / or legislative 
background

241. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a 
local planning authority determining an application to do so in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.

242. As indicated above the Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies 
of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan 2013; the NPPF and the Planning Practice 
Guidance constitute material considerations of significant weight.

Prematurity

243. The concept of prematurity in planning is the predetermination of plan-
making choices by the grant of planning permission.  This matter has 
been raised as the emerging Local Plan contains the Council’s draft 
policies for delivery of housing (of which this site is part) that have yet to 
be considered by a Planning Inspector at examination and found sound.   

244. Paragraphs 49-50 of the 2018 NPPF specifically address the issue of 
prematurity and confirm that: 

245. ‘…arguments that an application is premature are unlikely to 
justify a refusal of planning permission other than in the limited 
circumstances where both:
a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative 
effect would be so significant, that to grant permission would 
undermine the plan-making process by predetermining decisions 
about the scale, location or phasing of new development that are 
central to an emerging plan; and

     b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet  
     formally part of the development plan for the area.

246. Refusal of planning permission on grounds of prematurity will 
seldom be justified where a draft plan has yet to be submitted for 
examination…Where planning permission is refused on grounds 

162



of prematurity, the local planning authority will need to indicate 
clearly how granting permission for the development concerned 
would prejudice the outcome of the plan-making process.’

247. It is considered that the development proposed is neither so substantial 
or its cumulative effect so significant as to undermine the plan-making 
process.  This position is supported by the response from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government confirming they have no 
comments to make regarding the submitted Environmental Statement, 
which assesses the likely environmental impacts of the proposal.

The General Principle of Development

248. The site lies outside of the defined urban edge and is designated as 
Countryside and Local Gap in the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan Review (2001-2011). Saved Policy 1.CO of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) seeks to protect the 
countryside from inappropriate development and resists development 
outside the urban edge unless it is for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, 
development for outdoor recreational use, public utility developments 
and/or extensions to existing education or health facilities. The 
proposed redevelopment of the site for residential purposes does not 
fall within the range of uses deemed appropriate for countryside 
locations. However, the weight which can be attributed to this policy is 
influenced by requirements for housing.    

249. In relation to the Council’s 5 year housing land supply, Eastleigh’s Five 
Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement dated March 2018 sets 
out the Council’s approach to managing the delivery of new housing in 
the borough over the next 5 years. The intention is to ensure that 
sufficient housing is delivered to meet the Borough’s identified needs 
over the next five years without compromising sustainable development 
objectives. This document states the Council has 5.52 years of housing 
supply land (including this site). 

250. Since this document was published, the Land at Satchell Lane Planning 
Inquiry has taken place (planning ref. O/17/80319) and, while this matter 
was not discussed, evidence from both parties indicates the Council’s 
current housing land supply is between 7.2-7.8 years.  Planning 
inspectors in recent appeal decisions have supported the Council’s 
position on the supply of housing and so weight can be given to these 
figures. The matter does not therefore reduce the weight to be attributed 
to Saved Policy 1.CO.  The Inspectors have also recognised, however, 
that to ensure the continued delivery of a 5 year supply of housing, 
development on appropriate countryside sites will need to be granted.

251. Inspectors have confirmed this policy is not to be considered out of date 
due to age; because it pre-dates the first version of the NPPF; or 
because it only made provision to 2011.

163



252. Taking account of these matters, and the degree of consistency with the 
2018 NPPF, it is for the decision maker to determine the weight to be 
afforded to this policy.  As discussed at the Satchell Lane Inquiry, 
previous Inspectors have afforded between considerable/ significant to 
full weight.  The Inspector in the Satchell Lane Inquiry took a different 
position, affording reduced weight to this policy as in his view it, ‘lacks 
the flexible and balanced approach towards the issue enshrined in the 
Framework’. The Council is currently considering its position in relation 
to this decision.

253. For the purposes of this application, Members as the decision makers 
should determine the weight to be afforded to this, and other policies.  In 
advising Members and in light of the previous appeal decisions, it is the 
view of officers that considerable weight can be afforded to Saved 
Policy 1.CO. 

254. With regard to the emerging 2016-2036 Local Plan, although only 
limited weight can be given to the Plan at this time, it is apparent that 
some development needs to be permitted beyond the existing urban 
edge.  This does not mean, however, that all sites near to the urban 
edge would be suitable for residential development. 

255. This site is also located partially within the Local Gap, which Saved 
Policy 3.CO seeks to protect by only supporting appropriate 
development that cannot be acceptably located elsewhere and that 
would not diminish the gap visually or physically.  Residential 
development is not considered to be appropriate development in 
relation to this policy and would visually and physically diminish the 
Gap.    

256. To summarise, the development proposal is contrary to Saved Policy 
1.CO and Saved Policy 3.CO, although this second policy only applies 
to approximately one third of the site.  It is considered appropriate to 
assign considerable weight to these policies.  Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Paragraph 11 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) require a Local Planning 
Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It 
is therefore necessary to consider whether there are material 
considerations in this case that may indicate that a decision can be 
taken that does not accord with Saved Policies 1.CO and 3.CO.

257. To support the work on the emerging Local Plan, the Council has 
undertaken a Settlement Gap Policy Review (June 2018) to assess the 
value of allocated gaps, which in turn could be used to inform decisions 
on a revised urban edge. Applying the sub-regional advice from the 
Partnership of Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) which requires no more 
land than is necessary to prevent the coalescence of settlements is 
included in a Gap, Landscape and Visual Appraisal of Existing Gaps in 
Eastleigh and the Assessment Matrices were used to identify areas that 

164



do not contribute to the physical or visual separation of existing 
settlements. In this review, the site is proposed to be removed from 
Countryside Gap designation.

258. The evaluation of the Gap function is based on the guidance, settlement 
identity and an assessment of the impact of physical developments and 
infrastructure and not on the needs for planning for new housing 
developments. Weight can therefore be applied to this assessment and 
the conclusion that development on this site would not undermine the 
identity of existing settlements. 

259. With areas of the urban edge requiring repositioning to meet housing 
needs and a full assessment of the Gaps, the Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment (SLAA) has examined in excess of 200 sites for residential 
development and identified this site within the emerging Local Plan 
(2016 – 2036) as suited for residential development and local 
employment.

260. As discussed above, although limited weight can be given to the 
emerging plan as a whole due to its current status, it is considered that 
the number and nature of representations to emerging policy BO2 
means reasonable weight can be afforded this policy.  In addition, it is 
recognised that, in considering the principle of development on this site, 
significant work has been undertaken to date which supports the 
assigning of weight to the policy. 

261. The addition of 375 dwellings to the supply of housing in the area is 
considerable and the scheme could deliver housing within five years 
with the first phase of development anticipated to be constructed in 
2022-2024.  This site (together with the Woodhouse Lane site) forms 
part of the Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Calculation on 
which the Council’s current 5 year supply figure is based. 

262. Subject to determining the site is considered sustainable in all other 
respects, it is considered that there are material considerations that 
would warrant a decision contrary to the development plan on this site 
on this occasion.  It is concluded therefore that the principle of 
development can be accepted despite the conflict with adopted plan 
policies.

Sustainable Development

263. The NPPF is a significant material consideration when assessing 
planning applications.  

264. Section 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) states 
that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development, which can be summarised as 
meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.

165



265. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has 
three overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental 
(which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways that should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the 
Framework.

266. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding 
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take 
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and 
opportunities of each area.

267. Each of the three dimensions of sustainable development is considered 
below.

268. Parameter plans have been submitted to set the parameters which will 
guide the detailed design at reserved matters.  In addition, a set of 
design principles have been developed to secure the key objectives of 
the development driving delivery of a high quality scheme.

269. The submitted parameter plans are:

 Land Use;
 Building Heights;
 Hydrology;
 Access and Movement;
 Landscape and Ecology;
 Densities. 

270. These are assessed individually below.

Parameter Plans:

271. In considering the individual parameter plans, the quantum of 
development (the amount of development that can be accommodated 
on-site) will be established.

Land Use:

272. The Land Use plan indicates how the land is to be used across the site 
for the outline development.  The residential land parcels have taken 
shape around the listed farmstead, the Botley Bypass and associated 
infrastructure, and the PRoW.  Open space is provided around the farm 
buildings to retain their setting while serving as a community focus and 
at the site boundary with the river to provide a buffer and location for 
multi-use Green Infrastructure.

273. Subject to the outcome of discussions regarding the undergrounding of 
the 132kv cables, the Land Use plan responds to a number of the 

166



relevant requirements of Draft Policy BO2 and Saved Policies 23.NC, 
41.ES, 43.ES, 75.H, 91.T, and 147.OS.

Building Heights:

274. The Building Heights plan gives an indication of the scale of 
development.  Storey heights up to 9m (typically two storey) are 
proposed close to the river and bypass, and the Listed farmstead, with 
storey heights up to 12m (three storey) in locations closer to Winchester 
Street.  It should be noted that these parameters are ‘up to’ and careful 
consideration will need to be given at detailed design stage to ensure 
taller buildings are located to avoid detrimental harm to existing 
residential properties and take proper account of the context.  Three 
storey buildings are likely to only be appropriate in limited locations; 
these areas are anticipated to provide a mixture of two, two and a half 
and three storey buildings. 

275. Generally the storey heights have evolved in response to landscape 
character, existing vegetation and buildings, views into the site and the 
relationship with the bypass.  It is therefore considered the building 
heights plan is acceptable and in accordance with 2018 NPPF guidance 
which seeks to ensure good design (Chapter 12) and Saved Policies 
59.BE.

Hydrology:

276. The Hydrology plan identifies existing watercourses and proposed 
sustainable drainage (SuDS) features for both the development and 
Botley Bypass.  The SuDS features are located to take account of the 
typography of the site and are located in open space.  Discussions 
around the management and maintenance responsibilities of the SuDS 
features will need to be concluded.

277. The indicative scheme demonstrates three forms of naturalised filtration 
and maintenance of runoff at greenfield rates as required by Draft Policy 
BO2.  HCC as Local Lead Flood Authority have confirmed no objection, 
subject to conditions to secure the detailed design and management 
regime.  The detailed design will however be required to improve on the 
indicative proposals used to assess the potential for SuDS by reducing 
the amount of underground pipework.  The hydrology plan complies with 
Saved Policies 25.NC and 45.ES.

Access and Movement:

278. The Access and Movement parameter plan establishes the general 
principles of access and movement within the site, with primary and 
secondary roads identified, pedestrian and cycleway routes and 
emergency access.  The strategy for vehicular access and movement 
includes two accesses into the site from Winchester Street which serve 
two separate sections of the site, not allowing for vehicle movements 

167



between the two areas (aside from for emergency vehicles), although 
pedestrian and cycle links are provided.

279. The illustrative masterplan suggests a network of smaller residential 
streets within the structure shown on the parameter plan, although the 
exact determination of the layout is a detailed matter to be considered 
with later applications.  The parameter plan also indicates a network of 
improved rights of way, pedestrian and cycleway routes linking to 
existing footpaths and cycleway routes, ensuring the option for more 
sustainable travel and greater connectivity to the wider community and 
Countryside Rights of Way network.  The wider Connectivity Plan shows 
how this site will link to, and facilitate off-site additions to the PRoW/ 
bridleway network.  Financial contributions and obligations will also be 
secured within the S106 to deliver improvements to existing footways 
and dedication of paths to PRoWs and Bridleways.  In addition, off-site 
highway improvements will be carried out and a Travel Plan will be 
required to be developed for the site. 

280. Concerns have been raised regarding the lack of vehicle access from 
the site onto the bypass and the resulting impact on Winchester Street.  
The bypass has been designed to minimise additional junctions onto the 
bypass to enable traffic to remain free-flowing.  Access onto the bypass 
will be available to the northeast of the site accesses which will allow 
movement in both directions.  HCC as highways authority has reviewed 
the information submitted in support of this application and have raised 
no objection.  In addition, the Draft Policy BO2 requires provision of 
accesses from Winchester Street.  Given this, it is considered the 
access proposals are acceptable and accord with Saved Policies 62.BE, 
100T, 102.T, 152.OS and Draft Policy BO2.

Landscape and Ecology:

281. The amended Landscape and Ecology parameter plan responds to 
comments from the Council’s Landscape and Ecology Specialists and 
indicates a network of green infrastructure spaces which includes play 
areas, footpaths and sustainable drainage features in addition to 
ecological mitigation areas needed to provide buffers to ecological 
features such as existing SINCs. Differing management regime will be 
applied to each of the different areas, with conditions and S106 
obligations to secure the management details and funding.  The total 
amount of open space significantly exceeds the amount sought to be 
policy compliant offering opportunity for a variety of formal and informal 
open spaces for the benefit of new and existing residents.  

282. The landscaping strategy and use of the open space will contribute to 
differing characters areas, whilst new buffer and tree planting will create 
a series of green infrastructure corridors throughout the development 
framing development parcels and acting as wildlife corridors and filtering 
views for the existing properties on Winchester Street. The proposed 
open spaces have evolved in a logical manner and respond to site 

168



constraints, context analysis, stakeholder engagement and 
development plan policies and therefore accord with guidance 
contained within the 2018 NPPF, Saved Policy 147.OS and Draft Policy 
BO2.

Densities:

283. The Densities parameter plan gives an indication of the scale of 
development and indicates the general location of the dwellings and 
their density. The parcels of land indicating differing densities are 
proposed on the basis of site constraints, landscape character and 
proximity to local facilities.  The density reflects the Building Heights 
parameter plan, and as with that plan, provides for up to 55dph in the 
northwest corner, up to 45 dph where building heights may be up to 
12m and up to 35dph where building heights are up to 9m.  It is likely 
there will be variation in development density across these parcels and 
careful consideration will need to be given at detailed design stage to 
ensure development density is appropriate to avoid detrimental harm to 
existing residential properties and take proper account of the context.  

284. The site delivers an average density of 35dph which reflects its setting 
at the edge of Botley and the requirements of Saved Policy 72.H.  The 
residential density proposals have evolved taking account of densities in 
the local area, internal space standards, the Quality Places SPD and 
parking standards.  On this basis the plans are considered acceptable 
and in accordance with relevant 2018 NPPF, and Saved Policy 72.H. 

Economic Sustainability:

285. Section 2 of the NPPF, when discussing  economic sustainability, seeks 
to ‘help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of 
infrastructure’.  

286. During the construction phase, the site will make some contribution to 
the wider area in terms of construction jobs and related industries and 
there will be some benefit to the local area from construction workers 
using local facilities. The Environmental Statement which accompanies 
this application states that the construction of the development will 
provide employment and training opportunities over a period of 
approximately 6-10 years, estimating in the region of 140 FTE jobs with 
40 of these estimated to be retained in the Eastleigh area.  A 
development of this size also provides opportunities for training and the 
scheme would be expected to deliver an Employment and Skills Plan 
which provides for local training opportunities, working with schools and 
colleges, and employment opportunities.  

169



287. Due to the movement of HGVs and construction vehicles during the 
construction process, there is the potential for short-term delays due to 
increased traffic that could affect access to local businesses.  This is 
unlikely to have a significant impact on local businesses and may 
potentially be offset by the use of these businesses by construction 
workers.

288. As with any new housing, the proposed development would bring 
people into the area which would be a continuing economic benefit that 
would support growth in the local economy.  A New Homes Bonus 
would also be paid. In addition, the proposed development would result 
in financial contributions being secured to offset certain impacts of the 
development, such as transport contributions towards improvements in 
the local network and contributions towards the provision of enhanced 
community infrastructure.

289. Provided they are appropriately secured and outweigh the adverse 
impacts of the scheme, the majority of these elements are considered to 
be benefits in the planning balance and overall it is considered that the 
development would be economically sustainable.  It should be noted 
that these benefits could also be accrued from a development of this 
size in a different location.

290. The site forms part of the wider Uplands Farm Estate owned by HCC 
which comprises approx. 80ha of agricultural land between the 
settlements of Hedge End and Botley.  The site is currently used for 
cattle grazing and is a mixture of Grade 3a and 3b land.

291. The proposed development as a whole, would result in the loss of 
approx. 21.5ha of agricultural land.  Paragraph 170 of the 2018 NPPF 
requires decision makers to recognise the wider benefits from natural 
capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and other 
benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land.  Approximately 
20% (3.9ha) of land is Grade 3a and therefore classed as ‘best and 
most versatile’ (BMV) agricultural land. This is a detrimental economic 
impact and must be weighed against the benefits of the scheme.  

292. The majority of the BMV is located to the north and east of the Listed 
farmstead and is proposed for allotments and a community orchard.  
While the land would no longer be in agricultural use, it would be 
retained for food production.  In theory it could be returned to 
agricultural use in the future, however this land would be transferred to 
the Parish Council as part of this application for use as allotments and 
orchard and in reality would not be returned to agricultural use.

293. Taken as a whole and in light of the impact on BMV, it is considered that 
overall the proposed development would be neutral/slightly positive in 
terms of economically sustainable. 

170



294. Draft Policy BO2 contains a requirement for employment provision.  The 
submitted application provides justification for the loss of this element 
and prioritises delivery of housing.  While the proposal is therefore does 
not satisfy the requirements of this policy, a financial contribution is to 
be secured towards the provision of employment opportunities and 
support for local businesses through the S106. 

Social Sustainability:

295. Chapter 5 of the 2018 NPPF ‘Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes’ 
states that, ‘it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land 
can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with 
specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with 
permission is developed without unnecessary delay.’

296. It goes on to say that where major development involving the provision 
of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should expect at 
least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home ownership.

297. Paragraph 72 of the 2018 NPPF recognises that, ‘the supply of large 
numbers of new homes can often be best achieved through planning for 
larger scale development, such as new settlements or significant 
extensions to existing villages and towns, provided they are well located 
and designed, and supported by the necessary infrastructure and 
facilities.’

298. This large scale development sits on the edge of the settlement of 
Botley and will provide an extension to the residential edge.  The 
scheme proposes a mix of dwelling size, type and tenure, with 35% 
affordable housing to be secured by a S106 agreement.  This scheme 
also provides specifically for older persons affordable accommodation 
and specialist adaptive housing, some of which will be secured for 
social rent through the S106 agreement.

299. Chapter 8 of the 2018 NPPF ‘Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities’ 
, seeks to provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and 
services the community needs.

300. In accordance with Saved Policy 190.IN of the Local Plan, development 
is only to be permitted where adequate services and infrastructure are 
available or suitable arrangements can be made for their provision. 
Where facilities exist but will need to be enhanced to meet the needs of 
the development, contributions are sought towards provision and 
improvement of infrastructure. 

301. To date, the applicant has agreed to the principle of the contributions 
sought and a S106 legal agreement can be progressed should 
Members resolve to permit this application.    

171



302. As with the economic benefits, the provision of additional housing and 
financial contributions towards local infrastructure could also be accrued 
from a development of this size in a different location.

303. The scheme would make a contribution to the Council’s housing land 
supply, and begin to deliver housing within the 5-year period.  The 
scheme would provide an appropriate mix of properties for the area and 
make financial contributions to improvements to local infrastructure.  
The proposal can therefore be considered to be socially sustainable.

Education and Health Infrastructure:

304. Due to the size of the scheme, there will be an increased demand for 
primary and secondary school places.  HCC as Education Authority 
have confirmed financial contributions should be secured towards 
projects at Botley CE Primary and the future expansion of Deer Park 
Secondary School in order to mitigate the impact of the development on 
educational infrastructure and ensure that sufficient school places are 
provided to accommodate the additional children expected to be 
generated by the development.  This can be secured through the S106 
agreement.

305. It is recognized that the development has the potential to impact GP 
services in the local area and this is a concern raised by residents and 
some consultees.  The CCG have requested financial contributions 
towards improvements towards health provision in the locality which can 
be secured as part of the S106.

Environmental Sustainability:

306. There are a number of different components to Environmental 
Sustainability, including consideration of site-specific planning matters 
and the impacts of the development on its surroundings and local 
infrastructure, which are considered below under the relevant 
subheadings.  

Impact on Heritage Assets:

307. The Uplands Farm complex is located in the centre of the site (but 
outside the application boundary) and contains three Grade II listed 
farm buildings including a farmhouse, barn and outbuilding. The 
farmhouse is an attractive 17th-18th Century brick building which may 
contain original Tudor detailing. The barn is an 18th Century timber 
structure, weather boarded with a distinctive red tiled roof and the 
outbuilding is a 19th Century brick structure that has been used as a 
granary, stables and wagon shed. Records demonstrate that Medieval, 
Mesolithic and Neolithic surface scatter have been recorded at the site.  
A geophysical survey was undertaken at the Site in April 2017, no 
distinct anomalies were identified although two linear anomalies and 
evidence of possible old field systems were recorded. Further 

172



archaeological investigation would be required to clarify this.  Botley 
Conservation Area abuts the eastern boundary of the site, although the 
majority of the buildings in the Conservation Area are located south/ 
southwest of this site. 

308. The Site has remained undeveloped, with the exception of later 
introduction of utilities, and has remained in agricultural use to present 
day. 

309. While archaeological remains are known to exist within the site and the 
site does have archaeological potential, HCC’s Archaeologist has 
confirmed that he does not consider that archaeological remains will 
emerge as an overriding issue and therefore archaeological mitigation 
could be dealt through use of an archaeological condition.

310. Historic England has confirmed that they do not consider the proposal 
would harm the character and appearance of Botley Conservation Area.  
They have, however, raised concerns regarding the impact on setting of 
the listed farmstead and advise that the current proposals do not go far 
enough to preserve the setting of the listed farm which provides context, 
i.e. farms typically have fields in the immediate vicinity which form the 
setting.  The suggestion has been made that one or two small fields be 
retained as paddocks, to enable the farm buildings to function in a low 
key, small scale agricultural or small-holding type use.

311. The scheme has been designed to retain a setting to the listed 
buildings, while using land efficiently.  The courtyard area associated 
with the farmstead will be retained as the immediate setting.  The land 
immediately around the farm buildings to the northeast will be used for 
allotments and to the southeast as a community orchard.  To the 
southwest, the existing arrangement continues and to the northwest, 
lower density housing and open space is proposed (on the opposite 
side of the access road).  Consideration has been given to retention of 
fields to allow for the creation of a small agricultural operation, however 
the proximity to the new houses does raise some concerns regarding 
possible impacts on amenity.  The farm buildings will be the subject of a 
future planning application to ensure their retention and viable re-use.  
The detailed design will need to evolve to take proper account of the 
listed buildings and it is anticipated that these buildings will become a 
key element in the evolution of the scheme in this area, making a 
positive contribution to its character and distinctiveness.  On balance, it 
is considered that, while there will be a detrimental impact on the setting 
of the Grade 2 listed buildings, the scheme does provide an immediate 
and slightly wider setting and this can be improved at detailed design.  
While the proposal could go further, it is considered the impact on the 
listed buildings would not be sufficient to warrant a refusal.   

312. It is recognised that there is risk to the Listed Buildings once the 
buildings become unoccupied and during construction.  The S106 

173



agreement will include provision for a protection strategy for these 
buildings to be secured.

Landscape and Character:

313. Saved Policy 18.CO seeks to protect the intrinsic character of the 
landscape; together with Saved Policy 59.BE that requires development 
to take account of the context of the site and surroundings.  Also 
applicable to this site is Saved Policy 60.BE which protects against 
development along major road or rail corridors, which adversely affects 
the quality of the environment. 

314. Moderate weight is afforded to Policy 18.CO in light of the discussion on 
Saved Policies 1.CO and 3.CO; the emerging draft policy HE1; and the 
gap assessment.  Full weight is afforded to Policies 59.BE and 60.BE. 

315. In general terms, the character of the site is that of agricultural fields 
with field boundary hedgerows and trees.  Within the site there are 
views of the railway line to the north and dwellings and allotments to the 
south and southeast. Pylons run through the site. There are no statutory 
local, national or international landscape designations on or immediately 
adjacent to the Site.  The local Landscape Character Area locates the 
Site and its immediate surroundings within LCA9 Horton Heath 
Undulating Farmland which is described as having a “more open 
character, with rural views which normally end in wooded horizons. Tree 
belts and hedgerow trees are important features. Where they are 
absent, there is a much more exposed and open character."

316. Although rural in nature, the landscape already hosts many urbanising 
features such as buildings, roads, rail and electrical infrastructure, 
detracting from the day time and night time character of the local area.  
The site is visually and physically constrained by the railway line to the 
north and the river corridor and woodland to the east.  The bypass, 
when constructed, will further constrain the development.  Development 
will be viewed in this context.  As discussed in relation to Saved Policy 
3.CO, the Gap Assessment removes this land from the Gap and the 
SLAA considers the site to be well contained within a moderately 
sensitive landscape setting.

317. Draft Policy BO2 requires the provision of a good quality landscape 
setting for the development which the Landscape and Ecology 
parameter plan lays the foundation for. 

318. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been prepared to 
inform the proposals as a whole.  This concludes that the effects arising 
from the construction phase will be temporary, reversible and short-
term.  It states that there are no predicted significant landscape or visual 
effects arising from the construction phase.  This position is accepted.

174



319. Construction of buildings on open land fundamentally alters the 
character of that land and has an irreversible impact.  The greatest 
impact will be upon users of the PRoW (no. 3) which will run through the 
site undiverted, users of the existing allotments and residents at 60-70 
Winchester Street.  The LVIA contained in the Environmental Statement 
predicts a moderate residual adverse effect on their visual amenity, 
which is significant.  A balancing exercise therefore needs to be 
undertaken to assess the level of this impact in the wider context.

320. The proposed residential development will deliver up to 375 dwellings 
which contribute towards the Council’s 5 year housing land supply, 
together with allotments, community orchard and contributions towards 
improvements to local infrastructure.   The development of this site is 
supported by the Draft Policy BO2 to which reasonable weight can be 
afforded.  It is therefore considered the wider benefits outweigh the 
detrimental impact to the character of the site and the lesser impacts to 
the wider landscape and character.  As such, the development is 
considered to conflict to some extent with Saved Policy 18.CO and 
accord with Saved Policies 59.BE and 60.BE and the relevant 
paragraphs in the 2018 NPPF.

Access, Parking and Transport Matters:

321. Saved Policy 100.T requires new development to be well served by 
public transport and cycling and walking routes; minimise its impact on 
the existing transport network and provide a choice of transport mode.  
Policy 102.T allows for the provision of new, safe access.  Policy 104.T 
requires the provision of adequate off-highway parking. 

322. Access, parking and traffic congestion are concerns raised by the 
majority of objectors to the scheme.

323. With regards to access, HCC as Highways Authority have confirmed 
that the highway authority has reviewed the details of this application in 
the wider context of both development sites and the delivery of Botley 
Bypass.  This has required a number of transport scenarios to be 
assessed and they are satisfied with the robustness of the assessment. 
Subject to the delivery of off-site highway improvements they raise no 
objection to the proposed development.  These improvements will be 
secured as part of the S106 and include the provision of a 
footway/cycleway along the northern side of Winchester Street. 

324. Concerns have been raised regarding the lack of vehicle access from 
the site onto the bypass and the resulting impact on Winchester Street.  
The bypass has been designed to minimize additional junctions onto the 
bypass to enable traffic to remain free-flowing.  Access onto the bypass 
will be available to the northeast of the site accesses which will allow 
movement in both directions.  HCC as highways authority has reviewed 
the information submitted in support of this application and have raised 

175



no objection.  In addition, the Draft Policy BO2 requires provision of 
accesses from Winchester Street.  

325. The highways authority has not reviewed the assessments of Junction 7 
and 8 of the M27 motorway as these fall under the jurisdiction of 
Highways England.  Detailed comments are awaited from Highways 
England and Members will be updated at committee.  

326. As part of the application, opportunities to improve pedestrian/cycle 
routes to Botley, Bishops Waltham and the proposed secondary school 
at Woodhouse Lane have been explored in detail and the Connections 
Plan submitted with the applications shows the improved connectivity.  
Improvements are required to some of these routes and new 
footway/cycleways are to be created.  HCC Countryside Access team 
has raised no objection to the proposals, subject to securing upgrades 
to routes and dedication of paths as Public Rights of Way and/or 
bridleways.  This can be secured through the S106 agreement.

327. It is acknowledged by the highways authority that the bus service 
provision in this vicinity is evolving, with commitments to improved 
routing and services to Hedge End village centre secured under 
planning permissions for Boorley Green/Boorley Gardens.  In addition, 
the bus enhancements secured as part of the North Whiteley 
development also have the potential to provide enhancements within 
the area.  

328. It is also recognised by the highways authority that the site would 
benefit from improved bus services, with increased frequency, and they 
would support a level of service as secured in connection with nearby 
committed development sites which will be a direct arrangement 
between the developer and local operators and will ensure the site can 
contribute to a comprehensive bus strategy for the Hedge End/Botley 
community.  Go South Coast Bus Operator have raised no objection to 
the scheme subject to securing developers contributions towards 
subsidizing the expansion of the current Bluestar 3 to Woodhouse Lane.  
A commitment to improving bus provision in the area can be secured 
through the S106 process.  

329. Assuming no material objection from Highways England, it is considered 
the proposed educational development accords with Saved Policies 
100.T, 102.T and 103.T.

330. Due to the complexity of delivering the Botley Bypass and the two sites, 
including the secondary school, significant work has been undertaken 
by HCC to develop a delivery strategy that sets out how the delivery of 
the infrastructure and developments will be carried out.  While more 
relevant to the Woodhouse Lane site and the delivery of the school, this 
document is nonetheless provides a good indicator of the deliverability 
of this scheme.

176



Noise, Air Quality and Contamination:

331. Saved Policy 32.ES seeks to control of uses that generate air, land or 
water pollution; and Policy 59.BE requires that development is an 
appropriate use for the locality and avoids unduly interfering, disturbing 
or conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses. 

332. Due to the nature of the development, at operational phase, it is 
considered there would be no significant polluting impact on impact 
existing residents.  

333. Given the potential for land contamination to be present on site due to 
the previous agricultural use, the Council’s Environmental Health 
Specialist has recommended a site investigation that meets with the 
council’s approval is carried out, and that any requirements for remedial 
measures are approved prior to their commencement and are suitably 
validated.  This can reasonably be imposed.

334. The assessment of noise impacts, taking account of the bypass and 
railway line, concludes that residential development can be provided on 
site, however this is achieved by exceeding the external noise levels 
included in the Local Plan. As this is an outline application it was been 
recommended that the final extent, layout and internal design of 
dwellings is agreed with the Council on the basis of agreed noise impact 
assessment and modelling information. It is further recommended that 
an acoustic design process is followed to ensure that noise impacts on 
dwellings and other noise sensitive uses in minimised.  This noise 
mitigation scheme is likely to include acoustic screening adjacent the 
Botley Bypass.  Again, this can reasonably be imposed.

335. The submitted air quality report advises that there will be a small 
negative impact on some receptors.  It is necessary to ensure that 
appropriate steps are taken to ensure that increases in air pollutant 
arising from the developments are minimised and that the applicant 
contributes to the Council’s work to reduce levels of air pollution.  On 
this basis a financial contribution is sought towards managing air 
pollution.

336. The assessment of construction impacts has identified the need for a 
detailed management scheme to control air pollution impacts. A 
condition can be imposed to require a site-wide CEMP to minimise the 
air pollution and disruption to residents.

Biodiversity and Trees:

337. The nearest internationally designated ecological site is the Solent 
Maritime Special Area for Conservation (SAC), which is also designated 
as the Solent& Southampton Water Special Protection Area (SPA) / 
Ramsar and the Upper Hamble Estuary and Woods Site of Special 

177



Scientific Interest (SSSI), located approximately 0.75km south east of 
the Site.

338. The Site is also adjacent to the locally designated Botley Mill Woodland 
SINC at the Site’s eastern boundary, which is designated as a wet 
woodland. The River Hamble is also located at this eastern boundary 
and whilst not specifically designated in this location, the river is 
hydrologically linked to international and national designated sites 
further downstream.

339. The Phase 1 Habitat Surveys undertaken at the Site indicates that the 
principal habitats within its boundaries are improved grassland 
managed for cattle grazing, mature hedgerows, scrub and allotments. 
The hedgerows include species-rich mature hedgerow with mature 
crack willow standards. The ecological surveys for the Site have also 
identified potential for badger, bats, birds and reptile activity.

340. Limited information has been submitted in relation to trees, however the 
Council’s Tree Consultant has confirmed no objection to the outline 
proposal, with conditions requiring submission of an Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment and an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree 
Protection Plan.

341. Additional information has been submitted to respond to comments from 
the Council’s Landscape and Ecology Specialists, and Natural England.  
Natural England have confirmed that they have no objection to the 
proposal, subject to appropriate conditions and obligations which can be 
secured.  Further comments are waited from other consultees.  Subject 
to no material objections, it is considered that the proposal can satisfy 
the ecological protection and enhancement requirements contained in 
Saved Policies 23.NC, 25.NC and 59.BE, Draft Policy BO2 and the 
2018 NPPF.

Drainage and Flood Risk:

342. There is no risk of flooding from the sea in the area, and no fluvial 
flooding anticipated within the redline boundary. The Site is classified as 
lying wholly within Flood Zone 1 i.e. having a less than 1 in 1000 annual 
probability of river flooding in any year. However, the eastern boundary 
of the Site is within 50m of Flood Zone 2 extent of the River Hamble.  

343. An outline SuDS scheme has been submitted and HCC as LLFA has 
confirmed no objection subject to a condition requiring a detailed SuDS 
scheme to be submitted.  The Hydrology parameter plan has been 
considered and discussed above.  The scheme is therefore considered 
to accord with Saved Policy 45.ES.

344. Southern Water have confirmed the site will be able to connect into the 
foul sewer network in due course and will work with the developer to 
facilitate this.

178



345. Residents have commented in relation to water supply issues.  These 
have been investigated as part of this application and damage to an 
existing pipe identified as a result.  Repair works are ongoing and will 
hopefully resolve this issue in time.

Sustainability Measures:

346. The NPPF (paragraphs 95-99), Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the 
Local Plan, and emerging Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the submitted 
Local Plan require development to be sustainable in terms of resource 
use, climate change and energy use.  In March 2015 a Ministerial 
Statement announced that the Code for Sustainable Homes would 
cease to be applied to new development, although the requirement to 
achieve the Code’s levels for energy efficiency and water consumption 
remains.  If permission were to be granted, a condition requiring the 
development to meet these requirements can be imposed.

Residential Amenity:

347. Residents along the northern side of Winchester Street have raised 
concerns regarding the proximity of dwellings in relation to their 
properties.  Comments have been provided which draw on the 
illustrative masterplan, however it must be recognised that this is not for 
determination as part of the application. The detailed design that will 
form the reserved matters will need to examine in detail the relationship 
with the existing properties and ensure harm to their residential amenity 
is properly addressed. 

348. Notwithstanding this, the Landscape and Ecology parameter plan shows 
a strengthened boundary along the rear of these properties, with tree 
planting that will provide some screening and filtered views.  Residents 
have objected regarding loss of their private views, however this is not a 
material planning consideration and cannot be taken into account.

349. As with any construction project, there is the potential to cause 
disturbance during the build process.  A CEMP will be conditioned to 
ensure the appropriate measures are taken to minimize disturbance.

Planning Obligations

350. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved 
Policies 74.H, 101.T, 147.OS and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM32 and DM37 of 
the Submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, the Council’s 
‘Planning Obligations’ SPD and the requirements of Regulation 122 of 
the Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a requirement for 
developers’ contributions to ensure on and off-site provision for facilities 
and infrastructure made necessary by the development, or to mitigate 

179



against any increased need / pressure on existing facilities. This is in 
addition to the requisite on-site provision of affordable housing. 

351. If permission is to be granted then contributions / obligations towards 
the provision of the following infrastructure and requirements would 
need to be secured via a Section 106 obligation, index linked as per the 
Planning Obligations SPD and HCC requirements.  

 Provision of 35% affordable housing on site;
 Employment and Skills Plan;
 Off-site highway works;
 On and off-site footway, cycleway and bridleway works;
 Lorry routing and CEMP;
 Travel Plan;
 Financial contributions towards:

- Primary, Secondary and SEND Education;
- Off-site sports and recreation provision or improvement;
- Community infrastructure;
- Off-site highway junction improvements and strategic cycle network;
- Public art;
- Solent Recreation Mitigation Project;
- TROs;
- Air Quality Monitoring;
- Community Sports Provision;
- Community Development Worker;
- Health Provision
- Employment Opportunities
- On-site and SUDS Open Space Maintenance and supervision;
- Tree maintenance;
- Play area provision, supervision and maintenance;
- Post occupancy evaluation of sustainability and residential 

satisfaction survey;
- On and off-site Public Open Space works;
- Bus service provision;
- Protection of Listed Buildings.

352. The applicant has agreed in principle to enter into a Planning Obligation 
and discussions are continuing, with the final terms to be finalised. 

353. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure will 
comply with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 2010, in that the monies would be necessary to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms, would go towards 
projects that are directly related to the development, and are fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. The 
contributions would be index-linked to ensure the contributions rise in 
line with the costs of providing the identified projects/measures. The 
obligations sought are necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms and to meet the needs generated by the new 
residents and the potential impact on existing services and facilities.

180



Referral to the Secretary of State 

In accordance with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning 
(Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 should there be a resolution to 
grant outline permission for the development the application must be 
referred to the Secretary of State to decide whether he wishes to 
determine it himself following a public inquiry. The criteria for referral 
include development of local authority land and development of out of 
centre retail, office and leisure facilities. As the development also 
constitutes EIA development, the Secretary of State is also required to 
be notified of any resolution to permit under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 
2017.

Conclusion

354. Section 38(6) of the Act states a scheme contrary to the development 
plan should be refused unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The NPPF is a strong material consideration including its 
desire for LPAs to boost housing delivery and where policies are out of 
date, such as housing policies, support development unless the adverse 
impacts outweigh the benefits of the development. Saved Policy 1.CO is 
not considered to be a policy for the supply of housing, however some 
revisions to the urban edge are necessary to meet the forecast housing 
needs for the emerging plan period up to 2036. 

355. The Council have a 7.8 year Housing Land Supply exceeding the 
minimum requirement set out in the NPPF of 5 years.  

356. The development of this site would be contrary to Saved Policies 1.CO 
(Development in Countryside) and 3.CO (Local Gap) of the Adopted 
Development Plan (2001 – 2011). In support of the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036), the Gap Review recommends 
exclusion of this site from a Gap and this carries some weight as a 
landscape assessment based on the function of this land as a means of 
protecting the identity of settlements. Of less weight, is the 
recommendation following the SLAA that this site be included within a 
revised urban edge and be allocated for residential development. 

357. It is accepted that the proposed development would give rise to certain 
benefits, notably in terms of housing provision, including affordable 
housing. There would also be social benefits through an increase in 
public open space provision, landscaping and financial support to the 
delivery of infrastructure in the locality. In addition there would be the 
economic benefits due to construction, an increase in local population, 
payment of New Homes Bonus and financial contributions secured via a 
S106 planning obligation.  However, it should be noted that these 
financial and infrastructure benefits are not site-specific or over and 
above what could be achieved on another site.

181



358. In assessing any harm the development would cause, it is considered 
that the development would not affect the function of the Local Gap in 
protecting the individual identity of settlements.  While it would impact 
the setting of the Listed Buildings, it is not considered that the impact on 
their significance would be significant enough to warrant refusal.  
Subject to final comments from the Borough’s Ecologist, the ecological 
impact on protected species and their habitat, water quality and flow can 
all be avoided or mitigated.  Final comments are also awaited from 
Highways England in relation to the impact on Junction 7 and 8 of the 
M27.  Assuming no material planning objection from Highways England, 
it is considered that, on balance, the development would be 
environmentally sustainable.

359. It is considered therefore that the benefits of the proposed development 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the harm caused by it 
and therefore the proposed development is considered to be 
sustainable and in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as set out in the NPPF. 

360. Subject to subject to the referral of the planning application to the 
Secretary of State; no material planning objections from outstanding 
consultee responses, completion of a Section 106 agreement for 
planning obligations and the recommended conditions, outline 
permission is recommended to be granted.

182



© Crown copyright and database rights (2019) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:5000

16/01/2019

SU5113

Title:

183



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2019/20
	Appendix. 1 for HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2019/20

	8 Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Community Grants Report
	community grants appendix 1

	9 Ivy Lane and Rosemount Court Parking Restrictions
	11 Retrospective Planning Application - Land at Peewit Hill, Southampton SO31 8BL
	12 Planning Application - Land West of Woodhouse Lane, Hedge End SO30 2EZ
	13 Planning Application - Land North and East of Winchester Street, Botley SO30 2AA

